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GU bén péi yuan

5 TR 18 It
is an ancient philosophical concept in China.
“Yuan” and “Ben” refer to the root, the primordial spirit,
the fundamental aspect.
“Gu Ben Pei Yuan” means strengthen the foundation and
cultivate the core essence.
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The | Ching ({5 #)) states that “Just as the universe keeps operating ceaselessly and
vitally, @ man should continuously strive for self-cultivation.”

Chinese medicine holds the belief that there is a correspondence between heaven and
humans. Just as celestial bodies move in their orbits with unceasing vigor, so too
should the circulation of Qi (&) and blood within the human body be continuous, day
and night. This uninterrupted flow ensures robust health and vitality, preventing the
occurrence of diseases.

As people reach middle age, their metabolic functions gradually weaken, and their
excretory functions decline. This can lead to the accumulation of waste products within
the body, causing blockages in the flow of Qi and blood, which inevitably affects health.
“Gu Ben Pei Yuan” promotes the smooth flow of Qi and blood within the body,
eliminating metabolic waste. This process helps the organs and Qi and blood to restore
and maintain normal physiological functions, keeping a dynamic balance. It is an
extremely effective anti-aging method.



TRBE - PR .

SS8|j|8S puEB PepulW-PeROIg W SJ8YI0 ynm Auouliey U

In 1669, Beijing Tong Ren Tang was founded during the eighth year of Emperor
Kangxi’s reign during the Qing Dynasty. Starting in 1723, Beijing Tong Ren Tang
exclusively provided Chinese medicine to the royal family for 188 years, spanning
the reigns of eight emperors. Throughout history, Beijing Tong Ren Tang has always
been nationally renowned in the Chinese medicinal industry. Over 356 years of
dedication to quality medicinal products, we have continuously upheld our
longstanding commitment to “No compromise on cost and labor despite the
complexity of processing herbal medicines. No compromise on quality and standard
despite the scarcity of medicine ingredients.”. Our self-discipline is also seen from
our motto: “Dedication comes from the heart in the steps that no one else can see”.
We are meticulous in our manufacturing process and strive for excellence, using
superior crude materials and meticulous technical skill. Only the most effective,
unique formulas are passed down and refined into our famed products.
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West side of Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine
Pharmacy at Dashilan Street,
Qianmen Avenue in Beijing during
the Republic of China.
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In 1702, the 41th Qing Kangxi reign,

Mr. Yue Fengming (son of Mr. Yue Xianyang)
took over Tong Ren Tang, opened the first
Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine
Pharmacy at Dashilan Street, Qianmen
Avenue in Beijing, which is still operating
today.
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Preventive treatment
of diseases to keep
healthy
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In 1669, the 8th Qing Kangxi reign, Mr. Yue Xianyang
founded Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Pharmacy in
Beijing. Mr. Yue believed that “among things which can
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ANBEAE HEEAEER] preserve peoples’ health and to do good to society, medicine ‘ ‘
wlEACIBEE Z5E A is the best” and named the pharmacy as “Tong Ren S — — Around-the-clock
356FESL o [EE-E » B (cultivate both noble morality and benevolence)”. It has a i B {28 5 medical service
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history of 356 vyears. “Nurturing kindness and Vvirtue,
Preserving tranquility and wellness” is a new summary of

for curing of
the diseases
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o g g« g }%E‘,EE’\JEEZFE *ﬂ?ﬁiﬁ o enterprise, showing the ideal and pursuit that Tong Ren Tang officer at the Imperial Hospital of the Qing dynasty, was officially conferred on
g Q o = I . . h . hei him a ninth-grade official rank by Emperor Kangxi. The above pictures show
3 = =3 people are committed to serving human and preserving their an imperial edict in both Manchu and Chinese, with the seal "Treasure of
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Present TCM culture from a
multi-dimensional perspective,
inherit TCM skills, share TCM
oncepts,

@
-
g
5
=
=
=

\
/!

INTRODUCE N€ .
OF TCM

TO M

cu

pa

and convey the
unique charm and value of
TCM culture to the world.
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@ TONG REN TANG AT A GLANCE IN 2024
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2024FRIICE—E
FEBRUARY
3 Established retail outlets at King’s Road, North Point,

and Kowloon MTR Station in Hong Kong

2 AEALE
REBLARZERNEBHUEERTELR

MARCH
—R

3 Established retail outlets at Mong Kok MTR Station in Hong Kong

REBHEABEEERRTELR

3 In response to the first “Tong Ren Tang Day”, the Group organised
a series of event such as health seminars, free medical
consultation services, and cultural performance to promote the
culture of Tong Ren Tang
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APRIL
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§ 3 Danggui Buxue Keli (£ 8% *), developed by the Group, obtained the Certificate of
= Registration of Proprietary Chinese Medicines (HKC-18604) issued by the Chinese
3 Medicine Council of Hong Kong
U
1N

FEEMENERHMBENENEETBEEEZESSMBM P REZIMES (HKC-18604)

3 The Group’s invention patent for “A freckle-removing and whitening product along with
its preparation method and uses” (Patent Number: ZL 2023 1 1206874.8) was
successful authorised by the China National Intellectual Property Administration and has
been applied in the Ageing-Defying Collection of the Tong Ren Tang’s Chinese anti-
aging NMN series

AEE—EBHEUEAERRERES L - AR INEBEER (FERISK - ZL 2023 1
1206874.8) RINESFEERINBEZERFRE  YCEARBLCERBRPRNNRTENMNEZ <¢
FIERTP é}

JUNE
AVE!

3 Entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with
Deer Industry New Zealand to promote innovative
health-functional deer food products, expanding into
new health concept areas

HATMEXREZERNEERN
HAREDERREREIXENTBRESE
R R R

As a warm-up event to “the 9th Show Love and Care to Stroke Prevention” @
series, “The Beijing Tong Ren Tang Traditional Chinese Medicine Culture

Carnival”, Hong Kong’s first outdoor carnival themed around the TCM culture,

aimed at promoting and propagating the essence of TCM culture

EREENTBECATENFNEFES[HMARREIFBELRFE]
ERIENERCEERTRIRFABEDEE  FHEHBEL

Participated in the “China International Fair for Trade in Services”, the Group
showcased two newly developed products — Guizhi Fuling Wan (HA#%Z ) and
Lingzhi Turmeric Compound Blood-supplementing and Nerve-calming Capsules

(B2 EEEHEMZ B E), demonstrated the Group’s
determination and continuous exploration in areas such as
technological innovation, R&D, and TCM culture

SHE[THERREES XSS 285 B R R &3 5 W R @
—HERREARBEZEEENFOZWEE  REAEBEERM AR
EmfEkhEE I EEGHNH S ERNETEHRA

OCTOBER
+H

Participated in the “21st World Congress of Chinese Medicine” @
at the headquarters of UNESCO in Paris, France,
promoting the culture of TCM to the globe

28

EHEBRBEEEAN ABBSERNE1EERAPBERE ] OEKRSEERBEEL

2

Organised “the 9th Show Love and Care to Stroke Prevention” @

o series event — “Beijing Tong Ren Tang Stroke Prevention
-: i ;_ Campaign 2024: Tong Ren A-Maze-ing Health Tips” to promote
[ *] [+ family health awareness and advocate for the daily health

henad preservation practices of TCM focusing on the

prevention of illness

IMIENERCEERTEIRSES 2 E-BE R E2024¢E1{=
DEVREEH] - LEOREREHE  RETEAEEE
=R

Established retail outlets at Nexxus
Building in Central, Hong Kong
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BIRBIFMENIVEE
NATIONAL LUIST OF INTANGIBLE
CULTURAL HERITAGE

RII_EPhELEXI
CHINESE MEDICINE CULTURE OF TONG REN TANG

TRT LTD.
BRZZ/R M7

TRT International
Natural-Pharm

E{-EEREE

TRT Tong Xin
Tong Le
RCERLE L

TRT (Macau)
== (BP9)

B TRT (Singapore)

B Z (% 1)

9l Honour Essence

TRT (Brunei)
B2 (XK)

TRT (Hainan)
B{CZ (&)

Sichuan Sihui
Pharmaceutical
)| e

TRT (Thailand)
B{CEEE)

TRT (Malaysia)

TRT TECHNOLOGIES

[ 2R

KFM
OCEANIA

TRT (Australia)
BE
(RAFIEE)

TRT (Melbourne) [JERE

B2 @ EA)

Herb Booth

TRT (Auckland)
B{-Z
(R

AMERICA

TRT (Canada)
BIZZ(MEX)

TRT (Toronto)

‘WEI=ELTES)

: @l TRT (Vancouver)

BEE(EEE)

TRT USA

| BzxzEeR

TRT

HERIEE

PUBLIC
SHAREHOLDERS
NS o

(P
EUROPE

TRT (Poland)
B1=Z (% #)

TRT (Russia)

& o RE

TRT

. Europe Holding &

B ZEBMER

TRT (Pudu)
BLCEEE)

\\ KEES E{ZZE Management (LoiAf]ge,les) . %F}I(ﬁ%;—cih)) B
=\ [E017 2 ch B8 JE XX {1 [ 28 4 ch e v O B 4, 5 | * FxED L) T ;
7//%’; CHINESE MEDICINE CULTURE OF TONG REN TANG - - ﬂ

2 (TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE PROCESSING AT seou s on TRY Ming O il

/ TECHNOLOGY) g %

aj

TRT (Gulf)
B E (5E)

TRT Herbal
Heritage

E-EMEHR

TRT Golden

TRT
Fook Ming
Tang

AEEEEE

TRT
E-commerce
BI-EE

TRT Concord
BE{EHHM

TRT
(San Gabriel)
E{-EEEHE)

TRT (Berlin)
B{=Z (H %)

TRT (Swiss)
E-E (IR L)

Dianorm Biotech TRT Giomi
ERSEYEAM BI-Z5HRHA

> Dragon (Macau)

B{-EESHE(RP)

This chart is produced based on the information as at 31 December 2024.
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FINANCIAL HIGHUIGHTS
B 15 1 2
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO

REVENUE GROSS PROFIT PROFIT FOR THE YEAR OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
WA el FEli NGB ARG E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET F#ET
1,800,000 1,200,000 O o 700,000 700,000 ssaTs
1,078,421 a6 )
1,600,000 ‘
1000000 600,000 600,000
1,400,000
500,000 500,000
1,200,000 800,000
680,877
1,000,000 400,000 400,000
600,000
800,000 300,000 300,000
600,000 100000
400000 ' 200,000 200,000
200,000 200,000 100000 100,000 =
e Tl
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
The following is a summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past ten financial UTFAFREERBETEVRFENC AHEEUREEHEERE -
years.

For the years ended 31 December B Z 12831 B ILFE

2024 HK$'000 2023 HK$’000 2022 HK$'000 2021 HK$'000 2020 HK$000 2019 HK$'000 2018 HK$'000 2017 HK$’000 2016 HK$'000 2015 HK$'000
20245 THET 2023FTER 202FFHT  2021FFERX 20208 FHET 20198 FER  2018FEFHERT  2017EFER  2016FFTHERT 20155 FER ]
B
Revenue WA 1,611,644 1,524,945 1,731,095 1,556,158 1,315,346 1,432,632 1,513,873 1,265,994 1,084,280 970,477 ‘E‘
Gross profit £ 7| 1,065,329 1,047,243 1,150,140 1,119,623 952,903 1,012,796 1,078,421 916,433 795,087 680,877 i)
Profit before income tax B} A8 % A FIE 629,773 687,790 825,962 778,391 685,895 689,222 720,898 610,966 532,270 456,614 #
Profit for the year & I8 529,167 590,587 691,293 651,543 567,881 576,852 601,323 505,512 439,880 374,578
Profit attributable to owners of the Company Z 72 Rl & A {5 FE 500,278 540,393 645,875 607,838 542,456 556,118 580,720 489,967 420,315 354,249
Earnings per share (HKS) SR 2% (B ) 0.60 0.65 0.77 0.73 0.65 0.66 0.69 0.59 0.50 0.42
Dividend per share (HK$) BRI E (B 7t)
Final R Hj 0.35 0.33 0.33 0.28 0.24 0.23 0.23 0.19 0.16 0.13
Special interim 455l F & = = 0.25 = = 0.72 = = = = L
2024 HK$'000 2023 HK$’000 2022 HK$'000 2021 HK$’000 2020 HK$000 2019 HK$'000 2018 HK$'000 2017 HK$000 2016 HK$'000 2015 HK$'000
20245 FHET 2023FT BT 20228 FHT  2021FFER 20208 FHET 20195 FER  2018FEFTHERT  2017EFER  2016FFTHERT 20155 FER -
o
o
Non-current assets iR EEE 593,778 590,123 542,208 558,171 484,022 494,506 424,621 405,768 398,176 372,795 m
Current assets REEE 3,965,747 3,844,322 3,683,071 3,276,811 2,932,947 2,643,815 2,746,464 2,354,887 1,956,646 1,654,190
Total assets BEE 4,559,525 4,434,445 4,225,279 3,834,982 3,416,969 3,138,321 3,171,085 2,760,655 2,354,822 2,026,985 %
Non-current liabilities 3 7 81 8 & 71,137 83,837 67,912 82,421 70,843 65,604 5,927 5,024 4,694 5,352 5?3
Current liabilities FEIE & 235,354 329,918 418,574 213,057 216,616 307,081 140,931 147,454 122,891 112,718 Ej
Total liabilities B8 & 313,091 413,755 486,486 295,478 287,459 372,685 146,858 152,478 127,585 118,070
Net assets EEFE 4,246,434 4,020,690 3,738,793 3,539,504 3,129,510 2,765,636 3,024,227 2,608,177 2,227,237 1,908,915
Financial Metrics B1i§1E/&
Gross profit margin £ % 66.1% 68.7% 66.4% 71.9% 72.4% 70.7% 71.2% 72.4% 73.3% 70.2%
Net profit margin AiF|%= 32.8% 38.7% 39.9% 41.9% 43.2% 40.3% 39.7% 39.9% 40.6% 38.6%
Current ratio &tk & 16.9 11.7 8.8 15.4 13.5 8.6 19.5 16.0 15.9 14.7
Return on equity B 7R [EIHR %= 12.5% 14.7% 18.5% 18.4% 18.1% 20.9% 19.9% 19.4% 19.8% 19.6%
Return on assets ZEEHR=E 11.6% 13.3% 16.4% 17.0% 16.6% 18.4% 19.0% 18.3% 18.7% 18.5%
Dividend payout ratio® &2tk = 58.6% 51.1% 42.8% 38.6% 37.0% 34.6% 33.2% 32.5% 31.9% 30.7%
Note: There are changes in accounting policies in 2019 which the Group has elected to apply without restating comparative figures Kist : NREBR2019FEHTEHREESE » WRBEEMBRELENAT TRIERE MBS - @
as permitted by the relevant financial reporting standards. o T EEFEFHPEHRE

™ Exclude special interim dividend
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
x [F RAB¥

AGAINST THE CURRENT, PRESS AHEAD,
THROUGH TRIALS COLD AND SUNBURNT DREAD.

RECALL THE PATH, ONCE WORN AND STEEP,
TO FORGE THE FUTURE, HAND IN KEE€P.

In 2024, the global economic and trade environment became increasingly complex. Despite the Federal
Reserve’s shift in monetary policy, interest rates in major developed economies remained relatively high,
and the growth rate of household consumption slowed. Regional geopolitical risks intensified, protectionism
in trade rose, and the global economic cooperation network faced severe fragmentation and division,
ushering in a new normal of low growth for the global economy. In the face of these macroeconomic
challenges, the Group adhered to its established business strategies, strengthened its execution, and
worked diligently on internal operation and management to navigate uncertainties and ensure the steady
operation of the Group.

FORGE AHEAD AND DRAW A BEAUTIFUL BLUEPRINT

During the Year, the Group has continued to deepen brand building, strengthen brand promotion, and
enhance brand influence. At the same time, the Group has increased its efforts in business expansion and
scientific research innovation, laying a solid foundation for high-quality development. The Group has
leveraged its own advantages to actively expand business, seek more growth drivers, consolidate and
elevate its standing in the Hong Kong and Macao markets, and actively explore international markets, with
significant progress in the Oceania market layout. Additionally, the Group is committed to advancing the
process validation and market launch of newly registered proprietary Chinese medicine products, while
continuously strengthening cooperation with renowned universities and research institutions to facilitate
scientific research achievements, which will lay a solid foundation for enriching its product matrix and
providing robust support for the international layout of key categories.

STAY TRUE TO OUR ORIGINAL ASPIRATION AND BUILD
A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

As a time-honoured national brand, the Group remains steadfast in its original aspiration and mission of
“Nurturing Kindness and Virtue, Preserving Tranquillity and Wellness” while managing its business
operations. We actively fulfil social responsibilities, promote the heritage and innovation of Chinese
medicine culture, and enhance the influence and market competitiveness of our time-honoured brand. At
the same time, the Group fully integrates the principles of ESG into corporate governance and business
operations, continuously improving corporate governance to provide strong support for the sustainable
development of the enterprise.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

PROSPECT

Looking ahead to 2025, geopolitical tensions continue to rise, regional trade protectionism is on the upswing, and
the global economy still faces significant downward pressure. Regarding the Chinese medicine industry, it is
encountering new development opportunities driven by enduring national policy support and soaring market
demand. With the growing global awareness of health and the international dissemination of Chinese medicine
culture, the potential of Chinese medicine in the global market is increasingly prominent.

In line with its practical circumstances, the Group has defined the operational keywords for 2025 as “Adjustment
and Recovery, Cost Reduction and Efficiency Improvement”. From management, products, investment and finance,
we will implement four major strategies, optimising key work mechanisms, expanding categories, refining
investments, and reducing costs while improving efficiency to reinforce our foundation. Among which, we will
implement several “One” strategies, including implementing a major business philosophy of “customer-centric and
market development-oriented”, optimising processes, and proactively empowering. We will accelerate the
development of the product groups and supply chain systems of the Lingzhi series products with multiple
specifications in one product, and construct different product matrices. We will cultivate a series of major product
groups, advance safety evaluation and clinical research of key categories, and strengthen product research and
demonstration. We will accelerate high-quality value investments by investing in a number of core projects, enhance
supply chain efficiency, invest in a range of non-pharmaceutical and innovative marketing projects, enhance the
ability to transform scientific research outcomes and marketing capabilities, explore a variety of new businesses,
cultivate new growth areas, and support the smooth achievement of the overall goals for 2025.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to all our employees. Their
dedication and contribution have laid a solid foundation for the Company’s development. | would also like to
express my sincere gratitude to our Shareholders, customers, business partners, and local governments for their
support. In the future, the Group will unwaveringly follow the path of heritage and innovation, promoting the
high-quality development of the Chinese medicine industry and leading Chinese medicine to the world!

GU HAI OU
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

e 'l rm r

F F A&

R 8

RE20255F - EBUARRRERHE S ESREITHRIKE  ZREBETITEANA
BR-RPBETEMS  THERRENBEXRBETSERTHEANEEREDT -
METEDORTHNERELE BE2REESRNEANPEE LW EKERE - &
BEERRMENEIEHROE-

FEESESER  PE202FELHRBTRHERE - BAEN]  LREE - Em
REMP B HEBREEARETEREEL  KRRER  BLRE  BRENEHAEE 5
BEM  HPZBEZE[— 8K BEERIUAEFERAZL - UTSHRAERIN
—REEEL BURE THEE BEZRINERNMRERERBNHEERR  —
mEH BETERERER  BE-RIKERY  HEEHRERTEMTENGKH
ZoEERMWE MREEEERE  RE-MAOLEE | BEAHEERERE
BRA—RIFHEBENRIFEHIAE  BANMRRE{CENFEHED - R R
MER BEENBEENEE  XIF2025FERERIENER -

S E

HERARESE RUBHEMNERET  WENWERER ALANBRREET
BRENER B AATHRR FF  EBRQEBANBIBRANZE  BUHE
BE KRR AEEBEERBMECERERNNER L HBPEHEBEENEXS
ARERRE HHPEHEEGETR

BESE
ESi
&i& 20253 H28H

ENANEEACEE-pd



pajwn Auedwo) supipa|y 3s3uly) buej] usy bBuoj bHulliag

—
[

@02 uodey [enuuy

& 12 [ 57 5 & 71 ifr

BUSINESS REVIEW

Founded in 1669 during the eighth year of Emperor Kangxi’s reign in the Qing Dynasty, Tong Ren Tang has been a
prestigious Chinese time-honoured brand in the TCM industry with 356 years of history. Embracing the vision of
“Creating health and sharing with the world”, it continues to deepen its TCM modernisation efforts and expand its
service areas, accelerating the international development of TCM. During its Overseas development in recent years,
the Group has consistently adhered to the approach of “Culture-first approach in introducing medicine through
treatments”, through which it deeply embodied the modern Tong Ren Tang values of “Responsibility, Commitment
and Innovation” and has integrated traditional wisdom with innovative practices across all production and
operational aspects. It continuously fosters new quality productive forces, charting new paths for high-quality
development and promoting TCM's philosophy and wellness concepts to contribute greater strength to achieving its
ambitious goal of “wherever there is a need for health, wherever there is Tong Ren Tang”.

In 2024, the global economy faced heightened instability and uncertainty, characterised by insufficient momentum,
unbalanced growth and intensifying fragmentation during its slow recovery. Despite risks such as geopolitical
tensions and shrinking external demand amid global economic turmoil, China's economy has shown resilience and
steady progress. The implementation of various incremental policies has yielded positive results, effectively boosting
public confidence and continuously optimising economic structure. China maintained robust growth momentum and
continued to be a critical driving force for global economic growth. In this new climate where both opportunities
and challenges exist, the Group has actively adapted to external environmental changes by continuously enhancing
internal management, expanding its business presence and strengthening its brand influence in a strive to improve
operating performance and protect shareholder interests, which in turn achieved numerous remarkable results.

This Year, the Group achieved revenues of HK$1,611.6 million (2023: HK$1,524.9 million), a year-on-year increase
of 5.7%; achieved net profit of HK$529.2 million (2023: HK$590.6 million), a year-on-year decrease of 10.4%;
owner’s profits reached HK$500.3 million (2023: HK$540.4 million), a year-on-year decrease of 7.4%; and earnings
per share were HK$0.60 (2023: HK$0.65), a year-on-year decrease of HK$0.05. The Board recommends a final
dividend of HK$0.35 per share (2023: HK$0.33).

RETAIL NETWORK®
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HONG KONG MARKET

In 2024, the revenue in the Hong Kong market was
HK$1,069.7 million (2023: HK$915.3 million), a
year-on-year increase of 16.9%. This Year, Hong
Kong achieved steady positive momentum with a
focus on building a vibrant economy and striving
for development. Various supportive measures from
Mainland China and market stimulation initiatives
from the Hong Kong government have injected new
momentum into Hong Kong’s economic
development. The Census and Statistics
Department of the HKSAR revealed a year-on-year
growth of 2.5% in Hong Kong’s real GDP for 2024
as a whole, which demonstrates the profound
fundamental strength and strong market resilience
in Hong Kong’s economy. Although Hong Kong’s
overall economy showed positive development, the
retail sector in Hong Kong still faced challenges.
Notable changes in both tourist and local consumer
behaviour, declining trends in tourist stays and per-
capita spending, as well as a sustained high Hong
Kong dollar exchange rate resulted in a more
complex business environment, affecting the local
retail industry to varying degrees. The value index
of total retail sales from the Census and Statistics
Department of the HKSAR showed a total year-on-
year decline of 7.3% for 2024 as a whole, with the category of Chinese drugs and herbs retail declining by 14.8%
year-on-year. Nevertheless, the Group has actively capitalised on market opportunities by thoroughly implementing
a major variety strategy, developing products with unique advantages and strengthening marketing and brand
promotion efforts. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 29 retail outlets (including 6 retail outlets under Beijing
Tong Ren Tang Fook Ming Tang Chinese Medicine Center, a joint venture of the Group) in Hong Kong,
representing a net increase of 2 outlets from the previous year. The Group established new retail outlets in Central,
North Point, Kowloon MTR Station and Mong Kok MTR Station of Hong Kong respectively, further expanding Tong
Ren Tang’s retail presence in Hong Kong with increased market coverage. This Year, retail revenue decreased by
8.6% year-on-year, primarily due to the continued weakness in the Hong Kong retail market. This led to a decrease
in retail revenue in the first half of this Year. However, the Group rose to the challenge. With actively enhancing
product marketing and promotional activities, and organising a series of brand events, the retail revenue rebounded
and achieved year-on-year and month-on-month growth in the second half of this Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s business network covers major
countries and regions in Asia, Oceania, North
America and Europe. This Year, the global economy
showed resilience yet was marked by risks and
challenges. Regional economic disparities remained
prominent, with developing economies substantially
outpacing developed ones. The economic
divergences persisted in segment development, with
notable differences in economic growth among
developed economies. Against this background, the
Group adhered to the development strategy of
“Culture-first approach in introducing medicine
through treatments”, actively expanding its presence
in Overseas TCM markets and continuously providing
consumers with higher-quality TCM services.
Through establishing the Tong Ren Tang brand in the
Overseas market, the promotion of TCM culture is
continuously expanding. This Year, the Group has 47
Overseas retail outlets, representing a net decrease
of 1 outlets from the previous year. The revenue
from Overseas markets was HK$402.6 million (2023:
HK$480.3 million), a year-on-year decrease of
16.2%, with retail revenue decrease reaching 19.7%.
The decline in revenue from Overseas markets is
mainly attributed to the decrease in Macao’s
revenue. Due to a significant shift in the spending
patterns of visitors to Macao, resulting in a reduction
in per-capita expenditure and subsequently
impacting Macao market’s overall revenue.

In the Mainland China market, 2024 saw the Chinese
government maintaining its proactive fiscal policy and
prudent monetary policy. The China’s economy
maintained moderate to high growth; however, the
pressure of a quarterly decline intensified, and the
nominal GDP growth rate remained relatively low,
indicating the need to improve short-term economic
conditions and the need to tap into long-term
economic growth potential. This Year, the Group’s
distribution business in the Mainland China market
has gradually recovered. The revenue in the
Mainland China market was HK$139.4 million (2023:
HK$129.3 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 7.8%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This Year, the Group continued to focus on its core business,
placing emphasis on production quality management and
technological innovation, strengthening variety development and
coordinated planning, while enhancing talent cultivation and
improving production efficiency to reinforce a solid foundation for
further optimisation of the Group’s reserves on variety resources
and industrial capacity.

The Group’s Production and R&D Base in Tai Po, Hong Kong, holds
Hong Kong Chinese patent medicine GMP (Good Manufacturing
Practice) certification, international standard 1SO22000 certification,
and HACCP (Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points)
certification. It is committed to establishing a quality control system
throughout the entire process from project initiation, R&D and raw
material procurement to production and supply to provide
comprehensive assurance for the Group to produce high-quality
products.

Meanwhile, the Group has been continuously strengthening its
product manufacturing and R&D with a focus on lean management
to accelerate the development of new quality productive forces and
keep moving up the high end of the value chain, which in turn
achieved fruitful results. This Year, the Group actively expanded its
product matrix by introducing various new products, including Tong
Ren Tang’s Chinese anti-aging NMN series — the Youth Prime
Collection (i %3%l) and the Age-Defying Collection (R % 5l),
Lingzhi Turmeric Compound Blood-supplementing and
Nerve-calming Capsules (BZEZ®FFMZHBE), the Guizhi
Fuling Wan (A& %% #) and Wood Lok Medicated Oil (& #%5H). In
terms of technological innovation, Danggui Buxue Keli (& 5158
#I) was approved and granted the Certificate of Registration of
Proprietary Chinese Medicines, which further enriched the Group’s
variety of resources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Moreover, the Group has collaborated with universities and research institutes on
various scientific research projects over the years to improve product quality,
establishing a framework for the integration of industry, academia, research and
application to pave the way to TCM modernisation. Through in-depth studies into
the safety, pharmacology and pharmacodynamics of key and pipeline varieties, the
Group achieved positive and significant research outcomes that not only provided
a theoretical basis for the future development of key varieties, but also helped
accumulate reputation, recognition and technical assurance for the Overseas
market expansion of these key varieties.

This Year, the Group signed a Letter of Intent for cooperation with Macau
University of Science and Technology to jointly build a scientific research
cooperation platform, establish a professional talent training program, carry out
scientific research cooperation, promote the transformation of scientific research
results, and carry out the registration of Tong Ren Tang’s proprietary Chinese
medicines in Macao. On this basis, the Group signed a cooperation agreement
with the School of Pharmacy of Macau University of Science and Technology on
“the Effect and Mechanism Study of Qiyao Pills in Improving Diabetic
Nephropathy Induced by High-Fat Diet/STZ Model” (EZE ¥ X E SRR MNSTZ
RSB A R R B R U R R AR 3T). This cooperation aimed to conduct in-
depth research on the efficacy and mechanism of Qiyao Pills in the treatment of
diabetic nephropathy, verify its efficacy through scientific experiments, and provide
a solid scientific basis for the modern application of TCM.

In addition, the Group’s collaborative project with the School of
Pharmacy of Macau University of Science and Technology,
“Prescription pharmacology verification and preparation optimisation
study of the classic prescriptions Huangqgi Guizhi Wuwu Tang and
Taohong Siwu Tang” (RBELEBEEEREYS - ALY SRS 2
BEXRRBEELIR), received funding from the Macao Government
during the year, totalling more than Macao Pataca 12 million. The
study focused on the pharmacological verification and formulation
optimisation of the two classic prescriptions, improving their stability
and bioavailability to make them more suitable for modern people’s
medication needs, providing a scientific basis for the modernisation of
TCM, and providing strong scientific and technological support for the
inheritance and development of classic prescriptions, and continuously
promoting international support for TCM industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In November this Year, the “Evaluating the neuroprotective effect and safety of
An-Gong-Niu-Huang Wan and its ingredients in ischemic stroke” (ZE4&ZARHE
BEBR O ERINM IS R EE R R ESIEERZE) for which the Group provided
necessary medicines for the research won the “International Award for
Contribution to Chinese Medicine — Second Prize in Achievement Award in
Medical Science (¥ B ZEEPR S R — R E L R — L #2)” at the World Federation
of Chinese Medicine Societies. The research results showed that Angong
Niuhuang Wan (ZZ4 & H) could serve as an adjunct therapy for thrombolysis
treatment, improving the efficacy and survival rate in the treatment of ischemic
cerebrovascular and significantly reducing the side effects of brain hemorrhage
caused by delayed treatment. This award not only highlights the significance of
Angong Niuhuang Wan in the field of international neurological medicine, but also
marks the Group’s proactive contribution to promoting the modernisation and
internationalisation of TCM.

While preserving and advancing TCM services, the Group is also expanding into a
new health concept area through collaboration with the Deer Industry New
Zealand, under which innovative health-functional deer food products would be
developed using New Zealand deer velvet and deer by-products as key
ingredients. The Group entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the
Deer Industry New Zealand in respect of the promotional support for the
innovative health-functional deer food product, assisting both parties in
collaborative development, registration and marketing efforts. Furthermore,
leveraging New Zealand's premium resource advantages, the Group established a
deer product manufacturing facility that integrates Tong Ren Tang’s TCM
philosophy. The Group will fully leverage its proprietary brands and the benefits of
Chinese medicine, combined with the resource advantages provided by New
Zealand, the origin of deer velvet. This initiative is set to accelerate the R&D and
industrial chain configuration for New Zealand deer products, propelling the Group
further into new health domains.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to align with the evolving trends in the
field of macro-health and actively pursue new product development to cater to the
widespread market demand for regulating human body functions and preventing
diseases. Additionally, the Group will continue to strengthen the development of
independent intellectual property rights, including invention patents, new utility
model designs, copyrights and publications, with a particular emphasis on the
core product lines. Building upon its steady advancement in Overseas expansion,
the Group will concurrently build a robust portfolio of independent intellectual
property rights and explore global patent registration, utilising international
intellectual property rules to protect and enrich the core value of Tong Ren Tang
products. As of 31 December 2024, the cumulative number of authorised patents
reached 75 (including Mainland China and Hong Kong patents), with 8 PCT
international applications submitted, setting up a good protective barrier for Tong
Ren Tang’s advantageous varieties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRAND PROMOTION AND MARKETING

As a platform for the international development of Tong Ren Tang Group, a symbol of brand image and a gateway
for cultural communication, the Group, based in Hong Kong, has a globally established presence, which is featured
by a four-in-one integration of production, outlets, healthcare and culture, and blends the wisdom and experience
of different regions and nationalities to accelerate the internationalisation process. As of 31 December 2024, the
Group's sales network covers major countries and regions in Asia, Oceania, North America and Europe.

This Year, the Group continued to uphold “public welfare” as the underlying principle and cornerstone of the brand
culture and successfully launched two major brand activities. During the first “Tong Ren Tang Day”, the Group
called on retail outlets with Chinese medical consultation and treatment services Overseas to carry out distinctive
“Healthcare Charity” activities, such as health lectures, free
consultation services by Chinese medicine practitioners,
imparting acupuncture massage skills, Baduanjin exercises,
etc., in order to achieve the combination of integrity and
innovation, open-oriented and service-centered practices,
domestic and foreign presence, cultural heritage and
marketing promotion in every link, which enables the first
“Tong Ren Tang Day” to be accessible, dynamic, grand
and popular, thus injecting vitality into Tong Ren Tang's
efforts to promote high-quality development through the
“Belt and Road” initiative.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group's another key brand event, “the 9th Show Love and Care to Stroke Prevention” ([ fLfER{ZEE B &
B J) series, launched with Hong Kong's first TCM culture-themed outdoor carnival, “The Beijing Tong Ren Tang
Traditional Chinese Medicine Culture Carnival” ([TfHAREERIFEZEI{EEZFE]), as an initial warm-up event,
followed by charity and marketing activities, including the “Tong Ren Health Advice and Disease Prevention” ([ &=
fBEJAKRNE]) health seminars and “Beijing Tong Ren Tang Stroke Prevention Campaign 2024: Tong Ren
A-Maze-ing Health Tips ([R{ZEE B FE2024(E{= L Z)EES B 1)”, to further explore the potential value of Tong
Ren Tang's TCM culture. These active efforts to connect with Hong Kong primary and secondary schools and
social welfare organisations have demonstrated its profound cultural background, telling compelling stories of Tong
Ren Tang's contribution to the public health and well-being through TCM services.
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The Group took active
participations in exhibitions
and events across different
regions, including the
Wuzhen Health Conference,
the 26th China Beijing
International High-Tech
Expo, the 2024 China
International Fair for Trade
in Services, the 29th
Macao International Trade
& Investment Fair, the 21st
World Congress of Chinese
Medicine, the 2024 World
Conference on Traditional
Medicine in Beijing, the
Inaugural Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area Listed Companies Summit, etc., to showcase Tong Ren Tang’s international
development and TCM cultural heritage to the world, and narrate compelling brand and
product stories to the world. The Group also participated in the Hong Kong 2nd Hometown
Market Carnival and showcased various exhibitions and sale activities, including the display
of traditional handicraft skills by non-heritage inheritors and various experiential activities to
promote the culture of Tong Ren Tang with the utilisation of culture as medium. In addition,
the Group also assisted academic conferences in showcasing products and scientific
research results, such as the Inaugural FoodMed Conference and Exhibition held at Hong
Kong Baptist University in May this Year, the 20th Meeting of the Consortium Globalisation
of Chinese Medicine and Innovative Research in Natural Medicines held in Hengqgin, Zhuhai
and the 11th Biennial Meeting of the Society for Free Radical Research-Asia and the
Chinese National Conference of Redox Biology and Medicine 2024 held in Beijing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This Year, the Group continued to strengthen its brand promotion efforts to enhance its brand image and
strengthen market competitiveness. Through diverse media platforms, the Group demonstrated how modern
scientific research techniques validate centuries-old TCM formulas, which effectively transformed the
pharmacological research results into product sales impetus. This included actively promoting the effectiveness of
Tong Ren Niu Huang Qing Xin Wan (E{=4& &4 #1) in the prevention of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular health
issues and the treatment of chronic fatigue syndrome, chronic stress and mood disorders to strengthen the market
position of the product. In addition, the Group also conducted promotions for its products by fully leveraging
different solar terms and major festivals. In conjunction with the 24 solar terms, the Group posted several articles
about health care on social media every month to keep interacting with consumers. Around the Cultural and Natural
Heritage Day, the traditional manufacturing technique of Tong Ren Tang Angong Niuhuang Wan (E{=EZE4 & h)
was demonstrated to the public as means to improve brand awareness. Meanwhile, as tourism rebounded, the
Group, with outdoor mobile advertisements playing a leading role, arranged buses on main streets, LED screens at
major ports and high-definition outdoor TVs outside shopping malls in tourist areas in the Hong Kong and Macao
markets to publicise the “major variety” products, such as Tong Ren Tang Angong Niuhuang Wan, GLSPC (3 B &
ZHTFHBE) and Tong Ren Niu Huang Qing Xin Wan, so as to enhance the exposure of the products and
improve brand awareness, thus further stabilising brand position in local markets and effectively increasing the
influence of the Tong Ren Tang brand in Hong Kong and Macao. This Year, the Group updated the packing design
of a series of products, such as GLSPC and Ganoderma Lucidum Spores Chocolate (B{E2E S # ¥ 155 1), etc., to
enhance the market attractiveness of the products. The Group also actively promoted e-commerce business in
various initiatives to strengthen the layout and development of e-commerce channels. The Group cooperated with
JD Health, Alibaba Health and Youzan to carry out e-commerce cross-border sales business, with a focus on the
online promotion of GLSPC and Lingzhi Turmeric Compound Blood-supplementing and Nerve-calming Capsules, to
spread its brand to different sales areas and improve brand value.

With its diversified product portfolio and outstanding operational efficiency, the
Group has earned a multitude of prestigious accolades. The Group won the “01
Gold Medal Awards — Excellence Award of the TCM Brand” in Hong Kong for

s

“:l.l* ]I consecutive years, won the “No. 1 Editor's Choice — Traditional Chinese
=M Medicine Innovation Award” for the first time and the “Most Influential Brand
. Award in Asia: Most Trusted Traditional Chinese Medicine Brand” in Singapore

consecutively, maintaining the advantageous position of its brands in Overseas
markets and demonstrating recognition and trust from Overseas markets and
consumer groups in the Group’s brand, products, services and exceptional
quality.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 782
employees (2023: 798 employees).

The staff costs of the Group for the Year were
HK$251.4 million (2023: HK$245.7 million), representing
an increase of 2.3% from last year. To ensure that the
Group is able to attract and retain talents,
remuneration policies are reviewed on a regular basis.
In addition, the discretionary bonus is offered to
employees with outstanding performance with reference
to the Group’s results and individual performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This Year, the Group’s revenue amounted to HK$1,611.6 million (2023: HK$1,524.9 million), representing an
increase of 5.7% from last year. The increase in revenue is primarily attributed to the growth in the Hong Kong and
Mainland China markets. Despite the continue weakness in the retail market in Hong Kong, revenue in Hong Kong
increased by 16.9% from last year. The increase mainly attributed to the strengthening of product marketing and
promotional activities in Hong Kong in the second half of this Year and the adjustment of the selling price of the
Group’s main product, Tong Ren Tang Angong Niuhuang Wan, which increased sales revenue in the Hong Kong
market. Revenue in the Mainland China market increased by 7.8% from last year, mainly due to an increase in
sales of GLSPC, although revenue from the sale of Chinese herbal medicines decreased from last year. Revenue in
Overseas market declined by 16.2%, mainly due to a year-on-year decrease revenue in Macao. The consumption
patterns of tourists have a noticeable change in Macao, with a decrease in per capita consumption, and the
Statistic and Census Service of Macao recorded a year-on-year decline of 14.9% in retail industry sales in 2024.

The Group’s gross profit for this Year amounted to HK$1,065.3 million (2023: HK$1,047.2 million), representing an
increase of 1.7% from last year. The gross profit margin slightly decreased from 68.7% in the previous year to
66.1% this Year. The decrease is primarily due to an increase in raw material and manufacturing costs, resulting in
a lower gross profit margin for owned products compared to the previous year.

The Group’s other gains, net was HK$5.5 million (2023: HK$8.4 million), which was decreased by HK$2.9 million
from last year. The decrease is primarily due to a reduction in local government subsidies received by subsidiaries
during this Year.

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses were HK$300.2 million (2023: HK$231.3 million), representing an
increase of 29.8% from last year. The Group expanded its retail presence, leading to heightened costs associated
with property leases, employee expenses, and retail-related expenditures. Moreover, the Group implemented
intensified marketing and promotional campaigns for its major products and brands, resulting in a notable upswing
in advertising and publicity costs. Distribution and selling expenses as a percentage to revenue increased from
15.2% last year to 18.6% this Year.

The Group’s general and administrative expenses were HK$191.8 million (2023: HK$179.0 million), representing an
increase of 7.2% from last year. These expenses primarily consist of employee costs and rental fees. The increase
in general and administrative expenses is primarily attributed to the rise in service fee from intermediary agencies
and employee costs. General and administrative expenses as a percentage to revenue stood at 11.9%, similar to
last year (2023: 11.7%).

The Group’s net finance income was HK$50.8 million (2023: HK$66.9 million), which included the finance income of
HK$57.3 million (2023: HK$72.9 million). The decrease in finance income of HK$15.6 million from last year was
mainly due to the decrease in both the average short-term bank deposit interest rates and the average bank
deposit amounts.

The Group’s income tax expense was HK$100.6 million (2023: HK$97.2 million), representing an increase of 3.5%
from last year. The increase in income tax expenses is mainly attributed to the growth in revenue from the
Mainland China market, leading to an increase in taxable profits subject to higher tax rates in Mainland China.
Consequently, the effective tax rate for the Year rose to 16.0% (2023: 14.1%).

The Group’s profit for the Year decreased by 10.4% to HK$529.2 million (2023: HK$590.6 million) with a net profit
margin of 32.8% (2023: 38.7%). Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$500.3 million (2023:
HK$540.4 million), representing a decrease of 7.4% from last year. The basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company for the Year were HK$0.60 (2023: HK$0.65). The Directors recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HK$0.35 per share for the Year (2023: HK$0.33).

SR E 575 A 7

RE > REBMNKRAE1,611.6BEEIT (2023F 1 1,524.9F58E L) » BREAFRHERS. 7% WA LATDEEREEE
TERTFEAMTERAER BEFESETERERS  FETERARBLER16.9% T ERERAEEREAET
N EAEEBNREREEEE TR LAANEE T EERRCEREHFEANBEEER  SEBTHBHEEWARA M
FEAGHSRARLLIER78%  TEHABESSHAIHBESERLIEN  EFEEFEEBRRARBLRED - mE
HNHHBWRATER16.2% TEE2HMNBRMAKRARL T - shRMAREEEENPEEE  APEHERK  BRMASHEE
BFRE024FTEELEHARLL TE14.9% ©

REBRAKTENEFA1,065.3HE BT (2023F 1 1,0472HEBE L)  BEFRPLEA1.7% - ERNEHEFH68.7%0E
THRERAENE1% ETHRFITERAREMARRERREGMEN  SEEEMNENEZREERD -

REERNFEMASA5588BT (20235 :84RRBR) REFRAHTH2.9BE BT THRIARKBLARA
FIESHNE BT HREE -

AEBNOHERHEER I R002BEE T (2023F 1 2313 EER) REFHHLEFH298%  c ARNTERHH B 1T
e AENHEENHER ETRARZERENEBEEREREN - MEAEENEREREHERRMENEHE
BEE CEEREEERARLAXREEM - DHEREERIEBABT I LR EFNI52%IBRELRFN18.6% °

AEEN—MRTHEASZB191.8EE BT (20235 : 179.05 88 ) BEFEHEM7.2% - —BMRTHBEAXIES
BEIRARESEA  —METHHIENETEZEEZARNTNEEREEEMARE THA LR - —MRITEHEAZER
ABDEE11.9% » EEFRE (2023%F : 11.7%) °

REE 2 FHBNER50.8F BB T (2023F 1 6698 BB ) - HPBENBWRESTIEEET (20235 : 72988
BL) BN ERD15EBBATERANTHEMRTERNEZTRR FPHRTERESEBREZFRABRD -

AEBFEHBEXAB1006EE BT (2023F : 9725EE ) BEFRP LA35% - FIEHBAXENEELSHRTE
A TS A BTN EFHESH BN PE A ERRAEIE MR Bz NENERB R EFZE16.0% (20234F :
14.1%) ©

AEENFERBTE10.4%E529.2H B8 7T (20235 1 590.6 5 &8 7T) @ A FE 532.8% (20234 : 38.7%) o & AF
BB AEGFEE500.3EB BT (2023F (5404EBBT) BEFRBHTH7.4% - KERQATAREREAELEEBRER
B R AH0.6058 7T (20234F : 0.658 ) - EERE RN EAFERPREATR0.358 7T (20234 : 0.33/EB L) °

i

EsJEE

i

ENAYNEE



papwn Auedwo) supipa|y 3sauly) buej usy bBuoj bHulliag

202 vodey [enuuy

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Resources and Lliquidity

During the Year, the Group funded its liquidity by internal resources. Based on the Group’s steady revenue from
operations, coupled with sufficient cash and bank balances, the Group has adequate liquidity and financial
resources to meet the daily operations and working capital requirements as well as to fund its expansion plans.

The Group continued to maintain a strong financial position with cash and bank balances of HK$1,819.8 million
(2023: HK$2,378.7 million) as at 31 December 2024. The decrease in cash and bank balances was mainly
attributable to the increase in purchase of raw materials during this Year. As at 31 December 2024, most of the
Group’s cash and bank balances were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Macao Pataca and Renminbi, and were
deposited in reputable financial institutions with maturity dates falling within one year. The table below sets out the
information regarding cash and bank balances, working capital, total equity, current ratio and gearing ratio as at
31 December 2023 and 2024 and net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities, investing activities and
financing activities for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024:

Cash and bank balances < [ $R 1745 8%
Working Capital® ZE& &0

Total Equity iz 4248

Current Ratio® 7 &jtk =@

Gearing Ratio® & &tk E©

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities & & EE) (FTA), FIEL MBS H4E
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities REEBFAES,/(Fif) WIR & F5E
Net cash used in financing activities B& EBIFT A KR € F 48

™ Being net current assets
@ Being current assets divided by current liabilities
@ Being borrowings and lease liabilities divided by total equity

Capital €xpenditure

During the Year, the Group’s capital expenditure amounted to HK$43.2 million (2023: HK$21.9 million), which was
mainly used in renovation of retail outlets and purchase of machinery and equipment for production and operation
purposes.

Major Investment, Acquisitions and Disposals

During the Year, the Group did not have any major investment, acquisitions and disposals.

Charges over Assets of the Group
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any charges over assets of the Group (2023: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s main business operations are conducted in Hong Kong and other Overseas countries/regions. The
transactions, monetary assets and liabilities of the Group is mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Macao
Pataca and Renminbi. During the Year, the fluctuation in the exchange rates of these currencies did not have
material impact on the Group.

The Group did not engage in any derivatives activities and did not commit to any financial instrument to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure during the Year.
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As at 31 December
M12831H

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FBT

1,819,753 2,378,693
3,730,394 3,514,404
4,246,434 4,020,690
16.9 11.7
2.9% 3.3%

For the year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLLFE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FTBT

(217,251) 460,831
1,354,846 (1,078,521)
(355,300) (372,181)
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Granule Tea
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Rhodiola Rosea Capsule
Blueberry & Rhodiola
& — @& Rosea Capsule
A
The Youth Prime Collection —
The Active Advance
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Marine Collagen Peptide A
Cervus Elaphus
H 4 Linnaeus
‘Ilir&ﬁgn I‘ | Collagen Capsule

Guizhi Fuling Wan
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LEEIETE ) Dark Chocolate
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Camphorata f% L ] E}ll HE E%ﬁ Tangerine Peel
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< A
Ginseng-Antrodia The Age-defying . o o
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INVESTOR RELATIONS REPORT
REBERKRE

MULTI-CHANNEL INVESTOR COMMUNICATION STRATEGY

We believe that expanding diverse and effective communication channels helps to deepen our smooth, convenient,
open, and transparent information exchange with individual and institutional shareholders, as well as public
investors (collectively named as “investor(s)” in this investor relations report). This, in turn, enhances investors’
understanding and knowledge of the Group’s corporate mission and vision, development strategies, industry
competition, and operational and financial performance, enabling them to make informed investment decisions. The
Group prioritises the fair, accurate, and timely disclosure of company information to ensure a high level of
transparency, increase the Group’s visibility, strengthen our relationship with investors, and reinforce mutual trust
between both parties.

In 2024, the Group continued to uphold the principles of transparency, credibility, and timeliness, actively
responding and maintaining continuous and effective communication with investors who are focused on the Group’s
business development. The Group is committed to providing investors with convenient communication channels and
strives to ensure that all published data is accurate, clearly and impartially presented, and objectively disclosed.
The Group also collects feedback from investors and analysts, which is then relayed to management and the Board
of Directors. We are dedicated to maintaining healthy and two-way communication, ensuring that investors can
comprehensively and promptly understand the Group’s long-term development status, strategies, industry
competition, and financial and operational performance.

INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES

The Group strictly adheres to the principle of fair disclosure, ensuring equitable communication with investors and
the media, and refraining from selectively disclosing material non-public information to any individual. We strongly
support investor relations activities, and to foster two-way communication with investors, the Group engages in
close and frequent interactions with shareholders, analysts, and potential investors through various channels,
including local and Overseas non-deal roadshows, investor conferences, AGM, corporate meetings, conference calls,
and email inquiries.

This Year, the Company’s management participated in a number of investor summits organised by the world’s
leading investment banks and also organised one-on-one and group investor meetings, teleconferences and
non-deal roadshows, communicating with over hundreds investors, providing them with a deep understanding of the
Group’s situation and also strengthening investors’ confidence in the Group’s sustainable development.

The Group has made use of a number of channels to interact with investors and keep them abreast of the Group’s
latest developments.

Non-deal Roadshows and Investment Forums

We held non-deal roadshows after the interim and annual results announcement so that investors can obtain
first-hand information on the latest release from the management. The Group also actively participated in several
investment conferences organised by investment banks of which the management of the Group directly talked with
investors and analysts to share our financial results, business strategies and etc.

Major investor conferences participated and roadshows held in 2024 are set out below:

Event £18

March = A Post-results non-deal roadshow ¥#&#% IR 5 &
Post-results non-deal roadshow &% IR 5 &
Post-results non-deal roadshow ¥#&% kX 5 8§ &
Post-results non-deal roadshow &% IR 5 &
Post-results non-deal roadshow ¥£#&% ¥R 3 &

June <A Investor conference E&ERXRE

September 11 A Post-results non-deal roadshow &% ¥R 5 &
Post-results non-deal roadshow ¥#&% kX 5 &
Post-results non-deal roadshow &% IR 5 &
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INVESTOR RELATIONS REPORT

2024 2023

Closing price as at 31 December
(HK$ per Share)
R12A31 BT E (ERET) 1214 11.46 1342 8.15 11.76 12.32 10.62 10.48 9.88

Highest price during the year
(HK$ per Share)
FERaEEBRET) 16.66 14.28 14.30 14.50 15.86 17.94 12.00 12.20 14.82

Lowest price during the year
(HK$ per Share)
FEREKE(ERET) 1128 844 799 7.75 9.88 10.54 9.98 755 7.71

Average daily trading volume
(thousand Share)
BEFHRRE (TR) 1,152 1,070 1,385 1,531 854 925 469 424 883

The Group actively arranged various investor relation activities, including telephone conferences with analysts and
investor meetings and etc., in order to keep investors abreast of the Group’s latest updates and business
operations. Through such activities, we not only maintain close contact with investors so that investors can get
more in-depth and meticulous understanding of the Company’s situation, but also collect valuable advice from
investors on the Group’s business strategy.

Our investor relation representative provided detailed and accurate information in a timely manner in response to
various forms of enquiries from Shareholders, investors, analysts and the media via email, fax or telephone.

Besides the above systematic communication activities, the Company website also contains an updated investor
relations section to reach out to the investment community and public with the latest information on the Company.
To facilitate stakeholders in accessing information of the Group, we also promote proactive communication through
direct contact with our investor relations team via email at ir@tongrentangcm.com.

The AGM is a platform for face-to-face communication with Shareholders. Our Board members, senior
management, legal advisor representative and external auditor will attend and answer questions on the performance
of the Group raised by the Shareholders.

The 2024 AGM was held at 3 Dai King Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, New Territories, Hong Kong on 7 June
2024, for approval of, among others, the re-election of retiring Directors and the general mandates to issue and
purchase shares. Particulars of the major items considered at the 2024 AGM were set out in the circular dated
16 May 2024. All proposed resolutions were passed by way of poll voting at the 2024 AGM.

MARKET CAPITALISATION®

I_'Ef U}

REERMRHKRS

DIVIDEND PER SHARE AND
DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO

SREKREBRRIB[E X

T r —
HK$’billion HK$ %
+EET BT ERi)sd
58.6
12.00 035 4287 51.1 60
11.23
11.00 0.30 55
10.31 102
10,00 984 059 025 50
9.00 877 889 A 0.20 45
827
8.00 0.15 40
7.35
7.00 6.82 0.10 35
6.00 0.05 30 A
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
(1) Market capitalisation are calculated based on the Dividend per Share
closing share price of the Company as at SRR
31 December of the respective years. = - .
= - N Dividend payout ratio
BRI E 12881 A HAR D DR REHE - ~~ 5 Dividend pay
IS LC &=

2 Not included 2019 special interim dividend
(HK$0.72 per Share) and 2022 special interim
dividend (HK$0.25 per Share).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SERSREEAE

4 D)

Gu Hai Ou, aged 59, is an Executive Director and the chairman of the Board of the Company. Mr. Gu is currently
the vice general manager and member of Standing Committee of Party Committee of Tong Ren Tang Holdings, and
the vice president of the China Association of Traditional Chinese Medicine. Mr. Gu was an executive director and
the chairman of board of directors of Tong Ren Tang Technologies (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1666, and a Controlling Shareholder), and resigned on 22 January 2024. Mr. Gu joined Beijing Tong
Ren Tang Group in 1991 and was formerly the vice general manager, the chief engineer, director, the chairman of
board of directors of Tong Ren Tang Ltd.. Mr. Gu graduated from the Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese
Medicine in July 1986 with a bachelor’s degree, and obtained a master’s degree in medical science from Beijing
University of Chinese Medicine in July 1991. Mr. Gu holds the title of researcher and is also a licensed pharmacist.

Wang Chi, aged 50, is an Executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company, and a director of a
subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Wang has more than 20 years of experience in medical and pharmaceutical
industry. Mr. Wang joined Beijing Tong Ren Tang Pharmaceutical Company Limited® (a subsidiary of Tong Ren
Tang Holdings) in January 2023 and served as a director and the general manager of Beijing Tong Ren Tang
Pharmaceutical Company Limited. Prior to joining Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group, Mr. Wang was the general
manager of the Jiangzhong Food Therapy Company Limited and chairman and general manager of subsidiaries and
various senior positions in Humanwell Healthcare (Group) Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600079). Mr. Wang attained a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Manufacture and Design
from Department of Mechanical Engineering of Wuhan University (formerly known as Wuhan University of Hydraulic
and Electric Engineering) in 1996, and obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration from Economics and
Management School of Wuhan University in 2003, and then obtained a Ph.D. degree in Management from
Economics and Management School of Wuhan University in 2011.

Chen Fei, aged 54, is an Executive Director and the executive deputy general manager of the Company, and a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company on 24 March 2020 and was re-designated as an Executive Director of the Company on 11 March 2021.
Mr. Chen was the chief executive officer of the Company and served as the acting chief executive officer of the
Company from 28 March 2024 to 10 May 2024. Mr. Chen joined Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group in August 1994 and
formerly served as the manager and deputy manager of Operational Management Department of Tong Ren Tang
Holdings, the deputy manager of Pricing Department of Tong Ren Tang Holdings, the deputy manager of Economic
Operation Department of Tong Ren Tang Holdings and the general manager of Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Thailand)
Co., Ltd.. Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in Chinese medicine from School of Chinese Medicine of Beijing
Union University in August 1994.

C D)

Feng Li, aged 49, is a Non-executive Director of the Company, who was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 12 August 2022 and was re-designated as a Non-executive Director on 13 March 2023. Ms. Feng
currently serves as a non-executive director of Tong Ren Tang Technologies (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1666), a Controlling Shareholder and the deputy general manager and the secretary to the
board of directors of Tong Ren Tang Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
600085), a Controlling Shareholder. Ms. Feng joined Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group in March 2012 and was formerly
served as the manager of the Internal Audit and Legal Department, the assistant to the general manager and the
manager of the Economic Operation Department of the Company. Prior to joining Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group,
Ms. Feng worked as a senior audit manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian LLP. Ms. Feng graduated from
the Department of International Economics of Peking University in 1998 with a bachelor’s degree in economics and
she is also a certified public accountant in China (non-practicing).

™ The English name is translated for identification purpose only.

C D)

W 59m%  AATHTESREESSIF EALREIRCEELEEATRALE
EZELZ  FATPEIEBGERER BAALESECEHCERRE (—KREXHM LT/
AR (B 1666) » BERKRR) 2HTEERESER @ HMR2024F1 B22HFE °
BEEERMONEMALRE -EEE  FERCEROBLEE - L ITREM 5 &
ER -BAEMIBFETASEN LT REEARSBYESE L& > WH1991F7AE
TEFEEAERTFEEEL -EALEBBAMES RSN ELELN -

AN

TE 505 AQAGRHTESREFYTE  URITRQIAMNBRATNZES - TEER
BEEZ2RA20F L% R2023F1 AMALRECERERHERATVN(EAC-ES
EARZFAR)  EABLRRCERERNMERAGDESRALE - EMALTER
CEEEAN  TAEPGTIFEERBEARATELE AGBEEERMKERLT
(REBBAEXFZHET AT RHNKI 1 600079) TEBAFRZEESRRAKEBELESHR
B e THREMI6FEREARB (FIBAREKFNSHALR) BFHEM I REREBEE
RETELEN  WHR2003FEREASLFEEHERBFIFETEBE LTSN HE
RO FEREASBLEHEESBRBTFTEREF LB o

AN

BRA - 545% 0 AARPTEEREBAAKE Y RFIALAETHBELATZES - &
S AEM2020F3 A4 A BRI AR D TFHUTESTIN2021FE3A11BRAEEERQATH
TES RALEEARQXTIEEIATE » ¥N202453 8280 £2024F58 108 HARg 3%
FEARQAFNREERFHITE -BEER190MESAMALRE-CEER  FEIRICEER
NAELEEHNIRNEBPR B CEEEALATTSYEEESRIR RFACEEELQ
AEEETHRBMEREZEBCE (RE) GRATEEE - RAENR1994F8 A E LT
BHERBHBHEEBRRTFHEBE L&y

C D)

B 4988 AR TEHITES > HN2022F8 812 EETAERATNHITES TR
2023 F3A13AERTAFYUTES  BL LRI CERNBE (—RREIFRLTHA
= (IRMDMRIE:1666) » BERBRER) 2HHATES  REBCERAG (—KRLEEHFR
SHEMHLRE (BRMMRIE 0 600085) » BERRR) 2RlAKLERETEWNE - BL+
R2012F3AMALREACEEE  BEEALTABEHHNE AEENERCEE
THHRE - MALRECEEER Bt EREEXBEHRETHESKATHSRE
TR o BL LM FEREEN LT AEFBEAERTERLEEZELEN > FTADE
M EETE GEFZE) -

0 ZHECRAXEBRABERD AR -

i

G Cl=pls

i

ENAYIES



payw Auedwoy supipay 3sauly) bue) usy bBuo) bulfisg

=
(-

poday [enuuy

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper, G.B.M., G.B.S., J.P., aged 77, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company on 12 September 2017. Mr. Tsang is Honorary Professor of the Faculty of Social Science of The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Tsang currently serves as an independent non-executive director of Kunlun
Energy Company Limited (stock code: 135) which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tsang held a number of
posts in public service, including the President of the Fourth and the Fifth Legislative Council of the HKSAR from
2008 to 2016. Prior to his election as President of the Legislative Council of the HKSAR, Mr. Tsang served as a
member of the Legislative Council from 1998 to 2016, representing the Kowloon West constituency from 1998 to
2008 and the Hong Kong Island constituency from 2008 to 2016. He served as a member of the Executive Council
of the HKSAR from 2002 to 2008. From 1992 to 2003, he served as chairman of the Democratic Alliance for the
Betterment of Hong Kong. Mr. Tsang was actively involved in the establishment of the HKSAR. He served as a
member of the Preparatory Committee established by the Standing Committee of the Chinese National People’s
Congress in 1996 and a member of the Provisional Legislative Council of the HKSAR from 1997 to 1998. Mr. Tsang
was a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference from 1993 to
2013, a non-executive director of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission from 2001 to 2007, a
member of the Executive Committee of the Commission on Strategic Development from 2005 to 2008, a board
member of the Airport Authority Hong Kong from 2005 to 2008, a member of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption Complaints Committee from 2003 to 2008 and a member of the Disaster Relief Fund Advisory
Committee from 2002 to 2008. Mr. Tsang also served as a member of the Council of The Open University of Hong
Kong from 1996 to 2005 and a member of the Standing Committee on Language Education and Research from
1996 to 2000. Mr. Tsang obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree at The University of Hong Kong in 1968, Certificate in
Education at The University of Hong Kong in 1981 and a Master of Education degree at The University of Hong
Kong in 1983. Mr. Tsang was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (J.P.) in 1998 and was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star (G.B.S.) in 2002 and the Grand Bauhinia Medal (G.B.M.) in 2015. Mr. Tsang previously served as an
independent non-executive director of DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 620)
which is listed on the Stock Exchange, his tenure of office expired on 31 August 2023.

Xu Hong Xi, aged 63, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 13 March
2023. Mr. Xu is currently the distinguished professor of Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, the
honorary dean of the School of Pharmacy and the head of the Engineering Research Center of Shanghai Colleges
for the Tradition Chinese Medicine New Drug Discovery. Mr. Xu is honored as a “State Specially Recruited Expert”,
the first batch “Shanghai Distinguished Expert” and concurrently serves as the secretary-general of Chinese
Medicine Academic Disciplinary Assessment team of the State Council Academic Degrees Committee, a member of
Chinese Medicine Professional Education Steering Committee under Ministry of Education, a member of Chinese
Pharmacopoeia Commission, the chairman of the Belt and Road Alliance for Traditional Chinese Medicine, the
honorary chairman of the Chinese Medicine Experimental Pharmacology Branch of China Association of Chinese
Medicine, the honorary chairman of the Chinese Medicine Professional Committee of the Shanghai Pharmaceutical
Association, the co-chairman of the International Conference on the Modernization of Chinese Medicine. Mr. Xu
successively served as the scientific officer of Chinese Medicine Research Centre at The Chinese University of
Hong Kong, the deputy general manager and senior medical advisor of Hutchison Whampoa (China) Limited, a
director and the R & D director of Shanghai Hutchison Pharmaceuticals Limited, and the deputy director of the
Hong Kong Jockey Club Institute of Chinese Medicine. Mr. Xu graduated from Shanghai University of Traditional
Chinese Medicine in 1983 and 1989 with a bachelor’s degree and master’s degree, respectively, and obtained his
Ph.D. degree in Pharmaceutical Sciences in 1994 from Toyama Medical and Pharmaceutical University in Japan,
and conducted postdoctoral research at the National University of Singapore and Dalhousie University in Canada
between 1994 and 1998.

Chan Ngai Chi, aged 53, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 15 April
2013. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chan had more than 20 years of financial management, compliance and
auditing experience. Mr. Chan worked in the audit division of PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong and various
Hong Kong and U.S. listed companies. Mr. Chan is currently the chief financial officer and company secretary of
International Business Digital Technology Limited (formerly known as Vixtel Technologies Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 1782) which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and also a Chartered Financial
Analyst Charterholder. Mr. Chan graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology with a
bachelor’s degree in business administration in accounting in 1994 and, also obtained a master’s degree in Science
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2003 and an EMBA degree from Peking University in 2021.
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Wu Wei, aged 54, is the deputy general manager of the Company. Ms. Wu joined Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group in
2002, transferred to the Company from Tong Ren Tang Research Institute in 2014, and was mainly responsible for
product, technology development and project management. Ms. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Biochemical
Engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in 1992 and a master’s degree in Medicine from Beijing University
of Chinese Medicine in 2007.

AN

Zhang Jiliang, aged 42, is the deputy general manager of the Company. Mr. Zhang joined the Company in 2015
and formerly served as the manager of the Business Department, the head of the Innovation Investment
Department and the assistant to the general manager of the Company. Mr. Zhang was appointed as the deputy
general manager of the Company in November 2022. Mr. Zhang is the inheritor of Tang Zuxuan, a master of
traditional Chinese medicine, a member of the Smart Medical Committee of the Chinese Association for Artificial
Intelligence, a licensed physician, and a licensed pharmacist. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Zhang worked as
the deputy general manager and marketing director of the intelligent terminal business department of iFlytek Co.,
Ltd.. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in communication studies from the University of Science and
Technology of China in 2006 and a master’s degree in medicine from Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese
Medicine in 2017.

72N

Tsang Fung Yi, aged 49, is the chief financial officer and the Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Tsang
joined the Company as a deputy chief financial officer in October 2012. Ms. Tsang was appointed as the chief
financial officer and the Company Secretary of the Company on 21 May 2020. Prior to joining the Company,
Ms. Tsang worked as a senior audit manager in PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong. Ms. Tsang graduated from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology with a bachelor’'s degree in business administration in
accounting in 1998 and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The Directors are pleased to present the report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The principal activities of the Company are manufacturing, retail and wholesale of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments. The principal activities and other
particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the Company’s business, a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year, an
analysis of using financial key performance indicators and the future development of the Company’s business are
set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report. The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group have been set out in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on pages 112 to 113 of this annual report.

The Board has proposed a final dividend of HK$0.35 (2023: HK$0.33) per ordinary share for the year ended
31 December 2024. Such final dividend will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the AGM to be held on
Tuesday, 3 June 2025 and if approved, will be payable on or before Wednesday, 18 June 2025 to Shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on Wednesday, 11 June 2025.

Details of the dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of the dividend policy of the Company are also set out in the below section headed “Corporate
Governance Report”.

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the following periods:

(i) from Thursday, 29 May 2025 to Tuesday, 3 June 2025 (both days inclusive), for the purpose of ascertaining
Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712—
1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre,183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 28 May 2025; and

(if) from Monday, 9 June 2025 to Wednesday, 11 June 2025 (both days inclusive), for the purpose of ascertaining
Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at the address as set out in
sub-paragraph (i) above for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 June 2025.

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (i) above, no transfers of shares will be registered.
Details of the segment information of the Group are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had borrowings of approximately HK$0.2 million (2023: approximately HK$0.3
million), details of which are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note
24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 118 to 119 of this annual report, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the reserves of the Company available for distribution amounted to approximately
HK$3,078.8 million (2023: approximately HK$2,887.3 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any cash charitable donation (2023:
approximately HK$0.1 million).

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last ten financial years is set out on
pages 10 to 11 of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue received/receivable from the top five customers in aggregate
and the single largest customer accounted for approximately 49.7% (2023: approximately 34.9%) and
approximately 29.9% (2023: approximately 17.9%) of the Group’s revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases paid/payable to the top five suppliers in aggregate and the
largest supplier constituted approximately 83.1% (2023: approximately 64.6%) and approximately 44.1% (2023:
approximately 34.7%) of the Group’s total purchases, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s top five suppliers include the immediate holding company, the
intermediate holding company and their associates.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in any of the top
five customers and suppliers.

The Group values the contributions of employees. The Group provides a competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees and
makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market standard. Details are set out below under the section
“Emolument Policy” and note 33.22 to the consolidated financial statements.

To maintain its core competitiveness, the Group aims at delivering constantly high standards of quality in the
Chinese medicine products and service to its customers. The Group also understands that it is important to
maintain good relationship with its customers and suppliers to fulfill its long term goals and carefully select
(including and taking into account their financial position, credit history and other factors) our suppliers to ensure
our commitment of quality and ethics to customers. As at 31 December 2024, majority of the Group’s trade
receivables are due within 90 days from the date of invoices, and credit periods granted to customers, including
related parties, normally range from 30 days to 90 days. Details are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its customers and/or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Gu Hai Ou (Chairman)

Wang Chi (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 10 May 2024)
Chen Fei (Executive Deputy General Manager)

Yu Jin (resigned on 28 March 2024)

Feng Li

Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper
Xu Hong Xi
Chan Ngai Chi

In accordance with Article 97 of the Articles of Association, three Directors, namely, Ms. Feng Li, Mr. Xu Hong Xi
and Mr. Chan Ngai Chi shall retire from office by rotation respectively and, all being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election as the Directors at the forthcoming 2025 AGM.

With effect from 28 March 2024, Mr. Yu Jin resigned as an Executive Director, due to personal endeavours.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors, a confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the Independent
Non-executive Directors are independent. A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website (cm.tongrentang.com) under “Investor Relations”.

Executive Directors, Mr. Gu Hai Ou, Mr. Wang Chi, Mr. Chen Fei and Non-executive Director, Ms. Feng Li, entered
into service contracts with the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from 13 December 2023,
10 May 2024, 11 March 2024 and 13 March 2023 respectively.

Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper, Mr. Xu Hong Xi and Mr. Chan Ngai Chi, being all Independent Non-executive
Directors, entered into letters of appointment with the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from
12 September 2023, 13 March 2023 and 15 April 2022 respectively, unless terminated by either party giving at least
two months’ notice in writing.

None of the Directors has entered or proposed to enter into any service contracts with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on pages 44 to 49 of
this annual report.

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference to market terms and the
performance, qualifications and experience of the individual employee. The remunerations of the Directors are
determined with reference to the economic situation, the market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed
by each Director as well as their individual performance. Details of the fee and emolument of the Directors are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the emoluments before tax paid to the senior management of
the Company whose names are listed in this annual report are set out by band as follows:

Emolument bands

oS EE

HK$ 3% 7T 0-HK$ % 7£ 500,000
HK$ % 7t 500,001-HK$ % 7t 1,000,000
HK$ % 7t 1,000,001-HK$ % 7t 1,500,000

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates various retirement schemes. Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out in note 33.22
to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interest and short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong)) of Directors and chief executives of the Company which would have to be notified to the Company pursuant
to of Part XV of the SFO (including interests which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) and required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code contained in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Exchange, were as follows:

Long Position in Shares

Name of Directors Types of interests

BExEH REmME

Chen Fei FR 7 Personal 1A

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests and short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests in shares” above, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or their respective associates has any competing interests which need to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

To ensure that the business classification between the Company and the Controlling Shareholders are properly
documented and established, each of the Controlling Shareholders entered into a deed of non-competition (the
“Deed of Non-competition”) in favour of the Company on 18 April 2013, details of which are set out in the
Prospectus, mainly to the effect that at any time until their collective beneficial interest in the equity interest in the
Company is less than 30%, each of them shall not, and shall procure their respective subsidiaries (except through
its interests in the Group) not to, without prior written consent of the Company, directly or indirectly:

(i) engage in the research, development, manufacture and sales of any products containing ganoderma lucidum
or ganoderma lucidum spores as raw materials in the Non-Mainland China Markets;

(if) engage in the research, development, manufacture and sale of any products with “Tong Ren Tang” brands in
the Non-Mainland China Markets, except for the manufacture of the Chinese medicine products for the two
independent third parties in Japan; for the avoidance of doubt and without prejudice to the generality of the
Deed of Non-competition, except for the current excluded business in Japan, engage in arrangement with
any other parties in the Non-Mainland China Markets similar to the excluded business in Japan;

(i)  carry out any sales or registration (new or renewal) for Angong Niuhuang Wan in the Non-Mainland China
Markets;

(iv)  engage in the distribution of any Chinese medicine products in the Non-Mainland China Markets, except for
certain existing arrangements as disclosed in the Prospectus; and

(v) carry out any new Overseas registration of “Tong Ren Tang” branded products ((i) to (v) are collectively known
as “Restricted Business”).

In addition, under the Deed of Non-competition, each of the Controlling Shareholders has also undertaken that if
each of them and/or any of its associates is offered or becomes aware of any project or new business opportunity
(the “New Business Opportunity”) that relates to the Restricted Business, whether directly or indirectly, it shall (i)
promptly and in any event not later than seven (7) days notify the Company in writing of such opportunity and
provide such information as is reasonably required by the Company in order to enable the Company to come to an
informed assessment of such opportunity; and (i) use its best endeavours to procure that such opportunity is
offered to the Company on terms no less favourable than the terms on which such opportunity is offered to it and/
or its associates.

The Directors (including the Independent Non-executive Directors) will review the New Business Opportunity and
decide whether to invest in the New Business Opportunity within thirty (30) business days of receipt of notice from
Controlling Shareholders.

Tong Ren Tang Holdings has also granted the Company rights of first refusal to acquire its interest in Beijing Tong
Ren Tang Hong Kong Medicine Management Limited, Beijing Tong Ren Tang (UK) Limited and Beijing Tong Ren
Tang Tai Fong Co., Ltd. on terms which are not less favorable than the terms it wishes to sell to other parties.

In this connection, the Group adopted the following corporate governance measures to manage any potential
conflicts of interest arising from any future potential competing business and to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders:

(i) the Independent Non-executive Directors shall review, at least on an annual basis, the compliance with and
enforcement of the terms of the Deed of Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders; and

(ii) the Company will disclose the review by the Independent Non-executive Directors with basis on the compliance
with and enforcement of the terms of the Deed of Non-competition in its annual report.

In monitoring the competing business of the Parent Group, the Competition Executive Committee comprising two
disinterested Directors, namely Mr. Wang Chi (appointed on 10 May 2024) and Mr. Chen Fei, has been established
with the following major responsibilities:

(@) conduct quarterly inspection of the distribution channels of the Parent Group, including retail stores and
wholesale customers, to check whether any products containing ganoderma lucidum or ganoderma lucidum
spores as raw materials (other than GLSPC) is sold in the Non-Mainland China Markets; and

(b) conduct quarterly communications with representatives of the Parent Group to confirm whether their research
and development portfolio has any products which contain ganoderma lucidum or ganoderma lucidum spores
as raw materials.
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The Competition Supervisory Committee has been established, which comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper (Chairman), Mr. Xu Hong Xi and Mr. Chan Ngai Chi, with the
following major responsibilities:

(@) meet quarterly and review the quarterly inspection record and daily communication records by the Competition
Executive Committee (if applicable); and

(b) report findings during its review of the records provided by the Competition Executive Committee to the Board
which will be published in the Company’s annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Competition Executive Committee, they are not aware of the distribution channels of
the Parent Group selling any products containing ganoderma lucidum or ganoderma lucidum spores as raw
materials (other than GLSPC) in the Non-Mainland China Markets for the year ended 31 December 2024.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, the interest of the persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the Company, in
the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which were notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
or otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

Long Position in Shares

Name of shareholder

BRR &M

Tong Ren Tang Technologies E1=% &l$k
Tong Ren Tang Ltd." @E{=E k5O

Tong Ren Tang Holdings® R{ZZ K& 2 7@
Notes:

(1) Tong Ren Tang Ltd. directly holds approximately 46.85% of the issued share capital of Tong Ren Tang Technologies.
Accordingly, Tong Ren Tang Ltd. is deemed to be interested in 318,540,000 Shares of the Company held by Tong Ren Tang
Technologies.

2) Tong Ren Tang Holdings directly holds approximately 52.45% of the issued share capital of Tong Ren Tang Ltd. which in turn
directly holds approximately 46.85% of the issued share capital of Tong Ren Tang Technologies. Tong Ren Tang Holdings
also directly holds approximately 1.34% domestic shares and H shares in total of Tong Ren Tang Technologies. Accordingly,
Tong Ren Tang Holdings is deemed to be interested in 318,540,000 Shares of the Company and 281,460,000 Shares of the
Company held by Tong Ren Tang Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Ltd., respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which would fall under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed to the Company, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements, certain of these transactions also constitute connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Group has entered into a number of connected transactions/continuing connected transactions with the
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company. The Directors confirmed that the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the
non-exempted connected transactions and continuing connected transactions of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 are as follows:

On 20 February 2023, the Company and Tong Ren Tang Holdings entered into a renewed PRC distribution
framework agreement (the “Renewed TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement”) that Tong Ren
Tang Group (refer to Tong Ren Tang Holdings, its subsidiaries, its jointly-controlled entities and its
associates, other than Tong Ren Tang Technologies and its subsidiaries) acts as a non-exclusive distributor
of the Group, would purchase the Products (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated
20 February 2023) from the Group and then distribute the same to, among others, distributors, retailers or
end-users in the Mainland China or use them for the purpose of production for a period from 20 February
2023 to 31 December 2025.

Tong Ren Tang Holdings is the ultimate Controlling Shareholder and hence a connected person of the
Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the
Renewed TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement for the years ended 31 December 2023, 2024
and ending 2025 are HK$330,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC), HK$380,000,000 (exclusive of
value-added tax in PRC) and HK$436,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC), respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed
5% and the annual caps is more than HK$10,000,000, the Renewed TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting, announcement, circular
and annual review requirements as well as the independent shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules.
Details of the Renewed TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 20 February 2023.

The Renewed TRT Group PRC Distribution Framework Agreement was approved by the independent
Shareholders in the EGM held on 14 March 2023.

On 20 February 2023, the Company and Tong Ren Tang Technologies entered into a renewed PRC
distribution framework agreement (the “Renewed TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework Agreement”) that
Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group (refer to Tong Ren Tang Technologies and its subsidiaries, other than
the Group) acts as a non-exclusive distributor of the Group, would purchase the Products (as defined in the
announcement of the Company dated 20 February 2023) from the Group and then distribute the same to,
among others, distributors, retailers or end-users in the Mainland China or use them for the purpose of
production for a period from 20 February 2023 to 31 December 2025.

Tong Ren Tang Technologies is our Controlling Shareholder and hence a connected person of the Company
for the purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Renewed
TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework Agreement for the years ended 31 December 2023, 2024 and ending
2025 are HK$74,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC), HK$85,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax
in PRC) and HK$98,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in PRC), respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed
5% and the annual caps is more than HK$10,000,000, the Renewed TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting, announcement, circular
and annual review requirements as well as the independent shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules.
Details of the Renewed TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 20 February 2023.

The Renewed TRT Tech PRC Distribution Framework Agreement was approved by the independent
Shareholders in the EGM held on 14 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

On 29 November 2023, the Company entered into the renewed exclusive distributorship framework
agreements (the “Renewed Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements”) with each of Tong Ren Tang
Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. whereby Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group (refer to Tong Ren Tang
Technologies and its subsidiaries, other than the Group) and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group (refer to Tong Ren
Tang Ltd. and its subsidiaries, other than Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group and the Group) appointed TRT
International Natural-Pharm, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as their sole Overseas distributor for
the distribution of the “Tong Ren Tang” branded products and/or Chinese medicine products supplied by the
Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group or the Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group in the markets outside the Mainland
China for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026.

Tong Ren Tang Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. are both the Controlling Shareholders and hence are
connected persons of the Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the
transactions under the Renewed Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements for the years ended
31 December 2024, ending 2025 and 2026 are HK$49,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC),
HK$55,800,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC) and HK$63,600,000 (exclusive of value-added tax
in the PRC) with Tang Ren Tang Technologies, as well as HK$111,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in
the PRC), HK$120,000,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC) and HK$130,000,000 (exclusive of
value-added tax in the PRC) with Tang Ren Tang Ltd., respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed
5% and the annual caps are more than HK$10,000,000, the Renewed Exclusive Distributorship Framework
Agreements and the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements as well as the independent Shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules.
Details of the Renewed Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 29 November 2023.

The Renewed Exclusive Distributorship Framework Agreements were approved by the independent
Shareholders in the EGM held on 27 December 2023.

On 28 December 2021, the Company and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. entered into an Angong Niuhuang Wan
Powder master purchase agreement (the “Existing Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder Master Purchase
Agreement”) whereby the Group would purchase Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder, being the raw materials for
production of Angong Niuhuang Wan, from Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group (collectively refer to Tong Ren Tang
Ltd., its subsidiaries (either directly owned or indirectly owned), its jointly controlled entities and its
associates (other than Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group and the Group)) for a term of three years from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024.

Tong Ren Tang Ltd. is our Controlling Shareholder and hence a connected person of the Company for the
purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions under the Existing Angong Niuhuang Wan
Powder Master Purchase Agreement for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 are
HK$54,000,000, HK$60,000,000 and HK$64,000,000, respectively.

As the Existing Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder Master Purchase Agreement expired on 31 December 2024,
the Company entered into a new Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder purchase framework agreement on
20 December 2024 with Tong Ren Tang Ltd. (the “Renewed Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder Purchase
Framework Agreement”) to renew the procurement arrangement for a further term of two and a half years
from 1 January 2025 to 30 June 2027. The caps for the transactions under the Renewed Angong Niuhuang
Wan Powder Purchase Framework Agreement for the years ending 31 December 2025, 2026 and six months
ending 30 June 2027 are HK$65,000,000, HK$69,000,000 and HK$36,000,000, respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed
0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated under the Renewed Angong
Niuhuang Wan Powder Purchase Framework Agreement are subject to reporting, announcement and annual
review requirements but exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules. Details of the Renewed Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder Purchase Framework Agreement are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 20 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

On 30 December 2022, the Company and Tong Ren Tang Holdings entered into a renewed master lease
framework agreement (the “Renewed Master Lease Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which, Tong Ren
Tang Holdings has agreed to lease and procure other members of the Parent Group to lease certain
premises to the Group for its productions and operations so that any member of the Group may continue,
amend or renew the existing leases with any member of the Parent Group from time to time and as
necessary for the future business needs of the Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2025.

Tong Ren Tang Holdings is the ultimate Controlling Shareholder and hence a connected person of the
Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the
Renewed Master Lease Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 and years ending 2024
and 2025 are HK$21,000,000, HK$4,200,000 and HK$4,350,000, respectively.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio and equity capital ratio) of the
annual caps exceed 0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated under the
Renewed Master Lease Framework Agreement are subject to reporting, announcement and annual review
requirements but exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules.
Details of the Renewed Master Lease Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 30 December 2022.

On 22 March 2023, the Company and Beijing Tong Ren Tang Century Advertising Co., Ltd. (“Tong Ren Tang
Century Advertising”) entered into a renewed advertising agency framework agreement (the “Renewed
Advertising Agency Framework Agreement”) that Tong Ren Tang Century Advertising, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Tong Ren Tang Technologies act as a non-exclusive advertising agent of the Group, to provide
the Advertising Agency Services (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 22 March 2023) to
the Group in the Mainland China for a period from 22 March 2023 to 31 December 2025.

Tong Ren Tang Technologies is the Controlling Shareholder and hence a connected person of the Company
for the purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Renewed
Advertising Agency Framework Agreement for each of the year ended 31 December 2023, 2024 and the year
ending 31 December 2025 are HK$8,300,000 (exclusive of value-added tax in the PRC).

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed
0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated under the Renewed Advertising
Agency Framework Agreement are subject to reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but
exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules. Details of the
Renewed Advertising Agency Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
22 March 2023.

On 14 March 2024, the Company and Beijing Tong Ren Tang Shuzi Technology Co., Ltd. (“Tong Ren Tang
Shuzi Technology”) entered into an e-commerce services cooperation framework agreement (the
“E-commerce Services Framework Agreement”) that Tong Ren Tang Shuzi Technology and its subsidiaries
will provide the E-commerce Services (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 14 March
2024) to members of the Group for a period from 14 March 2024 to 31 December 2024.

Tong Ren Tang Shuzi Technology is a subsidiary of Tong Ren Tang Ltd., which is the Controlling
Shareholder of the Company and hence Tong Ren Tang Shuzi Technology is a connected person of the
Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
E-commerce Services Framework Agreement for the period from 14 March 2024 to 31 December 2024 is
HK$13,300,000.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the annual caps exceed
0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated under the E-commerce Services
Framework Agreement are subject to reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but exempt
from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules. Details of the E-commerce
Services Framework Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 14 March 2024.
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Details of the above continuing connected transactions are further summarised as follows: B ERERSHBE—SHEOT ¢

Transaction amount
for the year ended
31 December 2024

B ZE2024%F12831H

EE8H

Annual cap
for the year ended
31 December 2024

EHF2024512H31H

Of

—a—
— s

B b0

o LEERSHE LEEZFELR
E: Name of connected person Nature of transaction HK$°000 HK$°000
= BEALERE XHHEE FET F#& T
2
Py
a (1) Tong Ren Tang Group Sales of the Products 56,785 380,000
g A EEm HEES
u
n (20 Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group Sales of the Products - 85,000
=
a ECEREER HEEM
; (83) Tong Ren Tang Technologies Group Purchase of Tong Ren Tang branded products and/
a or Chinese medicine products 43,023 49.000
s
Fl FECZREEE BERCERMERR BPEER
Eg; Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group 62,851 111,000
§ BEZEZRHER
l; (4) Tong Ren Tang Ltd. Group Purchase of Angong Niuhuang Wan Powder 23,453 64,000
2 R R EE BEREFEAH
o
(5) Parent Group Lease of premises - 4,200
68 BEE YEHRE
(6) Tong Ren Tang Century Advertising Provision of the Advertising Agency Services 2,507 8,300
ECEHLEES REEHENRERE
> (7)  Tong Ren Tang Shuzi Technology Provision of the E-commerce Services 2,028 13,300
2 Bi-EBTRE R BRI
Py
§ The price and the terms of the above transactions have been determined in accordance with the pricing policies FRRGHEREGRERBEEBEASTEEEBREESIEE
+ and guideline set out in the relevant announcements.
v
o - N
N Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHTESER
The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and BUHTESCEM NS ERERS  IRAZSHEREIZ NALEE
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the Group:
(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (1) RAEKERER—REBBEPITL
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and (2 B RBEERRIREBERRTIL K
(3)  in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the B BRERATFEEBEIFEAAARREEINZNEEHRET
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in AABRREMZ K EH M EEMEZEARBEES ESHMASHEMNEERERAENE
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other 30003% (RAER]) BL B ERER B HF MU ZRFELE WS RBEKEHAFE 7405 (&
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) B EREE L TREAFTAIFEREX G ZE AR AEBNFERERSESY
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong RiE - RKBTMBXMERIELTRBE14A 60K HERG  HENRRFRE2EGY
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued their unmodified letter containing the BEFEEAEESERERINEEERREARBERERER -

findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
pages 62 to 69 of this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

On 20 December 2024, the Company and Tong Ren Tang Technologies entered into a technical service agreement
(the “Technical Service Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Company commissioned Tong Ren Tang Technologies
to conduct process and technical research for essential raw materials of Chinese medicine during 1 January 2025
to 31 December 2026. The Company shall pay Tong Ren Tang Technologies a total of HK$5 million in installments
for the technical services contemplated under the Technical Service Agreement.

Tong Ren Tang Technologies is our immediate Controlling Shareholder and hence is a connected person of the
Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the
profits ratio) of the transaction contemplated under the Technical Service Agreement exceed 0.1% but less than
5%, the transaction contemplated thereunder is subject to reporting and announcement requirements but exempt
from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Details of the Technical Service
Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 20 December 2024.

Ms. Feng Li (who is the deputy general manager and the secretary to the board of directors of Tong Ren Tang Ltd.
and the non-executive director of Tong Ren Tang Technologies), the Non-executive Director of the Company, is
considered to have material interests in the transactions contemplated under the above connected transaction and
continuing connected transactions (except the Renewed Master Lease Framework Agreement) by virtue of her
respective positions in Tong Ren Tang Ltd. and Tong Ren Tang Technologies, for good corporate governance, Ms.
Feng Li has abstained from voting on the relevant Board resolutions in the Board meetings to approve such
transactions.

Saved as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and
the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries. There is no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries.

Details of Directors’ interests in contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business are set out in the
section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual report. Other than
as disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company or its
subsidiaries, or its holding companies or any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with the Director was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2024.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. A permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is
currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

The Group considers the importance of environmental affairs and believes business development and environmental
affairs are highly related. This Year, the Group implemented certain environmental protection measures to save
energy and reduce the consumption of resources. These policies were supported by our staff and were
implemented effectively. The Board has also reviewed the 2024 ESG Report. For more comprehensive information,
please refer to the 2024 ESG Report of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

As a listed company engages business in Hong Kong, the Group is subject to various laws and regulations
including Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622), Business Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310), Inland Revenue
Ordinance (Chapter 112) and Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57). The Group has put in place internal controls to
ensure compliance of the same. In addition, as the Group also engages business in certain jurisdictions,
compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, and in
particular, those have significant impact on the Group. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations
are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units in the Company and subsidiaries
from time to time.

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, based on information that is publicly available to
the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float of
more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

The Group does not have significant event occurred after this Year and up to the date of this report that needs to
be disclosed.

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance which it believes
is crucial to the development of the Group and safeguard the interests of the Shareholders. Information on the
Company’s corporate governance principles and practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
74 to 103 of this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been audited by
Ernst & Young.

At the AGM held on 7 June 2024, PricewaterhouseCoopers retired as the auditor of the Company and Ernst &
Young was appointed as the new auditor of the Company.

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Gu Hai Ou
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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PHREBHS

OF DIRECTORS
g§58

()

ES8BINLEE
BOARD COMMITTEES

»

AUDIT

COMMITTEE
EVZEE

NOMINATION
COMMITTEE
REZEE

REMUNERATION
§ - COMMITTEE
e ES SN

COMPETITION
SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE
BREERZES

COMPETITION
EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE

BEYTEEE

responsible for communicating with
external auditors and reviewing of the
Group’s financial information, financial
reporting system, internal control
procedures and risk management
system
SEENEREMEBRLENAEE
BBEN  MBMERSR  APER
BEREBEEHE

responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board,
assessing the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Directors
SEFHNESSLEE  ABRAR
TEBYFHTESNELERRER
REAESOESZERLEBES

responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the policy and structure
of the remuneration of all the Directors
and senior management for approval by
the Board
SERAARAESREREEASN
ERFHBEREABOESSRIES
HESSHE

responsible for reviewing the findings of
the competition executive committee on
competing business of the Parent Group
SERMRTHNTEESAHESEE
BEEBNRS

responsible for monitoring of the
competing business of the Parent Group
BERERRERIES

=§Ld=

MANAGEMENT

responsible for overseeing the day-to-
day management and operation with

Board’s delegated authority, and
implementing the Group’s strategy and
policy
REEEEHTFNELEE
EEAREEREE Bt
AEERBRBEK

. T

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board as a whole and the management of the Company are
committed to the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Group firmly believes that strict
corporate governance can enhance the Group’s credibility and
transparency, thereby strengthening the confidence of the
Shareholders and investors in the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had complied
with all applicable provisions of the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED
STANDARD OF DEALINGS IN
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all the
Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS E£5

EXREGHEM

ELZE2REERAQAAEEBBIAESRY
MEREREREREF REFEE - BRODE
EERBARMBAEEMNEERBERE » &M
BARRRREEHAREENED

BZE2024F12A31BLEE  AEE—EBHET
TEEARTANEBRKRI -

BT EMBTACESETE
Z X HNIREST A

Fal ol

N
Al KEEEAER  2RESEANLIFACE
;{\ g@?ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ%@&zﬁﬁﬂﬁmmsﬁ

ETREXSNTRTA -

DNECHEMN ETHR B ECIARMMNBET
7

B

' Executive Directors® E1l el Oz) (el ) EE7§ (EF)
G EEO Wang Chi 5
Chen Fei IR 7R
Non-executive Director . SEReE
FHTES F Feng Li B #]
. 0 e
Independent Non-executive Directors =2y Yok.Smg, 07 N ﬁﬁﬁ
B EH SRS Xu Hong Xi BEE
Chan Ngai Chi PR %% 5t
Audit Committee Nomination Committee Remuneration Committee
BRREE8 v \ RELES HMEES ’
On - On . Or
Chan Ngai Chi®@ PR %2 5t @) Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper® & &Ep@ Xu Hong Xi®@ #hRE
Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper &k Feng Li® B Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper %&&E/&
Xu Hong Xi ®EE Xu Hong Xi ®ERE Chan Ngai Chi 5k 32 Bty
Chan Ngai Chi R %% 5t

Competition Supervisory Committee

HPERELTEE

\ -

Competition Executive Committee!

BBNTEEE0

A0K A0
Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper® =Fayodl Wang Chi" E5O
Xu Hong Xi HREE Chen Fei FeR ¢
Chan Ngai Chi PR %% 5t
(1) Mr. Wang Chi was appointed as an Executive Director and a member (1) FEEER2024F5 A 10BEEZEAHITES

of the Competition Executive Committee on 10 May 2024; and Mr. Yu
Jin resigned as an Executive Director and a member of the
Competition Executive Committee on 28 March 2024.

2) Being the chairman of the respective committee.

(3) Ms. Feng Li was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee
on 28 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS
Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of 7 Directors, comprising 3 Executive Directors, 1
Non-executive Director and 3 Independent Non-executive Directors. Details of the composition of the Board and the
Directors’ biographical information are set out on pages 44 to 49 of this annual report, respectively. At least
one-third of the Board is Independent Non-executive Directors of which more than one have appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise. The structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board are reviewed from time to time to ensure it possesses a balance of expertise, skills, and
experience that aligns with the requirements of the business of the Company. The independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors is assessed according to the relevant rules and requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The composition of the Board, by category and position of Directors including the names of the chairman, the
Executive Directors, the Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-executive Directors, is disclosed in all
corporate communications by the Company. The Company maintains on the Company’s website and on the
website of the Exchange, (i) an updated list of its Directors identifying their respective roles and functions together
with their biographical information and whether they are Independent Non-executive Directors; and (ii) the terms of
reference of the Board committees to enable the Shareholders to understand the roles played by Independent
Non-executive Directors who serve on the relevant Board committees.

Board and Committee Meetings

Regular Board meetings are usually scheduled towards the end of the immediately preceding year to give all
Directors adequate time to plan their schedules to attend the meetings. Board meeting documents including
supporting analysis and related background information are normally sent to the Directors at least 3 days before
regular Board meetings.

The Board meets regularly and held 10 meetings during the Year. In consultation with members of the Board, the
Company Secretary assists the chairman of the Board in preparing the meeting agenda, where applicable, matters
proposed by other Directors are included in the agenda. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has arranged for 1 individual meeting between chairman of the Board and Independent Non-executive Directors.
The senior management members are also invited to join Board meetings if necessary, to enhance the Board and
management communication.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors actively participated in meetings and a summary of the
Directors’ attendance records in 2024 are as follows:

Members of the Board

ExgmE

Executive Directors #{TES

Gu Hai Ou FE/SES

Wang Chi® E Bt

Chen Fei B

Yu Jin® REHE

Non-executive Director ¥ {TEE
Feng Li 5%

Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTESE
Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper &4/

Xu Hong Xi &=

Chan Ngai Chi [ 2% &t

(1) On 10 May 2024, Mr. Wang Chi was appointed as an Executive Director.

) On 28 March 2024, Mr. Yu Jin resigned as an Executive Director.
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BEARFRAMIL  BEEH7EESEAN  BIESEHTES 1 2HHITESRIESE
NFHITES  c ESEERRBRESEEFEINBARNAFREI4EI9H - ZLES T
ZoR-—HWREABYFYTES  FE1EREABHBAEXRER  STRNEBHHK
EREEAR - ARATHRNESENES  AH - - ARRZl BRESAQH
EBEERAE  RERERNFE A2 RE LTRANEERNEAZRTMEE
NFHTESNE LM -

AABERMAEARABARESEIRBR (BRER HTES FATESREY
FPTESNURR) REESTNER - ARA DB EA XA RERETABUEFE)—
NHRAHEZEE JRNESAC BEEERLINEABUFATESE RMHESZ
ESEHREHE  UERRTBBYFITESNEIRESZESRENEY -

08)

EESRTEEEH
EEEEMERNEMRMAR N - FEARNRYE UESRESARRRERE
W EERXH (BESMBRRABSRER) BEXNESEENERBMAZI
REH o

o

ESESFEHEREE  YRAFRABHIONER HESETHEHHE  ARANE
BHEEETEFTERERE  HOESRBNBRATIIAZRE (NER) - BE2024F
12A31BLEE AAACLHESETFEBIFHUTESETIRBILIER - NF
RETEREOAEEASSMESESERUNBESTHEEENIR -

BZE2024F12A31ALFE  SEEEBSMEE > RER024FHESENLHH
M

Attendance/Number of Meetings H &R &, €3 RE

Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting

BRZEES FHESS REZES® BRREFAE

10/10 - - - 11
7/7 — — — 11
10/10 - - - 11
2/2 - — — -
10/10 — — — 11
9/10 5/5 2/2 2/2 11
10/10 5/5 2/2 2/2 11
10/10 5/5 2/2 2/2 11

(1) R2024F58108  TERIEEREERHITES -
@) R2024F3H28H RYEEBEHTES -
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The Company Secretary prepares written resolutions or minutes and keeps records of substantive matters
discussed and decisions resolved at all Board and Board committee meetings. These meetings minutes/resolutions:

o contain sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board/Board committees and decisions reached;
. are sent to the Directors for their comments;
° are sent to all Directors/Board committee members within a reasonable time (generally within 14 days) after

such meeting; and
° are available for inspection by Directors/Board committee members.

Important matters are dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than written resolutions only. If a Director has
a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent
Board committee will be set up to deal with the matter. Directors must declare his/her interest in the matters to be
passed in the resolution, if applicable.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its Directors for their liabilities arising out
of corporate activities undertaken for the Company. During the year ended 31 December 2024, no claim was made
against the Directors.

Mr. Gu Hai Ou, the chairman of the Board, leads the Board in terms of formulating policies. The chairman of the
Board determines the board strategic direction of the Group in consultation with the Board and is responsible for
the high-level oversight of the management. With the support of the Executive Directors and the Company
Secretary, the chairman of the Board ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on all key and appropriate
issues in a timely manner. The chairman of the Board promotes a culture of openness and encourages Directors
with different views to voice their opinion and be fully engaged in the Board’s affairs so as to contribute to the
Board’s functions, and he may meet and/or communicate with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of the Executive Directors. During the Year, an individual meeting between Mr. Gu Hai Ou, the chairman
of the Board, and Independent Non-executive Directors was held without the presence of the Executive Directors.

Mr. Wang Chi, the chief executive officer, is responsible for business strategic planning and day-to-day
management and operation of the Group. The Board believes this segregation of duties helps to supervise and
balance the power and authority of the Board and enhances the independence and accountability of the Board.

The procedures for appointing and re-electing Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The appointment
of a new Director must be approved by the Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship taking into account factors
such as appropriate professional knowledge, industry experience, personal ethics, integrity, personal skills, gender,
age, cultural and educational background. Mr. Wang Chi, who was appointed as an Executive Director on 10 May
2024, confirmed that he (i) has obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on
9 May 2024, and (i) understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Article 97 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation will be those
Directors who have been Directors longest in office since their last re-election or appointment.

In accordance with Article 97 of the Articles of Association, three Directors, namely, Ms. Feng Li, Mr. Tsang Yok
Sing, Jasper, and Mr. Chan Ngai Chi shall retire from office by rotation respectively at the forthcoming AGM and,
all being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has entered into service contracts with each Executive Director and the Non-executive Director as
well as appointment letters with Independent Non-executive Directors. The tenure of all Directors is 3 years.
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for sustainable development of the Group. The Board is responsible
for formulating the overall strategies as well as monitoring and evaluating the operation and financial performance
of the Group. The Board reserves for its decision or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy, major
acquisitions and disposals, annual and interim results, recommendations on Directors’ appointment or
reappointment, approval of major capital transactions and other significant operational and financial matters. All the
Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations and pursue
excellence in the interests of the Shareholders at all times.

Our Executive Directors, together with our Non-executive Directors (including our Independent Non-executive
Directors) offer diverse industry expertise, serve the important function of advising the management on strategies
and ensuring that the Board fulfills high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting requirements as well
as providing adequate oversight and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders and the Company
as a whole.

The Non-executive Directors (including the Independent Non-executive Directors) not only exercise their
independent judgement and advise on the future business direction and strategic plans of the Company, but also
review the financial information and operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

Every Executive Director has hands-on knowledge and expertise in the areas and operation in which he/she is
responsible for. Appropriate attention to the affairs of the Company is measured in terms of time as well as the
quality of such attention and the ability of the Directors to contribute with reference to his/her area of knowledge
and expertise, and his/her global perspective. There is satisfactory attendance at Board meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their appointment and from time to time thereafter the
number and nature of offices held in listed companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
identifying the listed companies or organisations involved.

Continuous Professional Development of the Directors

All Directors receive comprehensive information on appointment, so as to ensure understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and Directors’ responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

The Company also updates the Directors on the latest developments and changes in the Listing Rules and the
applicable legal and regulatory requirements in the discharge of their duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all the Directors actively participated in continuous professional
development, by attending external training or seminars, attending in-house training and/or reading materials on the
various topics covering regulations, corporate governance, finance and business, to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills, which ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Directors have provided records of training to the Company.
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Attending directors’
training, seminars or
conferences related to Reviewing

directors’ duties or Reviewing information relevant
other relevant topics legislative or to the Company or Attending corporate
HEEBEEZERESR regulatory updates its business events or shop visits
Directors Hit EHEAEER BEMLEERIHAEN FHERQATR HEARFEER
= ESEJIRHAE B &R HEHEHEBENER HEIEH

Gu Hai Ou E/SES

Wang Chi®" F Bt

Chen Fei BR 7

Yu Jin® R

Feng Li 55

Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper G
Xu Hong Xi &=

Chan Ngai Chi 3R Et

AN N N N Y YN N
AN N N N Y YN N
AN N N N N Y N N
AN N N N N Y N N

(1) On 10 May 2024, Mr. Wang Chi was appointed as an Executive Director.
1) M2024F58100 » ER A= BEXEABHITES -
) On 28 March 2024, Mr. Yu Jin resigned as an Executive Director.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company complied with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least 3 Independent Non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board
and they possess professional qualification and experience in the three areas of financial accounting, social science
and Chinese medicine industry, respectively. All Independent Non-executive Directors also meet the guidelines for
assessment of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors makes an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of that view that all the Independent Non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the
terms of the guidelines.

Board/Board committee meeting documents with adequate and reliable information are circulated not less than
three days before the regular Board/Board committee meetings to enable the Directors/Board committee members
in making informed decisions on matters to be raised at the Board/Board committee meetings.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and senior management of the Company, with a view to ensuring compliance with the Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Company Secretary acts as the bridge between the Directors and business units of the Group to ensure that
queries raised and clarification sought by the Directors are dealt with and that further supporting information is
provided, as appropriate.

Directors have been advised that the Company Secretary can arrange independent professional advice at the
expense of the Company should such advice be considered necessary by any Director or any Board committee.

Executive Directors are in charge of different businesses and functional divisions in accordance with their
respective areas of expertise.

For matters or transactions of a material nature are subject to approval by the Board. For matters or transactions
of a magnitude requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules or other applicable rules or regulations, appropriate
disclosure will be made and where necessary, circular will be prepared and shareholders’ approval will be obtained
in accordance with the requirements of the applicable rules and regulations. Specially, the Board has had in place
Guidelines for Investments stating the authority approval limits and procedures.

The Board led by the chairman, is responsible for the Group’s future development directions; overall strategies and
policies; evaluation of the performance of the Group and the management and approval of matters that are of a
material or substantial nature. Under the leadership of the chief executive officer of the Company, management is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of performing the corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee,
which is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties according to the Code Provision A.2.1, which
includes:

(1) developing and reviewing the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group;

2 reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors
and employees; and

5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of
the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination Committee on 28 March
2013 with written terms of reference which are available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the
Exchange. Board committees report to the Board of their decisions and recommendations at the Board meetings.

The Board established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23
of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee has 3 members (all of them
are the Independent Non-Executive Directors) comprising Mr. Chan Ngai Chi (chairman), Mr. Tsang Yok Sing,
Jasper and Mr. Xu Hong Xi.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to communicate with external auditor; to review the remuneration,
terms of engagement, independence and objectivity of the external auditor; to review the accounting policy,
financial position, the financial reporting system, internal control procedures and risk management system of the
Company and making recommendations thereof.

Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary are circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable
time after each meeting. The Audit Committee held meetings in March, May, June, August and December of 2024.

The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee during 2024:
(1) Reviewed the financial reports for 2023 annual results and 2024 interim results;

(2 Reviewed the findings, working plan and recommendations of the internal audit department on the work of
various departments and related companies;

3) Reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems;
(4) Reviewed the external auditor’s audit findings;
(5) Reviewed the external auditor’s remuneration;

(6) Reviewed the control mechanisms for the risks of different business units and advising on action plans for
improvement of the situations;

(7) Performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed the corporate governance policies and practices;
and

(8) Reviewed the connected transactions with the Parent Group.

On 20 March 2025, the Audit Committee met to review the Group’s 2024 consolidated financial statements,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, in conjunction with the Company’s
external auditor. After review and discussions with the management, internal auditor and external auditor, the Audit
Committee endorsed the accounting treatment adopted by the Company, and the Audit Committee had to the best
of its ability assured itself that the disclosure of the financial information in the Annual Report 2024 complied with
the applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

The Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee therefore resolved to recommend for the Board’s approval the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company during the two
years after he/she ceased to be a partner of the auditing firm.
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The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
3.25 to 3.26 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee has 3
members (all of them are Independent Non-executive Directors) comprising Mr. Xu Hong Xi (chairman), Mr. Tsang
Yok Sing, Jasper and Mr. Chan Ngai Chi.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Board and review the
terms of the remuneration package of each Director and member of senior management of the Company and to
make recommendations to the Board regarding any adjustment thereof in accordance with the Group’s corporate
goals and objectives; and to review and evaluate the performance of individual Directors. No Director shall
participate in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee did consult the chairman of the Board and/or the Executive Directors about
proposals relating to the remuneration packages and other human resources issues of the Directors and senior
management of the Company, including but not limited to, succession plan and key personnel movements as well
as policies for recruiting and retaining qualified personnel. The human resources department provides administrative
support and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources related decisions
approved by the Remuneration Committee. The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their
respective experiences, responsibilities with the Group and general market conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee had held 2 meetings to review the
remuneration package of the Directors and senior management of the Company, and review and recommend the
remuneration of the chief executive officer of the Company. Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the Rule
3.27A of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee has 3 members
(all of them are Independent Non-executive Directors) comprising Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper (chairman), Mr. Xu
Hong Xi and Mr. Chan Ngai Chi. On 28 March 2025, the Non-executive Director, Ms. Feng Li, was appointed as a
member of the Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee had held 2 meetings to review the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board, recommend the
re-appointment of the Directors standing for re-election at the AGM, and review and recommend the appointments
of Executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and to make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become the Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection and/or re-appointment of individuals nominated for directorships of the Company and to
assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors. In reviewing and recommending the appointment
of new Directors, the Nomination Committee would seek to identify the competencies required to enable the Board
to fulfill its responsibilities. The resume or document of the nominee or candidate would be given to the
Nomination Committee for consideration.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to diversity of members of the Board and the
Nomination Committee reviews such policy periodically. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will continue to be
made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
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In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following criteria should be considered by the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board:

° Character and integrity.

o Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under
the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy.

. Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board.

. Requirement for the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence, gender and cultural diversity.

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business and succession plan and where

applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of Directors and succession planning.

DIRECTORS

Appointment of New Director ZEHESE

. May select candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited
to internal promotion, re-designation,
referral by other member of the
management and external recruitment

agifts. o - . Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
ﬂ&iﬁ%ﬁé?ﬁ}%ﬁfkg , @%\Lﬂ;ﬁf‘ﬁ? Director and the biographical information (or relevant
W.‘:BE] AN A B E H A A B M HNED details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
RIBREAERE - based on the criteria as set out above to determine

whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
ERIZEEHFESHEBRRIZEANBAER (SERF
1B) % kiE LB ERFIEZREAN  UREZREAR

— - 5E1 = TE °
R SEARBTES
L~ -
‘/% 7\ %“/\ o If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
! i‘ A}/f the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should

rank them by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).
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ERBUGEANZAETE (WER) HFIEMNELR
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Re-election of Director ERE=E
° Should review the overall contribution and
service to the Company of the retiring

Director and the level of participation and - 7 4 P
performance on the Board. ﬁ ﬁ
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Should recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable.
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The Board EE &

o Should evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.
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° Should make recommendation to Shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of Director
at the general meeting, as applicable.
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Shareholders &%

o Cast vote on a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as Director at the general meeting.
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BY GENDER

BOARD AND E-3ESE (bos
WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

Selection and appointment of new Directors
and senior management will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, qualifications, skills,
knowledge, business and related experience,
commitment, ability to contribute to the Board
and such qualities and attributes that may be
required by the Board. The ultimate decision
will be made upon the merits and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board and the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised

6 male Directors and 1 female Directors, and

having 2 male senior management and 2 Directors Senior management
female senior management. The Board B= EREEAE
considered that gender diversity at Board level

has been achieved. @ @

As at 31 December 2024, the percentages of Male %1 Male %
male and female in the workforce (including the @ @
Directors and senior management) are 31%

and 69% respectively. During the Year, the
Board was not aware of any mitigating factors
or circumstances which make achieving gender
diversity across the workforce more challenging
or less relevant. The Group will continue to
maintain the gender diversity in the workforce.

Female &t Female Z %

These charts are produced based on the information as
at 31 December 2024.
I EBRZRBE2024F12A31BENERRESR -

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors are provided with a review of the Group’s major business activities and key financial information on a
regular basis and the management provide all members of the Board with monthly updates of the Company’s
performance.

The Board has included the separate statement containing a discussion and analysis of the Group’s sustainability
strategy in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company aims to provide stable and sustainable returns to Shareholders. The Board considered that it would
be prudent and appropriate to target a dividend payout ratio not less than 40%. In deciding whether to propose a
dividend, determining the dividend amount as well as providing relatively steady dividend payout ratio, the Board
takes into account the Group’s earnings performance, financial results, cash flow position, investment requirements,
business conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, any limit to the payment of dividend and any
other factors that the Board may consider as relevant.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of
the Company and the Group. The Board has prepared the financial statements in accordance with the HKFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate accounting
policies have also been used and applied consistently. The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement by the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 104 to 111 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

Details of Directors’ interests in the Shares are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interest in
Shares” on pages 56 to 57 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tsang Fung Yi is the chief financial officer of the Company and the Company Secretary, as well as a full-time
employee of the Group, discharging the functions of Company Secretary with her professional skill and extensive
experience. To update her skills and knowledge, Ms. Tsang complied with the relevant professional training
requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024. The appointment and
removal of the Company Secretary is subject to Board approval in accordance with the Articles of Association. The
Company Secretary reports to the Board and also to the chief executive officer on day-to-day duties and
responsibilities. The Company Secretary is responsible for supporting and advising the Board on governance
matters. All Directors have access to the advice and service of the Company Secretary to ensure that board
procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young in respect of the services
rendered for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out as follows:

Serviced rendered to the Company %7K 2 &) AT 12 & R %

Audit services Z R
Non-audit services FE#% &R
Total 3t

Fee paid/payable to other auditors was approximately HK$984,000. Non-audit services mainly include tax
consultancy services.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Internal Control and Risk Management System

The Group has set up a risk management regulation and internal control procedure to establish a clear structure
and procedures for risk management and internal control with a systematic and rigorous approach. The Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are aligned with the internal control framework of international body
consisting of the five elements, namely, the control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information and
communication, and monitoring activities. The Group’s risk management and internal control governance structure is
based on the “Three lines of defense” model comprised of day-to-day operational management and control, risk
and compliance management, and independent supervision assurance.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
its effectiveness. The management is responsible for implementing and maintaining a robust risk management
system and internal control procedure to protect the Group’s assets and interests of stakeholders. The Board
annually reviews the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, and staff training programs
together with its relevant budget of the Group’s accounting, internal auditing and financial reporting as well as
those relating to the Group’s ESG performance and reporting, and also the satisfaction with the adequacy of the
parties concerned.
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Identification, Evaluation and Management of the Significant Risks
Procedure

The Board is responsible for determining the Group’s risk profile within the acceptable tolerance levels for
significant risks, overseeing the Group’s risk management framework, reviewing the Group’s significant existing and
potential risks and their response and ensuring risk management effectiveness. The Group has set up a risk
management committee. The risk management committee discusses and collects risk monitoring report through
meeting to review the management of these risks and effectiveness of response, and to constantly monitor the
changes in risks.

The Group assesses the existing and emerging risks as well as identifies, filters and prioritises the significant risks
faced by the Group based on the likelihood and degree of impact of the risks. The Group has adopted a top-down
approach to review and assess whether management has comprehensively identified risks, categorised their levels,
and appropriately addressed them in achieving the Group’s objectives.

This Year, the significant risks identified by the Group included strategic risk, market risk and operational risk.
Certain response measures for significant risks were established, and the relevant functional departments and
operation units performed daily monitoring on the identified risks pursuant to the established risk management
workflow and response measures, and then submitted a “Risk Control Report”, which summarised the overall status
of the risks and risk management activities, to the risk management committee. The risk management committee
prepared a “Risk Management Report” in accordance with the monitoring status of the significant risks and
reported to the Audit Committee by relevant department. The relevant department will also report the significant
risks, material changes and the associated response plans and highlights to the Audit Committee regularly to
enhance the accountability and quality of the risk management programme.

The Group’s enterprise risk management programme is a structured mechanism and a continuous process of
identifying, evaluating, responding, controlling, monitoring and reporting of the risks that the Group faces. The
significant process of the Group’s enterprise risk management is illustrated below:

Prepare the risk management
reports in line with the risk
monitoring results
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By monitoring the implementation
of risk management, examine its
effectiveness and improve in a
timely manner based on the : .
change of risk as well as the R_ISK_ Risk
deficiencies in risk management Monitoring Response
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Identify risks which affect the Group’s
goals achievement through seminars,
interviews or questionnaires as well as
the Group’s strategic direction and
business development condition
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Evaluate, sort and prioritise the risks
faced by the Group according to the
possibility and degree of impact
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Formulate the response measure to
the significant risks assessed
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DISTRIBUTION OF
THE SIGNIFICANT IDENTIFIED

RISKS
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Strategic risk
B R

Operational risk
EERER

Market risk
%R
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* This Year, no significant financial and legal
risks have been identified.
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Major Risks of the Group Description of the Risks Control Measure(s)
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Business Structure Risk

B EBER

Macroeconomic Risk

RBEERR

Policy Risk (Impact on the
industry as a whole)

B (HEXRERN

T8

Business structure risks are mainly industry structure risk. Industry structure
mainly refers to whether the Group’s industry structure of retail, wholesale,
production, service, etc. are reasonable, and whether there is excessive reliance
on a single product or service. If unfavorable factors arise for a single product
or service, it may affect the Group’s survival in the industry.
E(BFEBEABIEREXFABRAR EEXELBIEELASETE #1E  £E R
BEEXFERRETEE  ARBERBEE—EdRYE  NEE-—ERIRBHEER
FREE B EINAEBETEER

Macroeconomic risks can be divided into three major aspects: changes in the
global economic environment, economic inflation, and the impact of public
emergencies on the macroeconomic. If there are major changes in national
economy of the area covered by the Group’s business, risks of changes in the
global economic environment may arise. Inflation risks may result in inflation,
currency depreciation, and a decline in purchasing power; unexpected social
incidents and health incidents may lead to a downturn in the retail environment,
resulting in a deteriorating retail operating environment.

ZEEBERBRATAI AZREBRREEL - KEBR  REQAASHYUTBEEY
EH=ZRFTH BHAEENEBEBERINBREEZREERS L THELERR
BBERREZCEAR KEBRERITEELEBERE E¥RE MBEOTE -
REHESHNFEESSEH  SIRTERRENESL  BUTELERERL -

Policy risks can be divided into four major aspects: regulations on Chinese
medicine and Chinese medical Industry, regulations on food and health
products, access and registration, and product import and export. The Group’s
Chinese medicine products, Chinese medical service, healthcare consultation,
and food or health products are subject to regulatory supervision. If the Group
fails to meet the requirements of laws and regulations, it may cause regulatory
risks in the Chinese medicine industry or food and health products. If the Group
lacks understanding, clarity, or fails to meet the conditions, standards, and
approval processes for entering local markets, or fails to meet the registration/
filing requirements, it may cause access and registration risks. The Group’s
import and export activities of the products are regulated by the laws and
regulations of different jurisdictions; failure to meet the requirements may result
in product import and export risks.

BERBTHAIAPERETEER BERRERER - EAREMRERERD
MAFH AEBOFEER  PERY REZARBERIRBRZEREE
EAEBAREFEEEERER  FARELEREFETEEIRRABIRRRER
ERER  c EAKEEHEREANE TS NRN RERBMEF TER - TEMH
HAREFEEM FRER > BUREEEARIMEAR - ANEEFREERNES
EBSZAERAEREERAE  MAEFEER  KEURELEERELARR -

The Group actively reviews and evaluates its owned products, expedites the official launching of new
products, and increases the number of products that are popular with consumers. In response to changes
in circumstances, it promptly adjusts the planned production amount and corresponding procurement of
packaging material of products with declining sales or of higher demand. The Group actively adjusts the
product structure, including expansion of existing varieties and increases the presence of locally renowned
products. The Group also explores the “online mall” initiative, utilising online ordering and offline delivery
services.

AEEEBRERFGEEEER  NMRFEREARENEE  BENZHEERANERHE  RRRRNE
b REFAZRHETBRERAEMNWEETZEREENEEMBRES  BEARERLEE  BELEER
EmiER BN EEE BARIA LA IS ERAGLETERTRE -

The major measures to the risks of changes in the global economic environment: The Group closely monitors
changes in the political and economic situation, scientifically assesses market risks, safeguards production,
exercises cautious investments, and strengthens internal operational control, striving to minimise the impact
of macroeconomic risks on itself.

PREERRECABRNTIERYER AEEEVBIBGRBERLZ S  DEFET SRR  RELE
HRERE UNBRANECEEE NFHEERBEBESNETERIGE -

The major measures against economic inflation risks: The Group speeds up the return of funds while
increasing the procurement and reserves of expensive raw materials required for production, reasonably
controlling the cost of capital, improving the efficiency of capital use, and alleviating the risks of inflation
and rising raw material costs.

BREBRRBNEIZEREER  AEENMRESEEERENEEMFTESMARMBNRBAGEE  SEEHE
THA RASSEAYE SEHBEFERREMBRA EAWERRE -

The major measures to the macroeconomic impact of public emergencies: The Group is dedicated to
advancing the smart retail experience by prioritising the enhancement of digital marketing, expanding
marketing channels, and introducing innovative marketing methods. By actively engaging in online sales,
diversifying product range, and intensifying promotional activities, the Group strives to mitigate the adverse
effects of unpredictable social circumstances.

RENHEAURBREZERBNTIEREER AEBZHEESSTEHNRER  ERMRAR EHSEH
HREHRE  AIFEHIX EREEHRALHE LEnEH NAEEHRENE SHIRELERE
TENEHZE -

The major measures to the legal risks of the Chinese medicine industry and the food and health products:
The Group prevents risks by collecting and understanding the laws, regulations and policies of the
country/region where the project is located, improving the management system of Overseas companies,
strengthening the establishment of overseas product quality control systems, conducting regular audits and
supervision, enhancing compliance awareness, recruiting talents, and treating contract terms carefully.
RERBTELIREBERSRERZEABNEZREER  ASEBBREZEEAEER MEEE
ERRBE  mEBNRAEEHE MEBERSIETREEFNER THFTEE - BRBERZHF - AL
5| - BEHFERGREST X EERR -

The major measures to access and registration risks: The Group dynamically grasps the access regulatory
policy of the country where the project is located, adjusts the product varieties sold in a timely manner;
carries out risk assessment, product registration, packaging design, brand use, etc. in advance; establishes
an early warning mechanism for product access policies.

BEARGMEBNEIZERYER  ASEDHEZEREMEEEAEERR  BNARHEEMRE  HER
Batfh  RAAREMRZM  BER  mEEREIF BEYEREABRNEERS -

The major measures to product import and export risks: The Group pays attention to national and regional
import and export regulations, actively responds to endangered species raw materials policies, prevents
and controls excessive heavy metals and pesticide residues in raw materials and finished products, and
ensures that packaging instructions meet policy requirements so as to reduce product import and export
risks effectively.

ERELORBNEIEEYEER : A5EEBFEIEIRMNEEELEOEELR BREHERSYEREM BB
R -BERARARNECEREEEERBRERFAAFTEBRERERERE  ERXREERELORR -
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Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems twice a year, covering the changes in the nature and extent of significant
risks, the ability to respond to changes in its business and the external environment of the Group, the effectiveness
on the measures of significant risks, the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems, the duties of internal audit department and its effectiveness, etc.

Based on the results of the above review, for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board considered that the
risk management and internal monitor systems are well effective. Such systems of the Group are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company has set up an independent internal audit department which regularly reports directly to the Audit
Committee. The internal audit department is responsible for reviewing all aspects of the Group’s activities, risk
management, corporate governance processes and constantly supervising the work flow and risk assessment of
each department of the Group, and independently assessing the effectiveness of the internal control systems and
risk management programme and providing corresponding recommendations for solution (if any) in order to seek
continuous improvement.

Being an integral part of the risk management to provide assurance on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management programme and system of internal control, the internal audit department carries out assessment on the
risk management programme. When formulating the annual project plan, the internal audit department conducts
assessment on the Group’s business activities with significant risks. The Audit Committee reviews and approves the
annual project plan and approves all subsequent major changes (if any) during the regular meeting. In the individual
audit project, the internal audit department will further assess the key areas of strategic, market, financial,
operational and legal risks to evaluate the control effectiveness and the response measures adopted by
management.

The internal audit department will communicate with management in details on all findings and recommendations on
internal control deficiencies identified from each audit work. Management will establish remedial plans to improve
those internal control deficiencies within a reasonable time period. The internal audit department will report
significant deficiencies of individual engagement to the Audit Committee. During the Year, the Audit Committee held
5 meetings with the internal audit department. The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the works done and
reports submitted by the internal audit department and reported the results of review and discussion to the Board.

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the Listing Rules that inside information should be
announced to the public as soon as reasonably practicable. The procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

o The Board shall take reasonable precautions for preserving the confidentiality of inside information and the
relevant announcement (if applicable) before publication;

° Before the relevant information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group should ensure that all inside information
must be treated strictly confidential; and

° Disclosure must be made in a manner that provides the public with an equal, timely and effective access to
the inside information disclosed, such as through the electronic publication system operated by the
Exchange.

)
He
I
oK
e
Off

B RREREE R A EERAREERABERRARRYNASERNERESF2
PETER BRRET BEARBRNMERBERENES AEERGEBEER
IMERREZNED EARREHERNANMN EEERNEETRRREAPEZR
BNITHFHEREE  NIBEXBPANTEREREES -

BELIBNER  REE2024F 12831 ALEE EEERALEENEBREERK
MERAFHIANESE AEENRAKREERADEZRAEETEMIEEMRAER
(¥XEENEE MARENTZEEANAERAREBREHEEMIEBHNRE -

FEBRAEBINABELNA  THEEOEXZESER - ANELINMEEER
FEENFAXERTD EREERCXELBREZTEANES  FEEFLEER
BENTERER ARG  BYUTKAREERFRAMBEZRGHRY - REAEE
NEEFRER (WFE)  UHNEBFEORE -

ABEZBPINAEERREEEFRABEZRGETATRRN —BD  HEAKEER
FRABEBEZZRGHERMEFE I M RBLTME - ABBELBHIHAEBPEERER
EBREETEME  RMBEFETHFE - EREESEHRIEFETFTE
TEEHEBEAERERH —EANRE (WF) - EENEXERTD - ABEXIMIS
E-SEER 5 UK 2E FZEARSENHE AMAREERYRER
[E FrEREL Y FE ¥ 15 1 o

EERERFMEHARANRNERTENATERRER  AERHMYEEEREFA
A WHEBRBHITXETS BRAEGESHARSABEZN TR - BEREF
REENEARR  ABBZHMIEQAELRZESER - AF  BEREETERNTEX
MPILBTERERE EREESEHRARABEXIFINITERAREINRSE - I
MEFSREFHARTRER

FEBMATZERBEIZSRBEROIKR LTRAUMEBITNERE  AEHEEXEESEY

BEATHEERNALARFELHAM BERBEAABEENEFRADEZEROT

. ESERRNSEARERNBEERAEAM (WMER) RE  EEAMTBAL

. AEEEOLARZERBEERERA  IEARERYAREHRE R

. KENHN  AREARETS ERREMIESARBENRNEES - WHEBEX
FzEFEHRAHRTIE -

i

EsJEE

i

ENAYNEE



payw Auedwoy supipay 3sauly) bue) usy bBuo) bulfisg

100

poday [enuuy

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board aims to present a clear, balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance and
position in all shareholder communications. The Board is aware of and understand the latest requirements under
the applicable rules and regulations about timely disclosure of inside information or matters regarding the Company
and will authorise the publication of such announcements as and when the occasion arises.

The Board adopted a Shareholder’'s Communication Policy on 8 May 2013 which provides that the Board should
endeavour to maintain an ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders and in particular, use AGM or other general
meetings to communicate with the Shareholders and encourage their participation. Such policy is being reviewed
from time to time to ensure its effectiveness. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company establishes
different communication channels with Shareholders and investors, including:

(i) printed copies of corporate communications (including but not limited to financial reports, notices of meetings,
circulars and proxy forms) required under the Listing Rules;

(ii) the AGM and other shareholders meetings provide a forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board;

(i)  updated and key information of the Group is available on the website (cm.tongrentang.com) of the Company;

(iv)  the Company’s website (cm.tongrentang.com) offers a communication channel between the Company and its
Shareholders and stakeholders;

(v) meetings with analysts are arranged from time to time to update on the performance of the Group;

(vi)  the Executive Directors and senior management of the Company hold meetings with institutional investors and
analysts through telephone calls, email and video conferences, and attend investor forums in the Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Overseas countries from time to time;

(viiy  the Company’s registrar deals with Shareholders for share registration and related matters; and
(viii)  the investor relations department of the Company handles enquires from Shareholders and investors.

In 2024, the Board members, the Company’s senior management, external auditor and legal advisor attended the
AGM, and were available to answer questions. The Company’s notice to the Shareholders for the 2024 AGM of the
Company was sent at least 21 clear days before the meeting.

At the AGM held in 2024, the chairman of the meeting (i) explained the detailed procedures for conducting a poll,
and answered questions from Shareholders; (ii) exercised his power under the Company’s Articles of Association to
put each resolution set out in the notice to be voted by way of a poll.

Representatives of the share registrar of the Company were appointed as scrutineers to monitor and count the poll
votes cast at the AGM held in 2024. Poll results were then posted on the websites of the Company and the
Exchange.
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The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and the
Board. An AGM of the Company shall be held each year and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Any
general meeting other than an AGM shall be referred to as an EGM.

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association, an EGM can
be convened to consider proposals in accordance with the following provisions:

The Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM, and EGM shall also be convened on such requisition, or
in default may be convened by such requisitionist(s), holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
members having a right to vote at general meetings. If at any time there are not sufficient Directors capable of
acting to form a quorum, any one Director or any two Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at a
general meeting may convene an EGM in the same manner as nearly as possible as that in which a meeting may
be convened by the Directors.

The requirements and procedures as set out in section 566 to section 569 of the Companies Ordinance are
summarised as follows:

° The requisition must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and may include
the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the Company which is presently
situated at Room 1405-1409, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

° If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
a meeting for a day not more than 28 days after the date on which the notice convening the meeting is
given, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of 3 months from the said date.

° Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists requesting the meeting by reason of the failure of the
Directors duly to convene a meeting as abovementioned shall be repaid to the requisitionists by the
Company.

In addition, Shareholders are requested to follow section 615 of the Companies Ordinance for including a resolution
at an AGM. The requirements and procedures are set out below:

(i) Any number of Shareholders representing not less than 25% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the AGM to which the requisition relates, or not less than 50
Shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the requests relate, may
submit a requisition in writing to put forward a resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at an AGM.

(if) The Company shall not be bound by the Companies Ordinance to give notice of the proposed resolution to
Shareholders entitled to receive notice of an AGM unless a request (a) is sent to the Company in hard copy
form or in electronic form; (b) the resolution of which notice to be given is identified; (c) is authenticated by
the person or persons making it; and (d) is received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the
AGM to which the requests relate; or (i) if later, the time at which notice is given of that meeting.

The Company welcomes Shareholders’ views and concerns relating to the Group’s management and corporate
governance. The Company’s website (cm.tongrentang.com) provides email address (for enquiry purpose only), postal
address, fax number and telephone number by which Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the
Board. Shareholders may also put forward their enquiries to the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no change on the Articles of Association of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

e Ernst & Young

57/F. One Taikoo P! KGRI B FR Tel TBEE: +852 2846 9888
 DNe Tarkoo Face EBMRFRLBO79%  Fax (SH: +852 2868 4432
979 King's Road AP —RE7 ey.com
ﬁj‘ Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the Members of Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 112 to 243, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KeY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed
the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition — sales of products

Revenue from sales of products amounted to
HK$1,561 million for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Revenue from sales of healthcare products and
Chinese medicine is recognised when the
customers take possession of and accept the
Group’s products, which generally occurs when the
products are delivered to the designated location,
or when the Group sells the products to the
customers at its outlets.

We identified revenue recognition from sales of
products as key audit matter due to the huge
volume of revenue transactions generated from
sales of products to a large number of customers,
and the overall magnitude of revenue generated
from retail sales and wholesales to the
consolidated financial statements.

Relevant disclosures are included in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group had significant trade receivables with a
gross amount of HK$543.5 million, which
represented 11.9% of the Group’s total assets as
at 31 December 2024. The provision for expected
credit losses (“ECL”) carried as at 31 December
2024 was HK$42.4 million.

The management of the Group performed ECL
assessment based on available information which
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions to estimate the ECLs.

We identified the ECL assessment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter because of the
significant balances and significant management
judgements and estimates involved in determining
the ECL.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3(a)(ii),
4 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We obtained an understanding of and tested management’s
relevant controls in respect of the Group’s retail sales and
wholesales processes from contract approval, goods delivery,
recording of sales to cash receipts.

In addition, we conducted testing of revenue, on a sample
basis, by examining the relevant supporting documents such
as sales contracts, shipping documents and subsequent
settlement (if any).

We performed testing, on a sample basis, on sales
transactions that took place shortly before and after the
financial year end to assess whether revenue was recognised
in the proper period.

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s credit risk
management and practices, and the Group’s policy on
determining ECL.

We obtained and reviewed the ECL assessment prepared by
management which is based on the relevant credit risk of the
debtors and, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

We also evaluated, on a sample basis, the settlement status
subsequent to the reporting period.

We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating key assumptions or estimates used in the
assessment of ECL and assessing the parameters with
reference to external available data sources and financial
information of the debtors, if available.

AR BT HIR (18)

HEESEE
BARR — HEER

HZE2024F12A31BLLEE  HEE
BIFBWANBI61EEBT

REHERRERRTENBALERF
BERER SRENEREERE
—REERZEZEEHHBIE &
SEEMEQREFHEBMEFRE -

EMBEERHEERANEARSERE
SEE REEAR EEEQARZEF
(BREZER) HEERMELNARBI
ARG UREBEED HH SO WHE®R
REOBHEWANERZE -

HERREC B8RS B EHKMETS

EZERWKARMGEEBERRE

EEEFEEAEEZEWTERTALE
HNAEBESIBSEEBT 1 EXHE
MN2024F 12831 BEE11.9% B
20245 12A31H - EHEEEE(HE
HEEBE) BELRENRIIFES

JT °©

EEEEEBREYARGESETENME
BEEENME ZEEEEBESHNE
B BRTARR AR 8 R R IR IR M TE
B DMEFTTRBEEEE -

EMEEZEZRUFRNABEES
BIftER —HERENSBE  2ER
HBRBHEN  BARERAHEEEER
BREEBNEZHEMMGE -

HERECESEA T KRRMTE
3(a)(ii) » 470122

& 37 1% B4 8 R &5 (48)

BN EFNAEERARETSEE

EMTHERAS EEEEEEENZER
MAOHBEEXZNABES NEHNE
B BEMER  HETHERSWIE -

WA RMBEBREEBERAANE
B EHTARBABR(NE) HRAES
RIS o

BEMHENRFEERANBTARENHEE
RGETBLEEMEA  UFEREEE
EMEFHRERRES -

EMETHREEE-FERRBREERIENR
EEBEERBEEFBEIHE -

EMEMSEREHEEEENEBANRRBE
SRk HEEBARKEERE ZSEMNE
MREFHAR AR EEBENME -

BT MR HREHEEEMRR
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

FHAFHEMER

BEAREZFTHAMENAS - HOENBENRNERANFEER - ETBESH
BB ERRBEMOLBANRS -

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express BB EHYEBRRNERLTREEMER KT HZEEMERNEREAER
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. HEE AW o

REMYEHPBRERNEANS  AMANETRHBAGER  EHBRED  ZEH
ENEEREHUBRRARMEFTBRETATENERFEERNEBRE L TF
EEARHERBRAVER -ERBMEIHTHIA  NREMIAHHMERNFEEAER
Pt - AMFEEREZEE -EEFE  RARBEMERSE -

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standard as issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

& 37 1% B4 8 R &5 (48)

ESNMEHMBRERARENST
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wu Ka Lai, Cary.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025

& 37 1% B4 8 R &5 (48)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Revenue Yt A

Cost of sales $5& M A

Gross profit £

Distribution and selling expenses 2 #8 & $5 &5 X
General and administrative expenses —#& & 17 BB %

Net impairment losses on financial assets £ Rl & E 2 FREE %
Other gains, net FH i F15

Operating profit &% I8
Finance income Bf 7%k i
Finance costs 817§

Finance income, net % & % W &

Share of profits/(losses) of investments accounted for using the equity method

FER IR EARZRE WRE(BE)
Profit before income tax BR FT 18 % A1 K8
Income tax expense Fii5 %168

Profit for the year & E

Profit attributable to: A~ A & FE{EFE :
Owners of the Company N2 A#EA A

Non-controlling interests FEi% IR E %S

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company for the year (expressed in HK$ per share)

FAXRDETABEEREFN (UBRETITR)
Basic and diluted earnings per share SREA K #5852 7|

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes Fff&E

7
7
7
6

10

11

13

14

LA b & Bf 8 25 7% PR B RE MY Y RE — O BIRE -

SifEaR

HZE2024F 12831 B L EE

2024 2023
HK$000 F#5%  HK$000 Fi&T
1,611,644 1,524,945
(546,315) (477,702)
1,065,329 1,047,243
(300,205) (231,261)
(191,791) (179,029)
(1,949) (21,185)

5,540 8,381

576,924 624,149

----- 57,274 72,878
(6,481) (5,978)
50,793 66,900
2,056 (3,259)
629,773 687,790
(100,606) (97,203)
529,167 590,587
500,278 540,393
28,889 50,194
529,167 590,587
0.60 0.65
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Profit for the year & E

Other comprehensive income: H 44 W3 :

Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss A FEE#77 B2 184 HE H

Currency translation differences attributable to owners of the Company N A B #EHE A (LG8 L =58
Share of other comprehensive income/(losses) of joint ventures FE{E & & 4HRE DA BNEMMERE KT (E5E)
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates FE{GH & N RN E RS EE

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss TEE# 7 B E 1825 H)E H

Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

UAREBENEEHEHTALMGERENEREEAREEES
Currency translation differences attributable to non-controlling interest, net FIEiERERS B E M KB =48
Other comprehensive losses for the year £ EHE RS EE

Total comprehensive income for the year FE# S W E5E

Attributable to: JL T A L FEAS :
Owners of the Company ZNQ A#EA A

Non-controlling interests FEi% IR %

Total comprehensive income for the year £ E#4& R A5

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.

HZE2024F 12831 B L EE

2024 2023
Note fffz  HK$000 F3& 7T HK$'000 T8t
529,167 590,587
(15,520) 310
110 (191)
(588) (457)
19 810 (1,785)
(3,382) 904
(18,570) (1,219)
510,597 589,368
485,090 538,270
25,507 51,098
510,597 589,368

BAE & BHER & st 7k FEBE R I Y R — OB -
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() CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION SHUHEARE

As at 31 December 2024 M2024%F12H31H
2024 2023

Notes Kfz¥  HK$’000 F & T HK$’000 Fi& T

Assets EE
E: Non-current assets JEREEE
2 Property, plant and equipment ¥ « 5 R 3 & 17 211,111 213,816
é‘ Right-of-use assets £ AEEE 16(a) 201,234 211,810
'; Intangible assets B EE 18 67,313 56,387
3 Investments accounted for using the equity method RIEZEARZIRE 11 53,546 51,968
n;J' Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
@ UAREBEMEEEZBH AHMGRERENERERE 19 8,643 7,833
g Prepayments and deposits T8 13 7% 18 #1 ## & 16,445 11,187
ﬁ Deferred income tax assets, net SFIELFTEHEE 20 35,486 37,122
< 593,778 590,123
% Current assets REEE
2 Inventories F & 21 1,589,016 1,011,649
S Trade receivables and other current assets 2 5 EWFIER Hit R B & E 22 556,978 453,980
E Short-term bank deposits with original maturities exceeding three months
e FEERA=EA UL ZEHRRITER 23 46,679 1,378,879
?r: Cash and cash equivalents HEREESEY 23 1,773,074 999,814
a 3,065,747 3,844,322

Total assets #EE 4,559,525 4,434,445
116 Equity and liabilities X R & &

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7~ A Bl # A A FE{h %

Share capital BZ7Z< 24 938,789 938,789 LDB:
§ Reserves fi#f& |E|
S — Other reserves Efth % (58,377) (43,189) B
7‘:59 — Retained earnings B 1F W& 3,194,948 2,970,913 Q
3 4,075,360 3,866,513
§ Non-controlling interests 3k # I% £ 25 171,074 154,177
e Total equity #3548 58 4,246,434 4,020,690

Liabilities & f&
Non-current liabilities 3F B & & 1

Borrowings f&& 25 142 166

Lease liabilities HE & & 16(b) 65,799 75,227

Deferred income tax liabilities, net FIELEFFEHEE 20 8,708 8,444

Retirement benefit obligations & K 18 | & 3,088 - =

77,737 83,837 ‘%I:
Current liabilities B & &

Borrowings & & 25 71 166 B

Trade and other payables B 5 & E i fE S Fh 1B 26 157,308 245,408 %

Lease liabilities %15 & & 16(b) 57,408 56,254 e

Current income tax liabilities EHFfEH ARG 20,567 28,090

235,354 329,918
Total liabilities # & & 313,091 413,755
Total equity and liabilities =Rk B EHE % 4,559,525 4,434,445
The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 243 were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March F112E243EMNE O R RMN2025F3 A28 AEESEHE  WARUTRRESE -
2025 and were signed on its behalf.
Gu Hai Ou Chen Fei g6 FR 7R @
Director Director EE )

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. LA & fOF B 35 SR 3k ME ER PR R PR 5 — OF B FE ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN €QUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Attributable to owners of the Company 4~ B # & A B

SHERZEMR

BZE2024F12A31HLEE

Share Merger Other Statutory Exchange Retained contro"lllci,:g Total
capital reserve reserves reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
BE Sft#E HttfEc EERE ERLRERE BFEWRE B FERERZ RBaAw
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F181H 938,789 (13,124) (9,609) 6,229 (24,562) 2,706,763 3,604,486 134,307 3,738,793
Comprehensive income #R& W
Profit for the year & E FE - - - - - 540,393 540,393 50,194 590,587
Other comprehensive income/(losses) Eft &R & Uz, (EiE)
Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
UARBEAEEESHTARMGERENERNEEAAEEED = = (1,785) = = = (1,785) = (1,785)
Currency translation differences &#5 i ¥ Z 45
— Group & E - - - - 310 - 310 904 1,214
— Joint ventures and an associate §& X R EE N T — — — — (648) — (648) — (648)
Total comprehensive income/(losses) #& W2, (E5#E) L5 = = (1,785) = (338) 540,393 538,270 51,098 589,368
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners EEZHEAEAUNEEEANEHLETHRS
Dividends paid B4 & - - - - —  (276,243) (276,243)  (31,228) (307,471
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners EEEZEEAUEBEEAN SR ETHNRZNALE - — — — — (276,243)  (276,243) (31,228)  (307,471)
At 31 December 2023 1A2023%12H31H 938,789 (13,124) (11,394) 6,229 (24,900) 2,970,913 3,866,513 154,177 4,020,690
At 1 January 2024 R2024%F1H1H 938,789 (13,124) (11,394) 6,229 (24,900) 2,970,913 3,866,513 154,177 4,020,690
Comprehensive income #R& W&
Profit for the year I8 - - - - - 500,278 500,278 28,889 529,167
Other comprehensive income/(losses) Hftt&R& Wz, (E51E)
Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
UAREENEEESBH AABGERENEREEARBEED - - 810 - - - 810 - 810
Currency translation differences & # 5 {2 = %8
— Group & - - - - (15,520) - (15,520) (3,382) (18,902)
— Joint ventures and associates &% ¥R B A 7 - - - - (478) - (478) - (478)
Total comprehensive income/(losses) & W/ (FiE) £ 5 - - 810 - (15,998) 500,278 485,090 25,507 510,597
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners EEEZHEEAUEEEANEBETNRS
Dividends paid E IRk E - - - - - (276,243) (276,243) (29,823) (306,066)
Capital contributions from non-controlling shareholders & B FEERB RNV EARHE = = - - - - - 21,213 21,213
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners BEEEZEEAUEEEANSHETNIZNAE - - - - —  (276,243) (276,243) (8,610)  (284,853)
At 31 December 2024 72024125 31H 938,780  (13,124)  (10,584) 6,220  (40,898) 3,194,948 4,075,360 171,074 4,246,434
UEEH RSB REREMEMMMNE—OIBIE -

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS BHIFERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BZE2024F12831HILEE

2024 2023
Notes Mffz  HK$000 & T HK$'000 F3& T

Cash flows from operating activities K& FEIEENRESRE

Cash (used in)/generated from operations &% (FTH) FiE4X 2B & 27(a) (108,836) 691,872
Hong Kong profits tax paid B 11 & & %15 (96,870) (194,428)
Overseas tax paid B{FEIE (11,545) (36,613)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities &% EE) () FIELNE S ZE (217,251) 460,831
Cash flows from investing activities R EFEFIEENWRERE
Interest received 2 Y FI & 65,420 68,930
Dividends received 2 W R E 391 240
Decrease/(increase) in short-term bank deposits with original maturities exceeding three months
BEHERAB={E8 U 2B RTEDRL (L) 1,332,200 (1,125,881)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment HE¥ % « ME KR EMEFE 27(b) 3 56
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets BB E¥ % - RERRERETLEE (12,527) (9,757)
Prepayments paid for purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
BEVE BEARBREFEENTANRIE (30,641) (12,109)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities REEEFRAEL (FiH) REF4E 1,354,846 (1,078,521)
Cash flows from financing activities BIEEBHFIELENBEESRE
Principal elements of lease payments 8 & ZEHI AN & Z 2 (63,847) (58,512)
Capital contributions from non-controlling shareholders R E FEZERBRRNEANHE 21,213 -
Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders B {3282 & IR R A% 2 (276,243) (276,243) |
o L]
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries B1J ¥ 2 & JEiE R 2 HI IR B (29,823) (31,228) Il
=]
Interest paid 214 % & 27(c) (6,481) (5,978) a/
. Ry %
Repayment of borrowing &2 & & 27(c) (119) (220) #
Net cash used in financing activities Bi& % 8 T IR & 7 F 48 (355,300) (372,181)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents B¢ R B S ZSEY M (RD) BE 782,295 (989,871)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year £l 2R &R B S EEY 999,814 1,990,966
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents B& KBS L EYE HEE (9,035) (1,281) 121
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FR 2 HERBEZEY 23 1,773,074 999,814
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. LEEHHR SR B R ESRBEM M 5 — OB o
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&> NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) are engaged in manufacturing, retail and wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare
products and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments. The immediate holding company of
the Company is Tong Ren Tang Technologies Co. Ltd. (“Tong Ren Tang Technologies”) which is a joint stock
limited company established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and is listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The intermediate holding company of the Company is Beijing
Tong Ren Tang Company Limited, (“Tong Ren Tang Ltd.”) which is a joint stock limited company
incorporated in the PRC and is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The ultimate holding company of the
Company is China Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group Co., Ltd. (“Tong Ren Tang Holdings”) which is a company
incorporated in the PRC.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of its registered office is
Room 1405-1409, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange starting from 7 May 2013 and were
transferred to be listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange starting from 29 May 2018.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
comprise all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are set out in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Companies and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent
of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a

deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities,
any non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

(a)

(b)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following amended standards for the first time for the current year’s

financial statements:

° Amendments to HKFRS 16

° Amendments to HKAS 1

° Amendments to HKAS 1

° Amendments to HKAS 7 and

HKFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(2020 Amendments)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (2022 Amendments)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The adoption of the above amended standards did not have any significant financial impact on these

consolidated financial statements.

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and amended standards, that have been issued but are
not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new and amended
standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18
HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements to

HKFRS Accounting Standards —

Volume 11

E e B2

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments®

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lack of Exchangeability™

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 7@

Effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
Effective for the annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting Standards (Continued)

Further information about those new and amended standards that are expected to have significant
impacts to the Group is described below:

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a number of sections have
been brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are
required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the five
categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined performance
measures in a single note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial
Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS
34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other
standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other standards are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Except for the above situation, the above new and amended standards do not expect to have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group will adopt the new
and amended standards when they become effective.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange
risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by management
of each individual entity within the Group.

(i) Market risk

(1) Foreign exchange risk

Each individual group entity has its own functional currency. Foreign exchange risk to each
individual group entity arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the group entity’s functional currency.

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The Group manages its foreign currencies risk
by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.

At 31 December 2024, if Renminbi had strengthened/weakened by 5% against Hong Kong
dollar, with all other variables held constant, the profit before income tax for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would have been HK$10,645,000 (2023: HK$12,100,000) higher/
lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Hong Kong
dollar-denominated trade payables held by a subsidiary in the Mainland China whose
functional currency is Renminbi. Whereas, the exposure arising from the other foreign
currencies is not significant to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(2) Cash flow interest rate risk
Other than short-term bank deposits and bank balances, the Group does not have
significant interest-bearing assets or liabilities.
At 31 December 2024, if the interest rates on bank deposits had been 100 (2023: 100)
basis-points higher with all other variables held constant, profit before income tax for the
year would have been HK$18,188,000 (2023: HK$23,774,000) higher, mainly as a result of
higher interest income on bank deposits.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from bank deposits and trade receivables (including trade receivables from the
immediate holding company, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) and other current
assets.

(1)

Risk management

Substantially all of the bank balances and fixed deposits are deposited with state-owned
financial institutions or reputable banks listing in the public market. Management considers
the Group has limited credit risk with its banks which are leading and reputable and are
assessed as having low credit risk. Therefore, the ECL is minimal. For trade receivables
(including trade receivables from related companies) and other current assets (excluding
prepayments), the Group assesses the credit quality of the counterparties by taking into
account their credit ratings, if the counterparties are independently rated, financial
position, credit history and other factors. Management also regularly reviews the
recoverability of these receivables and follows up on the disputes or amounts overdue, if
any. The credit terms of trade receivables arising from the wholesale customers are
generally within 30 to 90 days (2023: 30 to 90 days). The management is of the opinion
that the risk of default by counterparties is low. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

As at 31 December 2024, excluding those customers under the common control of the
ultimate holding company, there was 1 customer (2023: 1 customer) which individually
contributed over 10% of the Group’s gross trade receivables. The amount of trade
receivables from this customer amounted to 41% (2023: 20%) of the Group’s total trade
receivables.

Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables

As for trade receivables, the Group has credit policy to monitor the level of credit risk. In
general, the credit period for each customer or debtor are regularly assessed, based on
the customer’s or debtor’s financial condition, their capacity to obtain guarantee from third
parties, their credit records and other factors such as current market condition. The Group
is sensitive to changes in the creditworthiness and financial strength of its main customers
due to the importance of these key customers to the overall revenue.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To mitigate this risk, the Group
timely monitors its receivables balances.

The management of the Group performed ECL assessment based on available information
which includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions to estimate the ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 1 B 5 ¥k R B 5 (£8)

(CONTINUED)
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HiFRREIE (&)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) AR EAEE (18)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued) (i) S8R (E)
(2) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (2) Al A WAE ()
Trade receivables (Continued) B2 EWFIE ()

RMEEBERLCRAEURRENRAELER  HINPER
FEBREEEINRBREBERE -

The ECL rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
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As at 31 December 2024, there were customers with significant doubt on collection
of receivables and the management considers the receivables to have experienced a
significant increase in credit risk and defined the receivables as default. The balance
of these receivables was HK$35,832,000 (2023: HK$43,388,000) and the loss
allowance in respect of these receivables was HK$25,238,000 (2023:
HK$25,977,000).

Receivables for which an impairment provision was recognised were written off
against the provision when there was no expectation of recovering additional cash.

U]

R2024F12A31H  EZERARBUREFEEERREE
WEFHEBNERRENEERKRTE KIEEMNmEEE
RAENEZEVFETEEAELN  HENERTELSS
#35,832,00058 7T (2023 : 43,388,000587T) » 25 ME
W IE R B k1% 525,238,000 T (20234
25,977,00058 7T) °

HHNERRBERBENESRWFR - EXAEERGE
EWEESHNREE - REZEE S BWE -

Gross carrying

amount ECL ECL rate
REAE HHEEEE EHEEHEE
HK$°000 T & T HK$’000 F& T
As at 31 December 2024 132024512531 H 35,832 25,238 70.43%
As at 31 December 2023 2023512531 H 43,388 25,977 59.87%
|1
(i) As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables of HK$178,178,000 (2023: (if) A2024%F12H310 » ESEWFIEF 178,178,000/ T o]
HK$215,723,000) are due from related parties of which HK$170,675,000 (2023: (2023 % : 215,723,00058 7T) R BRARE 5 > Hp @ H l@'
HK$201,367,000) were past due. As at 31 December 2024, the loss allowance in ME S EWREHR170,675,0008 Tt (20234 e
respect of the trade receivables due from related parties was HK$14,937,000 (2023: 201,367,00058 7T) - R2024%F12831H - BH T E S Q
HK$11,574,000). FEW R B A E % 514,937,000 T (20234 :
11,574,000 7T ) °
Gross carrying
amount ECL ECL rate
REAE HHEEEE EHEEREE
HK$°000 F& T HK$’000 F& T 131
As at 31 December 2024 142024512 531 H 178,178 14,937 8.38%
As at 31 December 2023 82023512531 H 215,723 11,574 5.37% o
o
(i) As at 31 December 2024, the remaining trade receivables of HK$329,442,000 (2023: @iy  H2024%F12A31 0 - FERE 5 FEUNFNIES29,442,00078 I"_:.'[
HK$177,291,000) of which HK$326,657,000 (2023: HK$148,069,000) have not past 7t (20234 : 177,291,000 7T) » H 326,657,000 7T ik
due and have an expected loss rate individually ranged from 0.03%-3.52% (2023: (20234 : 148,069,000& 7t) M KRBEAMIBEHEGIEES
0.03%—2.27%). The loss allowance for these balances was HK$2,199,000 (2023: 0.03%-3.52% (20234 : 0.03%-2.27%) ° ZZE 481 ﬁ
HK$3,607,000). As at 31 December 2024, if the expected loss rate in respect of the BB 1% 52,199,000 T (20234 : 3,607,00058 7T) ° =
trade receivables had been 300 basis-points higher with all other variables held M2024F12A318 > i EZEZ EBNFIENEIREBEX ‘L;j

constant, the loss allowance would have been HK$9,883,000 (2023: HK$5,319,000)
higher.

As at 31 December 2024 20245125318
As at 31 December 2023 12023F 12531 H

ZFEFFA0EEY  MAGHMEEREZTE B
18 8 15 15 1% $n9,883,0005% JT (20234 : 5,319,00058
TT) °

Gross carrying

amount ECL ECL rate

Bfe T 48 (5 AREEER AREERER
HK$°000 & T HK$°000 F& 7T

329,442 2,199 0.67%
177,291 3,607 2.03%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(if) Credit risk (Continued)

(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other financial assets at amortised cost, the Group applies either a 12-month ECL or
lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime ECL. Management,
considered among other factors, analysed historical pattern and concluded that the ECL
for other financial assets at amortised cost to be immaterial as the balances are not yet
past due.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based
on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure
to credit risk.

As at 31 December 2024

12-month ECL
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(2) el 1 (D)

DR AGENNEtERERE
HRBRBERAVRNAGLEREE  AEBXRA12EAHE
HEEFER2MANEESELX  BFIr%IAREER
BAEEREEBINME o fi & BURFUENRERREERRAR
B RESEAEHENGHAER EEEZEHMRAR
% HELREETON  EHAERRR  KIHEOERER
2 AZREERATIRNEbEREENRBEEBRY
TEK-

(3) e g B B A A T Bt
TRENENAEENEEBRENESSERESEERAKE -

TRERNABEN BRFAMERAEEANTHEFVERER
BAWERTER) RIM2A31BNEERRD T

FESNERSHESHEERAREERGEERR

720245128318

1218 A 8 Lifetime ECL
FEER 2HAMEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1EER FE2MR FEIMR (LR (P2 et
HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 Tt HK$°000 T3 7T HK$’000 T & 7T HK$’000 Tt

Trade receivables FEUYLE 5 5118 = = = 543,452 543,452
Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
(EREEBFRAMRYR EtBRRURE®LERE) 55,900 - - - 55,900
Short-term bank deposits with original maturities exceeding three months
FRERA=1EA U E 2 RHRTEMR 46,679 = = = 46,679
Cash and cash equivalents & R EEZEY 1,773,074 - - - 1,773,074
Total #5t 1,875,653 = = 543,452 2,419,105

As at 31 December 2023

12-month ECL

MA2023%12H31H

1218 B A & Lifetime ECL
FEER 2HRBEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1ER E2ME R FEIME R (R (Dpz et
HK$’000 T3 7T HK$’000 T3t HK$’000 T3 7T HK$’000 T3 7T HK$’000 T3t
Trade receivables fEULE F Fi1E - - - 436,402 436,402
Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
TRHEECBRBAMNERNR  HUERRURAMEE 58,736 - - - 58,736
Short-term bank deposits with original maturities exceeding three months
RERAB=EA N L2 RBRTEX 1,378,879 = = = 1,378,879
Cash and cash equivalents & REEEEY 999,814 - - - 999,814
Total #%t 2,437,429 = = 436,402 2,873,831

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet its working
capital requirements. The Group has steady cash inflow from operations and has adequate
financial resources to fund its operations and future expansions. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s financial liabilities were mainly trade and other payables amounting to HK$145,393,000

(2023: HK$207,339,000), lease liabilities amounting to HK$123,207,000 (2023: HK$131,481,000)
and borrowings amounting to HK$213,000 (2023: HK$332,000).

The analysis of the financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual
maturities is set out below. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

At 31 December 2024 1202412531 H
Trade and other payables & 5 & H il f& {4 3k 18
Lease liabilities HE& &

(H =H

Borrowings &
Total # 5t

At 31 December 2023 12023412831 H
Trade and other payables & 5 & H fh fE{J 5K 18
Lease liabilities HHE& &

(H =H

Borrowings &
Total # 5t

(b) Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Less than

1 year

PSR-
HK$'000 F % 7

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

3 HBERREIE ()
() MiIFRMBEE (8)

(iii) MEWEERM
AEENBRRESZUNBRERBESEEYURRCHEEESS
R-AEBEBENREFAARZTENBER  TAHEERE
RIBRIEME S - N2024F 128318 AEENEREBETES
145,393,00038 Jt (20234 : 207,339,000 7T) 2 E 5 R M ES =

18 ; 123,207,0005% 7T (2023 : 131,481,000 t) 2 FHEEBUR
213,0007% jT (2023 : 332,000/8 7T) Z &K °

REGEHRNEREEIHEANINOT RENSHEAEE
RFRBERE -

Between 1 and Between 2 and
2 years 5 years Over 5 years Total

—E=fF —ZRF ZRAF At
HK$°000 T T HK$’000 T HK$'000 F3& T HK$°000 T T

99,807 - - - 99,807
63,157 34,386 36,345 15,371 149,259
71 71 71 - 213
163,035 34,457 36,416 15,371 249,279

Less than

1 year

SR=F
HK$’000 T %t

Between 1 and Between 2 and
2 years 5 years Over 5 years Total
—EZF —EAF ZRAE E

HK$’000 3% 7T HK$’000 & T HK$’000 3% T HK$’'000 F7% 7T

207,339 - - - 207,339
61,171 41,683 29,805 9,823 142,482
166 166 - - 332
268,676 41,849 29,805 9,823 350,153

(b) ENER

FEBEREEASERBAEEAHEIRFESEEERELE  BRR
EROE BARSHMESRFEARDR  YERELNELERBURLE

EXBERECHUBRRRARER ] RESIARELRE  ~5E
FERAEARRKAHRESHE ODRIREEER  BOFROIEEE
ELRADER -

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c) Fair value measurement

The Group’s financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) is carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2024 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, where the quoted
market price already incorporates the market’s assumptions with respect to changes in
economic climate such as rising interest rates and inflation, as well as changes due to ESG risk
(level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs and where ESG risk gives rise to a significant unobservable adjustment) (level 3).

There were no transfers between any levels during the year.

The Group’s financial asset at FVOCI is included in level 1.

Details on the fair value measurement for a financial asset at FVOCI are set out in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The rest of the Group’s financial assets are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, including short-term bank deposits, cash and
cash equivalents and trade receivables and other current assets, approximate to their fair values due to
their short maturities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and
borrowings are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial liabilities
approximate to their fair value due to their short maturities.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

(a) Provision for €ECL on trade receivables

The loss allowances for trade receivables are based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past experience, existing market conditions as
well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used and the carrying amount of trade receivables are set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statement.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

A5 R R E IR (18)
(0 RRfEENE
A E 2024512 831 B WA A EEH B A HBBH A LA W

(THU2REEAEEESBTAHMFEERE ] NEREERRBRMEERN
TRERINBANERBEANT =R

. HREEREETERTSNRE (REAR) THERESKES

THSHRESC (PIUANREANBERR UREER HERE
BRBZCHRR (E1E) -

. BRTE1BREENBEN  ZEENMEENTERNE BB A - 7
REZ (BFImER) LB ENRAER) (F28) -

. EEMEELFRBEAUEETSHENBA (FTERBARE
B HERERRBAEBNERTAERARE) (FE3E) -

FREBR2EALEER -

158 -

UARBENEAHSHFTARMEARENEREEN I AEBEFER
FIRE OB B IR R MIFE19

FEENHBERMEES BASREE  RBHMAE - REHRER -
FEBESREE (BEERRTER RERREZEWUAREZRRFE
HHMRHEE) REEEAAABERES -

FEETHEE (BRESREMEMNRERER) WREERBHEKA
2 -AREHRIY  AEENSRHEENREAERAQNTEEES -

4 SAZEHEEHRAE

A RAGREEERBRRAMEZ (BFREEERBRATHAREHEEAEE
HOTEOR)) FHARATAG ©

REBERREHMGTREBR - MAGSEF A BELFRRERERER - 25
A RBREFEAERR  EUERART AN RFEHEEREENREE
EHMTERFE -

(a) BERERRIAEHEEREREE

ESRURABERFERENYENERNARBERNBRMEAEN -
AEEEHEBRRNBEFTENRAEGR  ZRAKEUEER RAD
5 R 1 DA T2 A 5 3R o R 0 A BfE 0 i 5T 3E 1T H i o AN SR (S P 62 L RO B SR 1R
ROBAEREZRUWREREEESERNEH M BRRMWEES -

&

= oA
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(CONTINUED)
(b) Impairment of inventories

Impairment of inventories is made based on the assessment of net realisable value, which is the
amount of the inventories that are expected to realise. Estimates of net realisable value are based on
the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made. These estimates take into
consideration the aging of inventories, indication of obsolescence and fluctuations of the price or cost
directly relating to events occurring after the end of the reporting period to the extent that such events
confirm conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. Significant management estimates are
required in the estimates. When the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact on the carrying values of inventories and the amount of
impairment/reversal in the periods in which such estimates have been changed.

The net carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2024 was HK$1,589,016,000 (2023:
HK$1,011,649,000). Details of nature of inventories are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision makers have been identified as the executive directors and a non-executive
director of the Company (the “Executive Directors” and “Non-executive Director”). The Executive Directors
and Non-executive Director review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources and have determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors and a Non-executive Director assess the performance of the operating segments
based on revenue and segment results of each segment. The Executive Directors and a Non-executive
Director have determined the operating segments based on the location of the Group’s entities and the
information reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision makers for the purposes of allocating resources
and assessing performance and have determined that the Group has three reportable operating segments.

The geographical location of revenue is analysed based on location of the Group’s entities. The details are

(b) TFEIHE
FERESRBEIZREFENIGETYN TERFERFENARER
SHJRRAFENGHREMIHGEHBUESNRTENRE - BL
A ZEAFERR  BRMGUREREHREREN > AR RNER
EHARABEABANEHERERNESIAANEE  HEPEFEET
BEANEERMLE -ERARNERERAANERLGHEERR  &E
ERFEMAT RPN TFERAEEARRE BEEHE -

M2024F 1283108 FEKNKREEEA1,589,016,0007% jt (20234 :
1,011,649,000/87T) - FEFHBEHAR S OB RER M E21 ©

nEpE iR
IEEEARACRABALDONITES (HITES) RENTES (Fu7
E3)) HOESRIUTESENAREABREAFERRLABRER - B
BREZZHEEEEESH -

BITESRFITESRESELEDBNWBRAR D BEEN G DB RE - 17
ESRFITESRELAEBCERNUERAEBTERERRERIBER
Rt RBMEANENBEEEEDBAEEAEEEIF2HREEDH -

WARRBEBRAEE 2 BRATHE DN - HEFBUT :

L]
set out as follows: |
=]

(i) Hong Kong (the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC) — sale of Chinese medicine (i) EB(TPHAEBEIITHE) — EEEERTERHEETEERRRRE ﬁ
products and healthcare products and provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments MUREPELDERYE  UARMBPEERRFERR - L 22 BEIE —
through retail outlets as well as wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products in REFEAIRACEZ I REEBNEIEBNREFERERS -

Hong Kong. In addition, it includes the royalty fee income received from overseas entities for using
“Tong Ren Tang” brand name.

(i) ~ Mainland China (for the purpose of this annual report, regions of China other than Hong Kong, Macao (i) PERL(FBAFHRMES  BREE RN (FERMABFETRE) RTPEAE
(the Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC) and Taiwan China) — wholesale of healthcare thEAMIEMPEE) — 5 E R i B R R R & @ P E R AN
products in the Mainland China and the sole distribution of Tong Ren Tang branded products of Tong BEFBERIPHERACERERRCERMHVELCEREER ° 139
Ren Tang Technologies and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. to customers outside the Mainland China.

(i)  Overseas (countries/regions other than () and (i) as mentioned, for the purpose of this annual report, (i) BN RORGAIMFAHEMER HE > RAFHRN S - SFRM) —
including Macao)— retail and wholesale of Chinese medicine products and healthcare products and REMEIER HESERMBEPEERREERRUREERTEDER
provision of Chinese medical consultation and treatments in other overseas countries/regions, including 7% o =
Macao. L

o)

Segment assets include property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, investments PHEEBRENE BERRE FAEEE  BREE  BESEAERZRE H

accounted for using equity method, financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income, UARBEFEEEZHFTAEMAENENEREE - BARENRS BT

prepayments and deposits, deferred income tax assets, inventories, trade receivables and other current FEHREE FE BZREUFEREMRBEE  BHRTERRREEEAS ot

assets, short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. Segment liabilities include borrowings, lease LB s BEBEREEE -HEERE EFHREMESIIE - BRIKBRAEE - B

liabilities, trade and other payables, retirement benefit obligations, current and deferred income tax liabilities. ENRIELEREHAE - Ej

Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate expenses.

Sales between segments are carried in accordance with terms agreed by the parties involved.

ROWMEBTEBFELEMS -
70 B 85 E AR IS AR B 5 1 T 2 AR SRIEAT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 1 B 5 ¥k R B 5 (£8)
(CONTINUED)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 NEEN(58)
(a) Analysis of consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) eHBERRNIT

Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas Total

58 RE Rt =2 aF

HK$’000 T T HK$’000 T3t HK$’000 T &t HK$’000 Tt

Year ended 31 December 2024 & Z20245 1231 It EE

Segment revenue 2 ZPULA 1,269,131 248,755 402,622 1,920,508
Inter-segment revenue 7 &8 & WA (199,480) (109,384) - (308,864)
Revenue from external customers KB HHEFE 2 WA 1,069,651 139,371 402,622 1,611,644

Timing of revenue recognition YA #8529 B 2

At a point in time 7E X —BF 24 1,069,500 138,094 397,687 1,605,281
Overtime 1£ — R BF A 151 1,277 4,935 6,363
1,069,651 139,371 402,622 1,611,644
Contribution to segment results 2 2824 = &5 Ef 579,376 15,769 77,104 672,249
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - EKREBINE (12,141) (1,048) (4,328) (17,517)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ A EETE (44,098) (2,872) (20,197) (67,167)
Amortisation of intangible assets & & # § (3,438) - - (3,438)
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEY% - BiE kR ZE1E (41) - (23) (64)
Net reversal of impairment losses/(net impairment losses) on financial assets

SRMEEZFREBLAER CFREEX) 426 (2,980) 605 (1,949)

Impairment loss on inventories 17 & 2 R{EE %k - - (395) (395) I%:

Write-off of inventories 17 & Hif{ $4 (396) (35) (496) (927) lgl

Segment results 5 24 519,688 8,834 52,270 580,792 ju

Inter-segment elimination 2 B & ¥ £ (3,868) =
Operating profit #% % X34 576,924
Finance income Ef Uiz 52,510 113 4,651 57,274
Finance costs Bf#% (3,394) (172) (2,915) (6,481)

Share of losses of joint ventures DS & ¥ EE (3,346) 1
Share of profits of associates 2 { B & 2\ &) 2 FiH 5,402
Profit before income tax BRFfr 15 %% 5 Al ;H 629,773
Income tax expense FT8Fi & (100,606)

Profit for the year 4 & 78 529,167 o

al

I

ik
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ot
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 1 B 5 ¥k R B 5 (£8)
(CONTINUED)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 NEEN(58)
(a) Analysis of consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) eHBERxRNIT (8)
(Continued)

Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas Total

=8 HH ] A 3th iU a3t

HK$’000 T 7T HK$’000 F & T HK$°000 F#& T HK$’000 3% T

Year ended 31 December 2023 & =2023F12H31H L E

Segment revenue 3 ZPUA 1,171,231 228,634 482,436 1,882,301
Inter-segment revenue 7 &B & UL A (255,908) (99,299) (2,149) (357,356)
Revenue from external customers R B HEBEFF 2 A 915,323 129,335 480,287 1,524,945
Timing of revenue recognition YA & 52 K9 B 24
At a point in time £ ¥ — 852 914,884 127,903 476,553 1,519,340
Overtime £ — B ERER 439 1,432 3,734 5,605
915,323 129,335 480,287 1,524,945
Contribution to segment results 2 2848 2 & [&f 681,619 (4,196) 115,302 792,725
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥2%  BE R RETE (9,871) (1,165) (4,328) (15,364)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets AL EITE (38,964) (2,883) (21,940) (63,787)
Amortisation of intangible assets /& 7= i 85 (3,363) - - (3,363)
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEY¥% - BEKREZEE (7) (50) (321) (378)
Net reversal of impairment losses/(net impairment losses) on financial assets
tREEZFHERLAER CFREREXKX) 3,031 (24,239) 23 (21,185) l\ug:
Impairment loss on inventories F& Z BB % = = (363) (363) lgl
Write-off of inventories 13 & #if{ $§ — — (725) (725) E
Segment results 7 EBF & 632,445 (32,533) 87,648 687,560 -
Inter-segment elimination 35 & 4 £ (63,411)
Operating profit #% % X34 624,149
Finance income Bf# Uz 68,278 244 4,356 72,878
Finance costs B3 (2,908) (175) (2,895) (5,978) u3
Share of losses of joint ventures D158 & ¥ > EE (1,438)
Share of losses of an associate 715 & A 7 Z K518 (1,821)
Profit before income tax Bk B8 %1 A %58 687,790
Income tax expense FTi5%iB8 5% (97,203) 5
Profit for the year £ [ ¥} 590,587 ,u—:l[
a
2
aj
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 1 B 5 ¥k R B 5 (£8)
(CONTINUED)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 NIPER(E)
(b) Analysis of consolidated statement of financial position (b) SHEIBIAIRETHNDIF

Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas Total

58 RE Rt =2 aF

HK$’000 3T HK$'000 & T HK$'000 & T HK$°000 F#& 7T

At 31 December 2024 2024512831 H
Segment assets and liabilities D PEEREE

Total assets BE&EE 3,621,070 404,233 534,222 4,559,525
Investments accounted for using the equity method REZFEARZRE 23,219 25,012 5,315 53,546
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

UARBEFAEEESHF AR MEERENERNEE 8,643 = - 8,643
Additions to non-current assets" FEFRBNE E 2 8 NO 63,009 4,838 30,312 98,159
Total liabilities 2 & & (180,944) (34,649) (97,498) (313,091)

At 31 December 2023 7202312 A31H
Segment assets and liabilities 2 EEER & &

Total assets BEE 3,472,865 469,463 492,117 4,434,445
Investments accounted for using the equity method R EARZRE 8,482 36,839 6,647 51,968
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

UAREBENEEEHSZETAHLMGERENEREE 7,833 — — 7,833
Additions to non-current assets!" JEFREIE & 2 8 1O 73,951 10,895 22,548 107,394

|1

Total liabilities 8 & (241,363) (68,399) (103,993) (413,755) lﬂif

5

“) In this analysis, additions to non-current assets exclude interests in joint ventures and associates, m K?*ﬁqﬂ ’ 3AF>7‘|E§;JJﬁE‘%‘ZEﬁDT\@EE@%%ﬁ%&Hﬁ%’AEE’\H%E% B ARE w

financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income and deferred tax assets. EFRERSHHAHMGRERENEREENELCHEAE ° #

145
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

(CONTINUED)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Revenue

The analysis of revenue by category is as follows:

Sales of products & E m
Service income FRFEUL A
Royalty fee income @ h& {5 F8 & Ut 5

(d) Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2024, majority of the revenue were generated from wholesales
customers, revenue from one (2023: one) customer accounted for more than ten percent of the
Group’s total revenue. These revenues are attributable to the Hong Kong segment and Mainland China
segment (2023 : Hong Kong segment and Mainland China segment). The revenues from the customer

is HK$482,458,000 (2023:HK$273,456,000).

There are no customers of other segments individually accounted for ten percent or more of the

STATEMENTS

Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

(e) Information about geographical areas

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. An analysis of revenue from external customers and non-
current assets of the Group by geographical area is set out below:

(i) Revenue®

Hong Kong &8

Mainland China [ A ith

Macao ;&1

Australia B KX F| 8

Canada ME X

New Zealand %7

Singapore #7033

United States %

Other countries/regions E B xR, thE

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

% B -I-‘l(mg)
(c) WA

BERE D HRADHTUT

2024 2023

HK$’000 T &t HK$°000 F#& T

1,560,767 1,473,819
50,726 50,687
151 439
1,611,644 1,524,945

(d) BEAXTZEFHER

BZE2024F12A31ALEFE KBS WARBEDHEEF » RE — A (2023
F—R)EFHNRAGEAERLARATI ZTUL - ZERAKBEEES
R PEAM S (20234F : FEBIHFRFPEANMSI) - REZBEFHN
g A 2482,458,00038 JT (20234 : 273,456,000 JT) ©

BZE2024F 1231 HILEFE - At BBBLEE S (20235 - &) ERMEAE
BRRANED 2 THUE -

() BRAMMERBER

ARANBBLE - ARERMEEINRENMNATFZRARFERDE
ENDHFOT

(i) WA®

2024 2023
HK$’000 T3t HK$°000 F& 7T

1,069,651 915,323
139,371 129,335
214,488 282,684

62,110 62,625
44,820 46,944
26,107 28,218
21,477 24,046
16,521 15,751
17,099 20,019
1,611,644 1,524,945

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

(CONTINUED)
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 9HHWBEN(F8)
(e) Information about geographical areas (Continued) (e) ERAMMERAMER (8)
(i) Non-current assets® (i) IFREBMEE®

2024 2023
HK$’000 T3 T HK$’000 F%& T
Hong Kong & & 307,654 294,924
Mainland China [ A ith 10,212 9,124
Macao &P 64,197 60,115
Australia 8 A |22 40,299 44,683
Canada &K 19,108 22,968
New Zealand 78568 37,723 42,888
Europe B 6,801 11,519
United States [l 727 1,948
Other countries/regions EE % it & 9,382 5,031
496,103 493,200

M The geographical location of revenue is analysed based on the location where goods are M WA SRR BIZHEEE M RIBHRIEAE- DT o
sold and services are provided.

@ The geographical location of non-current assets is analysed based on where the assets are @ FRBEERMEBOTRBEZEENAELIITHHBETE -
located or held. In this analysis, the total of non-current assets excludes interests in joint AOMH  FRBDEELBEIBRERGELERBEE QATMNIER
ventures and associates, financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income E -UAARBENEEEEHT AEMGERENESREEMN
and deferred tax assets. BEHBEE °

(f) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers (f) MEFEAGRMNEETIERE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with customers: AEBERAUTHEFSREHENER
2024 2023
HK$’000 T % T HK$’000 T8 T
Contract liabilities & E & & 5,138 3,211
The Group has not recognised any contract assets related to contracts with customers as at 31 M2024F 12 A31 B M2023F 128310 » AEEARBEREEFAREEN
December 2024 and 31 December 2023. BREE °
(g) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (g BERANBEESRISEERAMNUEA

The following table shows revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities in the year related to
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year. BENBASEE -

2024

HK$’000 T & T

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities at 1 January
MA1HERRESREBEFBENKRA 1,406

TERARAFECEIANESRAAEAENRATRFERN2EREE

2023
HK$'000 38T

4,678

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(g) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
(Continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue FBEIFER AW AN EEE
Within one year —fF 2R
After one year —FE 2%

(h) Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(i) Sales of goods

The Group sells healthcare products and Chinese medicine to wholesalers and individual
customers. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of goods.

Wholesales

For wholesales, the wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the wholesaler’s acceptance of
the products. Delivery does not occur until the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the wholesaler, and either
the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied. Sales are recorded based on the price specified in the sales contracts.

No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term ranging
from 30 to 90 days, which is consistent with market practice.

Receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered and the consideration is unconditional,
under which only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Retail sales

For retail sales, the Group operates a chain of retail outlets for selling products. Sales of goods
are recognised when products are sold to the customer. Payment of the transaction price is due
immediately. Retail sales are usually in cash, in health care voucher and by electronic payments
etc.

(11)  Service income

The Group mainly provides Chinese medical consultation and treatments in retail outlets. Service
income is recognised at the point in time when the service is provided to the customer and it is
settled in cash, in health care voucher and by electronic payments, etc.

(iii) Royalty fee income

Royalty fee income is based on pre-determined rates on the total turnover of overseas entities
for them to use the “Tong Ren Tang” brand name. Royalty fee is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss on an accrual basis upon sales recognised by the overseas entities.

(iv) Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As
a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

5 % _LB -I-‘l ( =] )
(g) BEHRRNEESEEBEERANIA (8)

B=E

12A318  PEENSENER (RETRBIRET)NRXZERE

T :

2024 2023
HK$’000 T3t HK$°000 F#& T

4,662 1,406
476 1,805
5,138 3,211

(h) WAtESR 285K
REEBEFGRIWE

REEPERZUENERBRBHNEHEEBEEFKER  SHRMR
FEERPRIBRZEERABBNERESHRE -

(i)

(iii)

B R

$%lﬁﬁﬁ&m&¢$%Mﬁﬁ&@% o EE R WER
AERBERATEFCHHERR BRARAERZE -

it 3

MELIE HBEHLEERNEERERERINER  BTE
RETHWEAISENBEREZER -EEMD i?EEﬁﬂEE RE
BERBERBCEEHEY MUBBOREHESHEZER
BEMWREC AN AEBEETHEBRRTHSEMANTEEER
FERIARMS HERHESHEENERAR -

HRHEFEIORERANEAY - EWBEHER - 8URER
BERD e
REBEER RREUER - B A bR = B R R R AR

=

ZETH AEEZEAEHTERHHEER HEERRATP
HEEMBRD XZERENRIY - ZEBEURS  BESM
Eﬁﬁ%%iﬁ—riﬁ °

Il 5 Wt 2

FEERAEZERRHREHTEDE - RBBREREOEFFREEARBEER
‘R URE BESNEFINEXN-

fil L P e W 2

mEEABEWEDHENERERECE |RERIEAEEHRE
i%fuﬁlﬁi cmEERENENEREREERREFEENER

il S AL R 4

AEEMBEAERATAREESINERBNRERHORREES S
RNEHERTEEE-—F Bt AEETEHEBKBEEMH

BREMRZERE -

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

6 OTHER GAINS, NET

*ox

Government grants® B fF B0

Gain on deemed disposal of an investment accounted for using the equity method (Note 11)

RIEHERESEARZREN R (FEE11)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries & & K& 7 & 4 RIS

Dividend income from equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

UARBEFNELEES ST A MERS WS MR AR E
Others Hfth

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants.

Deferral and presentation of government grants

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the period

necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (Note 21)
HEmREHRFEEE (HE21)

Raw materials and consumables used (Note 21) FT B E#M B K EE R (FtzE21)
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) {& £ 18 75 X (FfzE8)

Expenses relating to short-term leases EHIHEE H

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities™
AEEENR (R AFEHEHERRE) "

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18)* &, & & # 85 (KfzE18) ***

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) £ B#EE EH E (KizE16)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 17) #1% - BERREITE (M:E17)
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment (Note 27)

HENE  BE - REZEE (EE27)

Impairment loss on inventories (Note 21) 7 & Z R {EE & (fizE21)
Write-off of inventories (Note 21) 175 fifiéH (HizE21)

Net impairment losses on financial assets (Note 22) £ @& & < FREE % (MizE22)
Auditors’ remuneration #% 2 &l B &

— Audit services ¥ E IR

— Non-audit services JE%Z IR

Research and development expenses #f % &

Promotion and advertising expenses E& K E &R X

Legal and professional expenses 2R E¥R X%

Foreign exchange difference, net** 7N = %8 7% 58+

Variable lease payments represent the amounts which are calculated based on percentages of revenue generated by

certain retail outlets that exceed their fixed rentals.

The foreign exchange difference, net for the year is included in “Cost of sales”, “Distribution and selling expenses”,
“General and administrative expenses” and “Finance income, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The amortisation of intangible assets for the year is included in “Distribution and selling expenses” and “General and

administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

FHh NS

2024 2023

HK$’000 T3 7T HK$°000 F#& T
558 1,851

- 2,879

2,473 -

391 240

2,118 3,411

5,540 8,381

ELMBERAMTEMRRREORGREMIASH -
BRE ZIEER 25

HERAEBENBAEE  CRAFTHENEAECRNXEHNER - BELEXEEER

i -

RUESNENMAX

2024
HK$’000 T &7t

8,047
460,569
251,438

11,486

1,049
3,438
67,167
17,517

64
395
927

1,949

3,722
280
9,128
112,145
15,937
3,409

2023
HK$°000 F#& 7T

(86,426)
478,519
245,670

11,518

2,293
3,363
63,787
15,364

378
363
725
21,185

4,074
384
12,208
47,394
7,727
(375)

. TEAENNEE TEEEEENRARBILFAERBHARERENE

Xf o

o AEEMIEZRFHECEESHBEERTNIHERE] [ HRHEH

%1 [~ BRATREZ R BI Wi |55«

o FEENEVEERHERSEAMBERTHOIDHREEH IR —RRT

BRAXH -

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS

Salaries, wages and bonuses #® * TEREAL

Pension costs — defined contribution plans BIKEK A — EREMRE
Retirement benefit costs & K18 Fl 5% 48

Other benefits H fth #& 7

No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year and no available at the year-end to reduce future
contributions.

(a) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year includes one
director (2023: nil) whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 9(a). The
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining four (2023: five) individuals during the year are as
follows:

Basic salaries and other benefits E A% & & H 185
Bonuses 1t 4L
Pension costs — defined contribution plans Bk & B4 — EZE MR ETE

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Emolument bands B} < &3 &
HK$1,000,00178 7t — HK$1,500,0007% J©
HK$1,500,0017%8 7t — HK$2,000,0005%& JT

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no emoluments (2023: nil) were paid by the Group to any of
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office, and no arrangement under which any of the highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any of the emoluments.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

EEwBHMAX  BIEESME

2024 2023

HK$’000 T3& 7t HK$’000 & T

210,664 213,695
20,792 20,249
3,088 -
16,894 11,726
251,438 245,670

SERFHARRNHR  FREREATARBMD RBUAROMER -

(a) ha&SHAL

AEEBFANEERSHATEIE—VES (2023F ' &) - EEMES MM
F@ DM PRI c FREARAETERT ML (20234F : Bfu) ALTHENS
mTE

2024 2023

HK$’000 T &t HK$’000 F & T

4,250 5,155
2,021 2,323

123 504
6,394 7,982

B2 F T RO

Number of individuals A £

2024 2023

BE2024F12A31ALFE  AEETEOAERSHFA TN EAHE
(20235 : ) + FARSI A MAHMAREB SRy BBHEE  FE
BReHFALTRELREREEAMESH L -

&

= oA
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(CONTINUED)

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES 9 SHNHEMNERD (BEEBE( L ARG (FEe22EH)
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG FIBIMREN LT (RBEEFAEN) BHN(FE
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES 62eGE) MENKREBR FHREBIAENIKE)

(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING

RULES)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) ESH=E
The remuneration of directors for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out below: HE2024F K2023F12B31BLFENSESHFMOT -

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
ERES (FERAARREFAALE) RHBEEMZNREMSHEHM L
Employer’s
contribution to
a retirement

Salary and Discretionary benefit scheme
Year ended 31 December 2024 Fees other benefits bonuses BEZEK Total
HZ2024F12831H ILEE e HeRHEMEF B 1 TE AL T &I &t

HK$000 T#7t HK$000 F#E T HK$000 T#ET HK$000 FET HK$000 T T

papwn Auedwo) supipaly 3sauly) bue) usy Buoj Hulliag

Executive Directors #{TE=E
Mr. Gu Hai Ou ™ EEGRESEEM O - - - - -

156 Mr. Chen Fei® BRFEE® - 1,432 - 109 1,541
Mr. Wang Chi® E Bt 554 © - 1,020 - 141 1,161
Mr. Yu Jin® $8 %40 - 383 - - 383 8
>
:
- Non-executive Director F#{TES E
@
§ Ms. Feng Li® " BFjz+6® - - - - - o
Y
R
Y Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTESE
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper &= &R %4 288 - - - 288
Mr. Xu Hong Xi® #REE5E4£E6 288 - - - 288 57
Mr. Chan Ngai Chi FR 25t 5t 4 288 — = — 288
864 2,835 - 250 3,949
o
al
1
Hak
b
ot
=B
B
g
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

)

@

®)

@)
6)

©)

@

®)

©)

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12831 BIEFEE

Executive Directors #1TEE
Mr. Gu Hai Ou" ™ BE:EEESEEM O
Mr. Chen Fei® BREE4E®
Ms. Ding Yong Ling® ™ Tk¥&Z+te@0
Ms. Lin Man® #&Z +®
Mr. Yu Jin® RE5EE®

Non-executive Director E#H{TES
Ms. Feng Li® ™ jEFjz 6 O

Independent Non-executive Directors B EH TES
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper & #E/X 5t £
Prof. Zhao Zhong Zhen® i #E 1%
Mr. Xu Hong Xi® #REZ £
Mr. Chan Ngai Chi B2 Bth 5t &

Mr. Gu Hai Ou has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Board since
13 December 2023.

Mr. Yu Jin has been appointed as Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 20
October 2023 and has resigned as Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with
effect from 28 March 2024.

Ms. Ding Yong Ling has retired as Executive Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Board with
effect from 31 August 2023.

Ms. Lin Man has resigned as Executive Director since 12 September 2023.

Ms. Feng Li has been re-designated as Non-executive Director since 13 March 2023. She was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company on 12 August 2022.

Prof. Zhao Zhong Zhen has resigned as Independent Non-executive Director on 13 March 2023 and Mr. Xu
Hong Xi has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 13 March 2023.

Mr. Gu Hai Ou, Ms. Ding Yong Ling and Ms. Feng Li receive emoluments from the parent company, part of
which is in respect of their services to the parent company and its subsidiaries. No apportionment has been
made as the qualifying services provided by these directors to the Company and its subsidiaries are incidental
to their responsibilities to the larger group.

Mr. Chen Fei was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2020 and was re-
designated as an Executive Director of the Company and was appointed as the chief executive officer of the
Company on 11 March 2021. Mr. Chen Fei was re-designated as the Executive Deputy General Manager of the
Company on 19 April 2023, and then was appointed as the acting chief Executive Officer of the Company on
28 March 2024 and ceased to act as the acting chief Executive Officer of the Company on 10 May 2024.

Mr. Wang Chi has been appointed as Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
10 May 2024.

No directors of the Company waived or returned any emoluments and no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as a compensation for loss of office as a director.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

9 EFMNRMNIER (BEEB(LIRH)(Fe228)
H3I8ER AT (REESHMNRER) RHN(E
622GS) MENKE N EHRARENRKE) (18)

(a) EFiM= (18)

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

ERES (FERLQAARAFRALE) RERBMISRESHHE

Fees
HK$°000 F& T

Employer’s

contribution to

a retirement

Salary and Discretionary  benefit scheme

other benefits bonuses B 2RI Total
ek HiEA BB TEAL FTEIE R &t

HK$'000 F#E T HK$000 FiET HK$000 FET HKS000 FE T

- 635 241 99 975
- 874 6 84 964
— 665 - 71 736
288 - - - 288
72 - - - 72
240 - - — 240
288 - - - 288
888 2,174 247 254 3,563

)

@

®)

@)
6)

©)

@

®)

©)

FESEEEEH2023F 12 A 1BAREZEALRAANTESRETEER -

RYEEH2023F 10200 BEZEARQRAPNTEERERFHATE B
2024 F3 A28 AEBHEARAAHNTESREFHTE ©

TAKBLZTHEH2023F8A31HEEBERQAAHTESRESEER °

MELZLEH2023F9F12ABBEHNTES -

BRI ZEB2023F3A13HBFAMERAFEHITESE » HN2022F8F 12 EEE
BERRRAHTES -

HEAPIRBIZE2023F3 B 13RI B U HHMITES - BREEH2023F3813
AREZEERERDRABIUFRITES -

BB AL s TRKRZEIRBAZTHRIATFEIHRY  Hh—Ho 2ER
MABARREFARRUNEYE BARELEEQARQARREME D ARA
NEEERERMMPEEAEENSEMMEN > RULEEHTMSH -

R FEEN2020F3A24 BB ZERA AR FHITES » WN2021F3/118
ARARATNRTEZRADAEEBITE c MR EER2023F4 198 FE
ARATERENAEE  WR2024F3A 28R EEZEFARATAREBERENTE
RR2024F5 8 10B EFBEEAARAREEEHTE ©

EoEEBH2024F5 100 BEZEAERRAAHITESREREHNITE ©

ARBUEEERRIREEMAHE - AEBTEEOES T EFEE -
ERAWEIMARER 2 RBRAEMARRBHAEDBEBEE -

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefit under a defined benefit scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to any directors as compensation for the early termination of the appointment
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of any directors for making available the services of
them as a director of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

I0 FINANCE INCOME, NET

Finance income — bank interest income Bi#§iz — SBITRIEURA
Finance costs Bf# 3 H

— Borrowing £ &
— Lease liabilities HE& &

Finance income, net 3% 81 % U i

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

9 EFMNRNMNIER (BEEB(LIRFH)(Fe228)
$38ER AT (REESHNRER) RHN(E
622GS) MENKE K FHRARENRKE) (18)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

SEIRNE M

HZE2024F12A31HILFE  BEESC WS BUBRRAERBAFET
FETR RFERI (2023 % : &) ©

SEFIREBMN

HZE2024F12A31ALLEE  WEBOESZMMEARE  (EBHIBAEE
RO BB 7 (20234 : &) o

BER=-NASRESEX(THNRE

HZE2024F12A31HIEFE  WERNEBEAEAXRARAEEMEZF4HAZ
LAERIEEENNRE (2023F : &) -

EE EBRHILE SEHSREER S
MAREMXFBRIE

‘ﬂ]]

%12024$12H31H¢$F WERES ZFEEERFIGCE - EEEHEEZ
ER - EERLUREMR ZHEBEEN (20234F : £) -

EFEXRD  RHINECRAIPHEXNIER

BZE2024F12A31 AL FEA RS FAEAEE » AEERBESTEAY
RAEECEBMAQARCESEESHNEEETFREEAREZCEER
% ZHRERE (2023F : &)

10 FHFEUE

2024 2023

HK$’000 T3t HK$°000 F& 7T

57,274 72,878

- (1)
(6,481) (5,977)
(6,481) (5,978)
50,793 66,900

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 1 B 5 ¥k R B 5 (£8)
(CONTINUED)

I INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE €QUITY Il RBIEZXZZARZERSE
METHOD
(a) The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of (@) NEOHYBARKERNEZEWT :

financial position are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$'000 & T HK$’000 3% T

At 31 December R12H831H

Joint ventures & & % 11,893 15,129
Associates & A 7 41,653 36,839
53,546 51,968

(b) The share of profits/(losses) recognised in the consolidated (b) REOHBRRERNEGHE (BBR)WT:

statement of profit or loss are as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 T & T HK$°000 F3#& 7t

For the year ended 31 December HZ12 831 B L EE

Joint ventures & & % (3,346) (1,438)
Associates Bf& A 7] 5,402 (1,821)
|1
2,056 (3,259) &
|
5
(c) Interests in joint ventures (c) NEOEELEIER T
The Group has interests in a number of individually immaterial joint ventures. The following table AEBEEETHENFTEANGELENER - TRONMAEESHEF =
analyses, in aggregate, the movement of the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in these joint RECELENEZRABEZDNELZESELENESE  HGRaW
ventures, and its share of results, other comprehensive income and commitments of these joint RN o
ventures.

2024 2023

HK$’000 T3t HK$°000 F& 7T 163

At 1 January W1 H1H8 15,129 16,758
Share of losses FE{EFEEIE (3,346) (1,438) =
Share of other comprehensive loss FE{h H 4= & &2 %f
— Currency translation differences &#5 5 2 = 25 110 (191) ;0_01
At 31 December ®12H831H 11,893 15,129
ot
The Group’s share of joint ventures’ commitments Z< £ B fE (L & & 1 ¥ A& - — f?g
a
Notes: FtsE -
(@) The joint ventures are private companies and there are no quoted market prices available for their shares. (@) EELERIART  ERGOUBTIHZRE -
(b) There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in joint ventures. (b) WEREBEAKEMSSECERRNRNBEE -
(©) Details of the joint ventures are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements. () EECEFBHNE M BEHRRMTI0 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

I INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE €QUITY
METHOD (CONTINUED)

(d) Interests in associates

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

At 1 January A1 81H
Share of profits/(losses) FE{5 Wik, (& 1E)

Gain on deemed disposal of an investment accounted for using the equity method

BEHEREREARZRE RS
Share of other comprehensive losses 45 HAit 4R & Eia
— Currency translation differences & #5 5, # =58

At 31 December ®12H831H

The Group’s share of associates’ commitments 7 £ B & (& B & 1\ 5] & IE

Beijing Tong Ren Tang WM Dianorm Biotech Co., Limited (“WM Dianorm”) and Beijing Tong Ren Tang
(Cayman) Limited (“Cayman Company”) are considered material associates of the Group and are
accounted for using the equity method.

On 16 February 2023, WM Dianorm entered into a capital injection agreement with an independent
investor which agreed to contribute a total of RMB33,345,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$37,635,000) into WM Dianorm. Upon the completion, the Group’s equity interest in WM Dianorm
decreased from 40% to 30%. An approximate amount of HK$2,879,000 resulting from gain on deemed
disposal of the Group’s equity interest in WM Dianorm was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss of the Group.

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information in respect of WM Dianorm and
Cayman Company adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements:

(i) WM Dianorm

Assets and liabilities as at 31 December R12 31BN EER AR
Current assets BN EE
Cash and cash equivalents HE&E KRR EZEY
Other current assets EftiREE =
Total current assets BRBEE
Non-current assets 3R EIEE
Current liabilities 72 & &
Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) € Bl & & (FRE 3 B+ K E)
Other current liabilities HE At 7B & &
Total current liabilities #2781 & &
Non-current liabilities FE7R 8 & &

Net assets F& =

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

Il REDZEAKRKRSE (18)

(d) REtE B iER
REpBhRE P RAZRENT |

2024 2023

HK$’000 T3t HK$°000 F#& 7T

36,839 36,238
5,402 (1,821)
— 2,879
(588) (457)
41,653 36,839

LTRECEEFBEYRMERIT (ERED) ML RECE (B8 AR
RA(HELA N ERAXREENERHE XA REABRELE -

M2023F2A16H  EWMBHBUREZ LIEME #EDEOER
BEETHE ARM®33,345,0007T (HHE R #37,635,000587T) - R THKE
NEBREZEENRERI0%BD E30% - RIEHEREBREFENR
ENWEEEMNL2,879,0008 TR AEBSHHIERKRDER -

TREBNTEHEWENMSAANUBENME MABANCRES
HBENERET T AR YERSHUBERTOREEETHE:
() ZEmMig

2024 2023
HK$’000 T3 T HK$°000 F3#& T

38,157 68,058
49,284 66,078
87,441 134,136
8,388 11,666
4,512 6,959
7,944 14,684
12,456 21,643
- 1,363
83,373 122,796

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

(CONTINUED)
Il INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE €EQUITY I RERZEARZIRE (1)
METHOD (CONTINUED)
(d) Interests in associates (Continued) (d M= i (8)
(i) WM Dianorm (Continued) (i) ZMWmis (@)
2024 2023
HK$’000 T &t HK$’000 F& T
Revenue WA 17,283 100,625
Loss for the year FEE B (33,619) (3,665)
Other comprehensive losses E 4R 4 &8 (5,804) (1,769)
Total comprehensive losses & B 1244458 (39,423) (5,434)
Reconciliation of summarised consolidated financial information B B 5 BN 1) R
2024 2023
HK$’000 T &t HK$’000 T8 Tt
Opening net assets Hi#&EEFE 122,796 90,595
Issue of new shares %17 ¥ IR 173 — 37,635
Losses for the year FE 18 (33,619) (3,665)
Other comprehensive losses for the year FE H L4 & K518 (5,804) (1,769)
Closing net assets HiREEFE 83,373 122,796
Reconciliation to the Group’s interests in the associate E2ZK £ E AR N T AR EER ¢
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ZNEBEHEEEWLLLE 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate and carrying amount of the investment
AEBNSEBHENRNEEFERZERENKEE 25,012 36,839
(i) Cayman Company (i) FASL3

Assets and liabilities as at 31 December R12A31ANEER A&
Current assets REEE

Cash and cash equivalents HEREEEEY

Other current assets EftiREEE

Total current assets B RBEE

Non-current assets 3ERENEE

Current liabilities i E & &
Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) £ @& & (R E 5 E(7E)
Other current liabilities E At B & &

Total current liabilities 8RB & &

Non-current liabilities 3f 7 & & &

Net assets FEE

2024
HK$000 F 3T

199,786
80,520

280,306

8,532

154,001
54,764

208,765

2,428

77,645

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE €QUITY
METHOD (CONTINUED)

(d) Interests in associates (Continued)

(i) Cayman Company (Continued)

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

RIEDIZARIRE (18)

(d) REEE N8 iEx (1)

(i) B8RS (E)

Revenue WA
Profits for the year £ E & T
Other comprehensive losses E 4R & EiE

Total comprehensive income %4 U #4258

Reconciliation of summarised consolidated financial information

HK$’000 T3# T

542,182
64,533
(9,245)
55,288

£ OF B 85 R E 2 A R

2024
HK$000 F 3T

Opening net assets Hi#1 & EFE

Profits for the year EE &R

Other comprehensive losses E 4R & E5 18

Closing net assets HiR & EFE

Non controlling interests 3F32 iR #E %5

Closing equity of the associate’s shareholders & /A 5] HA & IR R AE x5

Reconciliation to the Group’s interests in the associate: B2 EE @R EEZ A T WEZH IR
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ZANEEEAEMNLLE

Group’s share of net assets of the associate and carrying amount of the investment

FEENDEHEAREEFERZERENKREE

Notes:
(@) The associates are private companies and there are no quoted market prices available for their shares.
(b) There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in associates.

I2 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (NCI)

The management considers Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Macau) Company Limited is a subsidiary which has non-
controlling interest that is material to the Group. The principal place of business of this material subsidiary is
in Macao, and the proportion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interests is 49%.

As at 31 December 2024, its accumulated NCI was HK$88,674,000 (2023: HK$84,543,000), the profit
allocated to NCI was HK$18,831,000 (2023: HK$31,666,000) and the dividends payable/paid to NCI was
HK$14,700,000 (2023: HK$14,700,000).

As at 31 December 2024, Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Macau) Company Limited has current assets, current
liabilities, non-current assets, non-current liabilities and net assets of HK$205,625,000, HK$72,882,000,
HK$64,375,000, HK$16,150,000 and HK$180,968,000 (2023: HK$170,703,000, HK$47,448,000,
HK$60,316,000, HK$11,034,000 and HK$172,537,000) respectively. It generated revenue, total profit and other
comprehensive income of HK$214,488,000 (2023: HK$282,684,000) and HK$38,431,000 (2023:
HK$64,625,000) respectively during the year ended 31 December 2024. It generated a cash inflow of
HK$15,261,000 (2023: HK$6,529,000) during the year ended 31 December 2024.

22,357
64,533

(9,245)
77,645

(8,307)
69,338

24%

16,641

BEE
@ HEATNRMALXF AROHILBHIHERE -
() AEREBEAKEFRSHELAEENREEE-

FE 12 IR i &=

EEEBRALEBRCE CRM) BRATABEHAEEE RWIEERERSVKH B
DA -ZEAWBARNTELEME VIR FERRRISEMEEREN
tb 51 549% o

M2024F 12831 H » H 2534 R 588,674,0005% JT (2023 4F : 84,543,000
BIT) o DB EFFERERN UK 518,831,000 7T (20234 : 31,666,0003 JT)
RIEN B FIEERERNIRE 14,700,000 7T (20234 : 14,700,00058 7T) °

M2024F12A31H » kREMZE CRF) BERLAFANABEE - RBAE - R
BE-ERBEABRFEESD B £H205,625,00058 Tt + 72,882,000 T °
64,375,0005% 7T ~ 16,150,00078 jt % 180,968,00058 7T (20234F : 2 3l &
170,703,000 jT ~ 47,448,000 7T » 60,316,000 7T ~ 11,034,00038 7T &
172,537,000 7T) c L E20245F 12831 BILFE  HEA WS - FIBEER EM
RE WD B £214,488,00058 7T (20234 : 282,684,000 7t) K& 38,431,000 7T
(20234 : 64,625,000/8 7T) - B £E20245F12A31BLEE - HELEBERA
15,261,0003% 7T (20234 : 6,529,000 7T ) °

&

= oA

169

ENANES A el pd



papwn Auedwo) supipaly 3sauly) bue) usy Buoj Hulliag

—
-~
(—]

202 woday enuuy

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

13

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year. PRC corporate income tax has been provided at the rate of 25% (2023: 25%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year of the subsidiaries operating in the Mainland China. Taxation
on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries/regions in which the Group operates.

Current income tax &5 %
— Current year NEE
— Over-provision in prior years E 4 %3t %

Deferred income tax (Note 20) iEE i 5 8¢ (Fff5£20)

Income tax expense 5% % H

The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

Profit before income tax B Fit 15 % Al 718
Less: i :

— Share of (profits)/losses of investments accounted for using the equity method

FEfh RS E AR ZIRE (FIE) &

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the respective countries

RERBERFEEENEAB RS E 2 HE
Tax effects of: U T L
— Income not subject to tax G Fi UL
— Expenses not deductible for tax purposes A~ 8] #1552
— Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised KRHERIEEFFEHEENHEBEE
— Withholding income tax on royalty fee from overseas entities BB/ EEMIEFEHBRNFAER
— Over-provision in prior years X Z 515
— Utilisation of previous unrecognised tax losses ¥ LA AT A #52 H9 5 B 518
Others H At

Income tax expense P58 H

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

I3 PRz

BF ARG FTERBAEE16.5% (20235 : 16.5%) WK RFTREBREH - Bk
Bl P 3t 5 Y /BB Y B A (R FE R AR R 42 25% (20234 1 25% ) WA REHEHE
DEMES - BHIFENBRBERFRGTERBABRAEELLETEAR

R YR ATBE R B o

2024

HK$’000 T & T

2023
HK$'000 F3& T

99,350 119,355
(99) (993)
99,251 118,362
1,355 21,159)
100,606 97,203

AEBBRFIEHARNBNAESHERAERARSHARBRA BN NEF TR E

AENERESEERENT

2024 2023
HK$’000 T8 7T HK$’000 T8 T
629,773 687,790

(2,056) 3,259

627,717 691,049
108,927 107,645
(11,396) (11,699)

7,350 1,609

2,185 725

39 41

(99) (993)

(252) (297)

(6,148) 172

100,606 97,203

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

13

14

I5

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
Pillar Two assessment

The Group is within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules. The Group has applied the mandatory
exception to recognising and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from Pillar
Two income taxes, and will account for the Pillar Two income taxes as current tax when incurred. Pillar Two
legislation has been enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in effect as at 31 December 2024 in certain
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The Group is in scope of the enacted or substantively enacted legislation and is in the process of assessing
the potential exposure arising from Pillar Two legislation based on the information available for the financial
year ended 31 December 2024. Based on the assessment carried out so far, only few jurisdictions where the
transitional safe harbour relief may not apply. For jurisdictions where the transitional safe harbour may not
apply, the potential impact is not expected to be material. Quantitative information to indicate potential
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes is currently not known or reasonably estimable. The Group continues to
progress the assessment and expects to be in a position to report potential exposure in 2025.

€EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

3

14

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

PriSmz b (7&)

3 s A T

AEEBRE_IRRERUNEE AXEECEABRFMEFIIMER  UBRRR
BEEBEF _IAMEHELENELHBEERABENER  UAARBERESE
CEXHFEHRIMENSHEE  FoI RN RAEELLEMENE TR EEE
EEMREL ECHEM - ER2024F 12831 B ARER -

AEEBRECEMRESE LEEMNEfEER - WIERBEEZ2024F12831H
I BEENT HER P EE RS RNEERR - RIBESHBILETH
M EALHEEEERTHETEABEEZEBHE - BiEUETEARE
MZE2ERENRLEER HHBITEELEIMNERBESE - BAIETER
NEFAEMGTBERE_IEASHNEERRNE(LER - NEEGHEET
FPfh BT R2025FREHERE A E -

KRB AEIGSRRN

BREAXBRIRADBAEES ARGFIERLFAC ST EE RO INETHEE
o

2024 2023

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000) 7~ 2 S #A A FE45 F5ME (T8 7T)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) © %178 IR i F 9 & (T AR)
Earnings per share (HK$) S 2% (&)

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings
per share as there were no potential dilutive shares.

DIVIDENDS

The dividends paid in 2024 and 2023 were HK$276,243,000 (HK$0.33 per share) and HK$276,243,000
(HK$0.33 per share) respectively. Dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK$0.35 per
share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$292,985,000, is to be proposed at the annual general meeting on
3 June 2025. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

Proposed final dividend of HK$0.35 (2023: HK$0.33) per ordinary share
ERERTBERAHRE0.35/%8 T (20234 : 0.33787T)

I5

500,278 540,393
837,100 837,100
0.60 0.65

BE2024F K2023F12A31BLFE AABAEEHENEZRG 8RS
BREANENEREREF -

A% 82

2024 F 2023 FMWE IR E 2 B £276,243,00058 T (F %0.338 ) &
276,243,00058 7T (ER0.338 7T) - HE2024F 12831 B L EEMNREER0.35
BT (IR B 4258 5292,985,00058 70) A5 AR Q T 1E2025F6 ASHRTHRRBE
RELREE ZEUEBRREERRZELRE -

2024 2023

HK$’000 T8 7T HK$’000 3% T

292,985 276,243

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

I6 LEASE

(a) Right-of-use assets

At 1 January 2023 42023%181H
Additions 1 A

Lease modification ¥ & 1{&5]

Depreciation charge (Note 7) B % H (FfzE7)
Currency translation differences & #5 i #1225

At 31 December 2023 142023%12H31H

At 1 January 2024 4202451 81H
Additions 32
Lease modification FA E{&5]
Depreciation charge (Note 7) B % i (FfzE7)
Currency translation differences & #s i # =58

At 31 December 2024 7A2024%12H31H

The total cash outflow for leases, including the payments made in relation to lease liabilities and
expenses relating to short-term and variable lease payments in 2024 was HK$82,863,000 (2023:

Depreciation expenses were charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

(1)
HK$84,277,000).
Cost of sales 85 4%
Distribution and selling expenses 7 #5 & $E &E5 %
General and administrative expenses — R & 17 B X
(ii)

The Group’'s leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Group leases various land, offices, warehouses and retail stores. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods ranging from 2 to 5 years (2023: 2 to 5 years) for office,
warehouses and retail stores, but may have extension options as described below. Lease term
for leasehold land ranges from 42 to 99 years (2023: 42 to 99 years).

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets must not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Some leases related to retail stores contain variable payment terms that are linked to sales
generated from a store. For individual stores, variable lease payments are calculated based on
percentages of revenue generated by certain retail outlets that exceed their fixed rentals.
Variable lease payments that depend on sales are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

I6 &

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

(a) EHIESEE

(i)

(i)

Leasehold land Buildings Total
HETH BF aF

HK$’000 3% 7T HK$'000 F3& T HK$’000 & T

90,133 96,536 186,669
- 73,763 73,763
— 14,604 14,604
(2,670) (61,117) (63,787)
— 561 561
87,463 124,347 211,810
87,463 124,347 211,810
- 57,242 57,242
- 3,179 3,179
(2,670) (64,497) (67,167)
- (3,830) (3,830)
84,793 116,441 201,234

2024F A EREMBE € R E S5 A82,863,000% T (2023%F
84,277,0008 )  BEHHEEEN M URERMTEHEEF
58 o

REFBERPFTAFTERIWT ¢

2024 2023

HK$’000 T3t HK$’000 3% T

2,884 2,860
47,254 44,427
17,029 16,500
67,167 63,787

SENHEENRESRIE

AEERAZE T - PLE - EENSEEH - RAE AENZ
EEHNEESEREREHRA2ESF (20235 : 2855) 1%
BEUREEEs TR EREERE - HET hNWHEHRA42Z99
F (20234 : 42F994F) o

HEHMREESHEEENER LETEHR Y AEE TR AGRR
MR - HEBBZTEESHEAFENHEEENERERE 25
MEMRY - HEEETTREBRER-

MOZEEFHEQSREHNHSHBHO AT RE RN - R
BREH AREENRERREZE BB ERENE XA
MOPEB DL EN - RIBHERREN TR HE N RBE LB
ZENRBENRFHENHBTABRR -

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

I6 LEASE (CONTINUED)
(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

(i)

The Group’'s leasing activities and how these are accounted for
(Continued)

Extension and termination options are included in a small number of property leases across the
Group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used
in the Group’s operations. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable
only by the Group and not by the respective lessor. The impact of the above options are not
material to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay
to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of properties and equipment are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in the statement of profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Details of short-term leases and variable lease payments are set out in Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

See note 33.8 for the other accounting policies relevant to leases.

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January R — A — B Z iRE{E
Additions 3% il

Finance cost Bf#% 3 tH

Payments {45

Lease modifications FA & 155

Currency translation differences & #s i # = 58

Carrying amount at 31 December R+ = A=+—HZKREE

Current portion 7 81382

Non-current portion JE 7 B3B8 2

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

I6 THE ({8)
(a) FHIEESE (8)

(i)

SENHSEFNRES5ERIE (18)

FrEREOEEHEREASERRBENRLATEERE Ut
AEESEFANEESEFARAREBESBEENE TN - &
EFBANARS BRREENK L BRRBRERAEBTE
I EAAEM AT - FMR B BN A EEA G B RRNY
BYTEK o

HENRERAERNSFERNE - AEENHERNSTRETBE
HERE EUBERT  BRAAEANEEERFIR  NEBEAL
BORERETREGHECAREEEEBEINEE  EROAUHEN
BOUERIREBAE S MBS AMFHFIR -

ERREE-RELEENEASTRESHMENENHBARE
BUERTIRIE -
REMMENREBEEHEABNCRERESREZRIRER AR
BmR o EHEHEREHENR12EARELM2EANEE -

EHHERTEEENRFBRARSHMRMEET

ERHECHEMETEHE  F2 8338

(b) THE&E

HESENREAERFAZHUT ¢

2024
HK$’000 T % T
131,481 102,530
57,242 73,763
6,481 5,977
(70,328) (70,466)
3,179 20,841
(4,848) (1,164)
123,207 131,481
57,408 56,254
65,799 75,227

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

(CONTINUED)

I7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND €EQUIPMENT

Year ended 31 December 2023 EH Z£2023F 12831 HILLFE
Opening net book amount i %] BR T FE
Additions & il
Disposals (Note 27(b)) H%E (FizE27(b))
Depreciation charge (Note 7) #r & 3 H (FfzE7)
Currency translation differences & #5 i # = %5
Closing net book amount iR iR E F{E
At 31 December 2023742023%F12H31H
Cost B
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2517 & &R {E
Net book amount iR &

Year ended 31 December 2024 B Z£2024F 12831 H L FE
Opening net book amount %] iF E #{&E
Additions & il
Disposals (Note 27(b)) H%E (KizE27(b))
Depreciation charge (Note 7) i & H (FfzE7)
Reclassification & % #
Currency translation differences & #s i # = %8
Closing net book amount i 8k & % &
At 31 December 2024 12024%12H31H
Cost A7
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 257 2 K& E
Net book amount R EE

STATEMENTS

Freehold land

KAFNEL M
HK$’000 38T

Buildings

B’

HK$’000 T T

17 % -~ BB K

Leasehold Plant and
improvement machinery

HEMEERE R = e HEER

Furniture and
equipment
HERRRE

HK$000 F#&7t HK$000 FE T HK$000 FE T

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

Motor vehicles Total
s &t
HK$’000 F#&7t HK$000 T#ET

61,360 106,384 14,674 13,165 9,395 1,703 206,681
- 392 8,597 2,739 10,444 228 22,400
- - (270) 5) (152) @) (434)
- (3,542) (5,393) 2,107) (3,756) (566) (15,364)

117 278 117 - 12 9 533
61,477 103,512 17,725 13,792 15,943 1,367 213,816
61,477 147,445 80,551 64,792 49,555 4,930 408,750
- (43,933) (62,826) (51,000) (33,612) (3,563) (194,934)
61,477 103,512 17,725 13,792 15,943 1,367 213,816

Freehold land

KAKELH
HK$’000 T 7T

Buildings

B

HK$’000 T T

Leasehold Plant and
improvement machinery

HEMELE B B 2

Furniture and
equipment

RERRE

HK$000 T#7t HK$000 T#E T HK$000 F# T

Motor vehicles Total
"E &t

HK$000 T HK$000 T3# T

61,477 103,512 17,725 13,792 15,943 1,367 213,816
- 2,882 4,947 843 13,448 308 22,428
- - - (25) (42) - (67)
- (3,247) (6,346) (3,757) (3,567) (600) (17,517)
- (267) 267 6,981 (6,981) - -
(2,187) (4,051) (1,013) 84 (345) (37) (7,549)
59,290 98,829 15,580 17,918 18,456 1,038 211,111
59,290 145,287 81,113 70,982 51,964 5,086 413,722
- (46,458) (65,533) (53,064) (33,508) (4,048) (202,611)
59,290 98,829 15,580 17,918 18,456 1,038 211,111
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

I7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND €QUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation expenses were charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

Cost of sales $H& R A
Distribution and selling expenses 7 #5 & $E &5 2

General and administrative expenses —#& & 17 BB %

No impairment loss on property, plant and equipment was charged to general and administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their costs net of their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

Buildings #&F

Leasehold improvement & ¥ £ #1&
— Plant and machinery & & #3228
Motor vehicles 5

— Furniture and equipment X8 & R &

See note 33.6 for the other accounting policies relevant to property, plant and equipment and depreciation.

I8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The net book value of the Group’s intangible assets is analysed as follows:

At 1 January 2023 4202318 1H

Additions & il

Amortisation (Note 7) #8H (FfzE7)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 #2023%12 831 H Kk2024F1 811
Additions 30

Amortisation (Note 7) ##5 (FftzE7)

At 31 December 2024 %2024%12H31H

Note:
Other intangible assets represent customer relationships, a management contract and an exclusive supply contract.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets, as
follows:

— Computer software: 3 to 5 years
— Other intangible assets: 10 years

See notes 33.1 and 33.7 for the other accounting policies relevant to intangible assets (include goodwill).

17

I8

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

YE ~ BB Kt (18)
REBHRM BRI AR ERZMT :

2024 2023

HK$’000 & T HK$’000 3% T

6,677 5,255
6,521 5,668
4,319 4,441

17,517 15,364

EHE2023F N2024F12AMHLEFE - YE BERRKBLERERXTAS
HEARN-BRITHAX -

KA L W METIRITE © W3 - BERRBOITELEEBANBRREREE
RESHEERFHRESETE  BRMASUERFHOT ¢

25 to 50 years 25Z& 504

Shorter of remaining lease term or useful life FIgAHEEIH AT EAFEHNREE
3 to 12 years 3Z& 124

5 to 8 years 5E8%F

2.5 to 12 years 2.5F12%F

BEME BERRBINE 2GS FHE  F2HME336°

=R ==

mIL&EE
AEENEFLEENREFEINNOT :
(0]1,1-1¢

Computer intangible
Goodwill software assets Total

BE BREEMG Hith B EE R
HK$’000 F#& T HK$’000 F#& T HK$’000 F3# T HK$°000 F#& T

49,419 7,470 2,817 59,706
- 44 — 44
- (2,063) (1,300) (3,363)
49,419 5,451 1,517 56,387
- 14,364 - 14,364
- (2,138) (1,300) (3,438)
49,419 17,677 217 67,313

MfEE
HBWEESATFEAR ERARARBRHEESR -

BERRASENELEENHANUERAFRNAESEZDEIE 0T :

— B8 3E5F
— HthEEEE 105
FHEVEE (BEEE) 2Hth et BRES MM 33.1/33.7

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

I8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Impairment test for goodwill

The Group recognised a goodwill of HK$49,419,000 in 2015 as a result of the acquisition of the equity
interest in Honour Essence Trading Limited, which is principally engaged in the distribution of Chinese
medicine products in Hong Kong. The goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing to this Honour
Essence Trading Limited cash generating units (“CGU”) within the Hong Kong segment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined by management based on value-in-use calculation. The
key assumptions adopted in the value-in-use calculation are based on management’s best estimates and past
experience.

The value-in-use calculation is based on a five-year financial budget approved by management, with five-year
sales growth rate ranging between 0.3% to 7.0% (2023: -16% to 1%). Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 2% (2023: 1%). A pre-tax discount rate of 10.2%
(2023: 16%) is used which reflects the specific risks relating to the relevant operating segment.

There was no impairment required from the review on goodwill. A reasonably change in assumptions would
not result in impairment as such disclosure of sensitivity analysis is not considered necessary.

I9 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Financial asset at FVOCI represents a Hong Kong listed equity security which is denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. This is a strategic investment which is not held for trading and the Group considers this classification
to be more relevant. Its fair value is analysed as follow:

At 1 January A1 81H
Income/(loss) recognised in other comprehensive income REfM4R & W EER W E(FE)

At 31 December R12 831 H

20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

Deferred income tax assets IEIEFTEHEE

— Set-off of deferred income tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions & RIKHE B EFFIKENELEFRERER

Deferred income tax assets, net SHIEIEFFSHEE
Deferred income tax liabilities IEIEFTSH & &

— Set-off of deferred income tax assets pursuant to set-off provisions 1ZBRIK$HE EFrIKEMNIELE TSR EE

Deferred income tax liabilities, net JFIEZL MR A G

Deferred income tax, net i fE 15 %%

I8

19

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

B &= (18)

& 2 B8 &2t
AEEN015FRBAEE SERAT (LI ELBAREBUTS W HER)
BB E 549,419,000 T - HEWAMEEBH BAXEE HRA DY
T B B (R TR -

REE4EUNTRESHREEERECAEEFEEMEE - ARAEER
BENBERBREENEEENREGTFNBENERMEE -

FRHEENERENEEEEBNEFUNEE - EFHHEEREREA03%E
7.0% (2023%F 1 —16%E1%) c AEMUE 2B HTAEEH2% (202345 1 1%)H
MR EWE - FTAZHAIBEIE EA10.2% (2023%F  16%)  RELEBE D2
45 E BB o

EERCENETEEAE - HRABROA RS CTRERAE  FATEERT
BB 4 o

MArnEBEstEEEZaAt A\AHtEWNENE
RIS E
UAABENEAABDH AR MEARENERAESNETRENEB LD
ARRE BRBEMERARFRBUAEES ASERBE—SEENE -
HARBESHMT :

2024 2023

HK$’000 & T HK$’000 F3#& T

7,833 9,618
810 (1,785)
8,643 7,833

20 % R Pir S i

ELEREHEEREBENIMUT ¢

2024 2023

HK$’000 T & T HK$’000 F#& 7T

56,716 62,594
(21,230) (25,472)
35,486 37,122
(29,938) (33,916)
21,230 25,472

(8,708) (8,444)
26,778 28,678

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The net movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows:

At 1 January R181H

(Charged)/credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 13)

(8) st AEHEREE (ME13)
Currency translation differences & #s i 1 = 28
At 31 December R12H31H

The gross movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets JEEFTEHEE
At 1 January 2023 72023%1H1H
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss (18), st A& HIERE X

Currency translation differences & # i ¥ Z 5§

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 42023512831 H A K%20245F181H
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss ({1H) st AGHfEZH X

Currency translation differences & % i #: Z 25

At 31 December 2024 42024128318

Deferred income tax liabilities iEZE ff 15 %1 & &

At 1 January 2023 4202318 1H

Charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 1 H & #EFE XK

Currency translation differences &% i # Z 5§

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 742023912831 H X% 202451 81H
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss st A1 BH A EFER
Currency translation differences & #s i 1 =28

At 31 December 2023 7420245 12H31H

Accelerated

accounting
depreciation

MESTHITE
HK$°000 F#& T

20 EEFFS R (&)

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

REFTSHERE FEBMT ¢

ETEZEE-BHRAEZEENEHKEHNBERT  EEFSHEERAEREDH

mT

Unrealised
profit resulting
from intragroup
transactions
SERE
RBEEN Provisions
RERFHE B1E

2024 2023
HK$'000 F3#5%  HK$000 T3t
28,678 7,636

(1,355) 21,159

(545) (117)

26,778 28,678

Tax losses Lease liabilities

BEFE HE&SE

HK$'000 &t HK$000 FiET HK$000 FET HKS000 FE T

Total
et

HK$’000 & 7T

33 5,676 5,929 3,140 20,119 34,897
(33) 13,636 5,931 2,563 5,619 27,716
- - (67) (59) 107 (19)
- 19,312 11,793 5,644 25,845 62,594
- (3,030) (9,296) 10,585 (2,616) (4,357)
- - (273) (200) (1,048) (1,521)
- 16,282 2,224 16,029 22,181 56,716

Accelerated tax

Right-of-use

depreciation assets

EBIETE EREEE
HK$°000 Fi& 7T HK$'000 F &7t

Total
R

HK$°000 F#& T

(8,269) (18,992) (27,261)
(1,146) (5,411) (6,557)
(6) (92) (98)
(9,421) (24,495) (33,916)
327 2,675 3,002
18 958 976
(9,076) (20,862) (29,938)

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

2l

(==

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of approximately HK$6,619,000 (2023: HK$10,594,000) and HK$170,000 (2023: HK$198,000) in
respect of tax losses and the deductible temporary difference amounting to approximately HK$30,731,000
(2023: HK$58,166,000) and HK$1,027,000 (2023: HK$1,199,000), respectively at 31 December 2024 that can
be carried forward against future taxable income. These tax losses have no expiry dates except for the tax
losses of HK$25,555,000 (2023: HK$20,671,000) which will expire between 2025 and 2044 (2023: expire
between 2024 and 2042).

The Group did not recognise the deferred income tax liabilities of HK$5,046,000 (2023: HK$4,755,000) in
respect of the withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries
amounting to HK$100,928,000 (2023: HK$95,011,000) at 31 December 2024, as the Group can control the
dividend policies of these subsidiaries and these unremitted earnings will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials B #71%}
Work in progress 1& &
Finished goods and trading merchandise & ® & 2 5 &M

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted to HK$468,616,000
(2023: HK$392,093,000) and the impairment loss on inventories and write-off of inventories amounted to
HK$395,000 (2023: HK$363,000) and HK$927,000 (2023: HK$725,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024,
respectively.

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables & 53 FE U118
— immediate holding company E 8 D &
fellow subsidiaries [EZ /& 2

— joint ventures & & %

— associate & A 7]

— third parties 5=74
Trade receivables, gross & 3 EUFRIE - 8%
Less: loss allowance (note e) & : 8 % E& (Mize)
Trade receivables, net % & 5 fE NG IE
Prepayments FE{J 1B
Other receivables H fth f& U 7K 18
Deposits #i&

Amount due from a joint venture (note c) FEUR S & & % 7/ 18 (HffzEc)

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

20 EEFFS R (&)

WA BEBARRERHABESREEREES AR ESEFERZELRESH
BE - N2024F12A318 AEENL S AU A B LIRS R REERKSENER
30,731,0003% 7t (20234 : 58,166,00058 7t ) ¥ 52 IE %€ AT 15 %1 & 6,619,00058 T
(2023 % : 10,594,0003% 7t ) K 170,000 7T (20234 : 198,000587T) » M A &
%= 25 5 530,731,000 7T (20234 : 58,166,000 7T) K& 1,027,0005% 7T (2023
F 11,199,000 jT) o] 45 82 DUIK 85 R 2R FERR B U A o BRFY 18 E51825,555,0007% T
(20234 : 20,671,00058 7T ) #5742025 2 2043 F E B HA (20234 : 2024 F 20425
EE) S RSB BSEYEERAE -

M2024F 128318 » AEBEWERZE T B Q5 K4 E 22 %/100,928,0005 7t
(20234 : 95,011,00058 7T) T2 A 2 R INF 8 2 EIEFT5H &1&5,046,000/8 7T
(20234 : 4,755,000 7t) @ WIDHAREEEAZEFESLEHBARNREBEE It
BEEREENFBISEUBRNRESE

Tt
A
AT

2024 2023

HK$’000 & T HK$’000 3% T

1,361,708 776,294
15,281 56,576
212,027 178,779
1,589,016 1,011,649

HZE2024F12AALFE BRAMIAFAHERETINFERLERR
468,616,000 7 (20234 : 392,093,000/8T)  FEFEB AR FEMB D B A
395,00078 7T (20234 : 363,00078 7T ) 5 927,00058 7T (20235 : 725,00058 7T)

22 BRENMIENREMTRI}NEE

2024 2023
HK$’000 T & T HK$°000 T3t

15,574 50,460
155,991 156,682
2,061 2,029
4,552 6,552
365,274 220,679
543,452 436,402
(42,374) (41,158)
501,078 395,244
17,761 11,623
23,963 26,774
13,206 19,369
970 970
556,978 453,980

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. Other current assets include prepayment, deposits and other receivables. If collection of trade
receivables and other current assets is expected within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables and other current assets, excluding prepayments, are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment, see
Note 33.11 for further details.

The fair values of trade receivables and other currents assets approximate to their carrying amounts.

The amount is repayable on demand, unsecured in nature and bears no interest.

Retail sales at the Group’s stores are usually made in cash or by debit or credit cards. For wholesales to customers
(including related parties), the Group grants credit periods ranging from 30 to 90 days (2023: 30 to 90 days).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date (including amounts
due from related parties of trading in nature) is as follows:

Up to 90 days 90X

91-180 days 91 X E180K
181-365 days 181 X £365K
Over 365 days 365K M L

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables. This resulted in loss allowance amounted to HK$42,374,000 (2023:HK$41,158,000) for trade
receivables as at 31 December 2024. Please refer to Note 3(a)(ii) for details about the calculation of the allowance
and the Group’s exposure to credit risk.

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 December reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

Loss allowance as at 1 January A1 81 B ELEE

Net impairment losses for the year (Note 7) £ E ZR{EE %k (H3E7)
Write-off of impairment losses i {218 % i #%

Exchange difference [E 5% Z %8

Loss allowance as at 31 December 12 831 H 8 k& 1&

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

22 B EBRMIAKRHbAEE = (18)

B EE

BESRWHERARERBRETHMCHERRRMETRBEREF R - iR
BHEEQERACRE FERAMERKE - MESR -FHUR (HEFBRE - 8
REBNEFELCBHN) BREZBYGEREMRBDEE - BIZSFRIERR
BEE BRAZIRIRDEE -

EZRBFEREMRBDERE AARERN) L UQAAEBERT - HRBRBHERAK
UBEBRRRETE  WHRBERE  FRMES311-
EZRWHERHMRBDEENAABERARBDEMS

BREARERGHEE BEAKREE -

AEBZEEEEEURS AR FREAFET RMRTEFS (BEBEBL)M
5 AKERENEESAB30F 90X (2023%F : 30F90K) °

R2024F R2023F12A31H RERZAHNEZEWFIE (BEEKEEINES
MIE)MREBR ST ¢

2024 2023
HK$’000 T3t HK$’000 T %7t
328,684 188,302

1,936 326

43,174 3,092

169,658 244,682
543,452 436,402

AEERAEBVBREENFERNB LA LATERBREEFE DEFEEIE
Wk ERAREFEANTEIEAEE - N2024F128310 > EENE S ERKE
B AR BB R 42,374,000 7T (20234 : 41,158,000587T) - BEARETEST ERAER
WEERBREE  F2REME3@)I)

M12A31 0  BSRWRIBZBRBEEN D 2 BABENHERNT

2024 2023

HK$’000 % T HK$’000 F# T

41,158 20,284
1,949 21,185
(149) —
(584) (311)
42,374 41,158

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 1 B 5 ¥k R B 5 (£8)

(CONTINUED)
Gn = \ e == —3
22 TRADE R€ECEIVABLES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 22 SEZEWMIBEKREMfEE E (8)
(CONTINUED)
Notes: (Continued) MIEE © (48)
o ® The carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables and other current assets are denominated in the following (f AEENESEUANEREMABEENREBENTIEME
i currencies:
1=
g 2024 2023
'; HK$’000 F 37T HK$°000 T8t
5
)
2 Hong Kong dollar &7t 352,844 202,397
9 Renminbi A R#5 192,200 235,685
ﬁ United States dollar 37t 4,031 4,215
; Canadian dollar 7t 1,476 2,751
g Euro BXT 815 1,171
E‘ Australian dollar &7t 1,305 1,020
g South Korea won #7t 920 104
§ Other currencies H fib & 4,217 6,637
("=
c 556,978 453,980
3
-
a ) At 31 December 2024, the Group does not hold any collateral as security (2023: nil). (9) M2024F 128310 AEB W EISFEEMEFRERER (20235F : &) o
17— A\,
190 23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 23 IRENIRITEER
2024 2023 [
. HK$000 F85%  HK$'000 FHT N
3 =]
I il
735? Cash and cash equivalents & REEEEY Q
Y — Cash at bank and on hand SRITREFERS 470,526 630,299
§ — Short-term bank deposits with original maturities within three months
I FHEIPR B =18 B s A A 2 B EIR 1T 7 50 1,302,548 369,515
1,773,074 999,814
Short-term bank deposits with original maturities exceeding three months 191
FHRB=EANU L ZEHRTFR 46,679 1,378,879
Total #&%5t 1,819,753 2,378,693
At 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits included R2024F 12831 AEENBESRESSEYUREHBRITEREE =
balances of HK$78,391,000 (2023: HK$99,238,000), which were deposits with banks in the Mainland China. 78,391,00078 T (20234 : 99,238,000/87T) ' ZERBBETBE AR ZR1T o
The remittance of such balances out of the Mainland China is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign HFER - BZEEHRELTE Rt ESPEBUFERNIIMNES SRR ERES - a
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. h‘ﬂ;
b
ot
=B
>
aj
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B {7 81 ¥5 ¥ < Bfd 5E (&)

(CONTINUED)
23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED) 23 IRE NRIRTTHER (B)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits are AEENRERESEEYURERRTFANREEATIEESE

denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
HK$’000 T3 T HK$’000 F%& T
Hong Kong dollar &7t 1,506,097 2,084,730
Renminbi A R# 54,503 57,204
Macao pataca J2F9 t 125,860 87,405
Canadian dollar it 28,047 31,901
Australian dollar 27t 33,948 33,747
Singapore dollar ¥ 0 7T 27,930 29,906
United States dollar %7t 20,915 27,760
Other currencies E 1 & # 22,453 26,040
1,819,753 2,378,693

24 SHARE CAPITAL 24 %N

Number of
CLHETCT

R4 E

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid EZTRAZZER
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 7A2023F 12531 H KX20245F1H1H 837,100,000

Share capital
B2

HK$’000 F#& 7T

938,789

At 31 December 2024 2024512831 H 837,100,000

938,789

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B {7 81 ¥5 ¥ < Bfd 5E (&)
(CONTINUED)

25 BORROWINGS 25 68

2024 2023

Note Fff&E HK$'000 T % T HK$°000 T T

Non-current 3£ 8

— Unsecured government loan &3 1 B FF {8 5% (a) 142 166

Total non-current borrowings JE37 B {& & 4 58 142 166

Current i &

— Unsecured government loan 3 1 B fF (& 5% (@) 71 166
Total current borrowings i B {5 & % 5§ 71 166
Total borrowings & &4 %8 213 332

Note: Ff 5E
(@) The government loans represent a fund from Macao Economic and Technological Development Bureau under a special (@) BEFERBBRMEERRERERYSRASE T/ NEERISRIEB & TRENK
assistance scheme for small-medium corporations affected by typhoon and funds from government under the B AR H B B i & R BB RR -

schemes related to COVID-19.

papwn Auedwo) supipaly 3sauly) bue) usy Buoj Hulliag

These government loans are interest free, unsecured and repayable in 9 years (2023: 7 years) by obtaining 2 years WEBRERARR BIEALFERIFR (2023F : 7F) (RMBUSH F2FEH) &
extension from the Macao government. The loans are denominated in Macao pataca and the carrying amount BoBRURMAHE BEEREEHEAABBMES
approximates to the fair value.
an xh
191 26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 &5 K Hth [E T FRIA
2024 2023 l
ey = e L]
> HK$’000 T &t HK$’000 F& T |l
2 =]
5 o
Y =] =) ﬁ
o Trade payables & 5 FE{J 718 #
o
; — intermediate holding company 1 BE3E & 2 A 7,759 20,286
@ — immediate holding company B #EIZER A & 6,057 15,426
— fellow subsidiaries EZ& &2 7 9 258
— associate B A T 1,080 1,104
— third parties 5=7 23,440 139,903 195
Trade payables (note a) & 53 FE{} 7% E (fizta) 38,345 176,977
Accruals and other payables FEFTE A & H & 5 1E 113,825 65,220
Contract liabilities (note d) & & & & (KizEd) 5,138 3,211 .
157,308 245,408 o
it
Notes: Ff 5E
B
(@) Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. (@) ESRNNEBEABKFRBEEABRBERIOKRAZT - %
(b) At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of the trade payables (including amounts due to related parties of (b) R2024F R2023F12A31H  REXZAHNEZEARE (BEEMBEEINES ‘L;j
trading in nature) based on invoice date is as follows: MIE)MEREBESAT ¢
2024 2023
HK$’000 F &t HK$’000 F &7t
Up to 90 days 90X 30,668 157,052
91-180 days 91 X Z£180K 803 2,493
181-365 days 181 X £365Kk - 6,666
Over 365 days 365K M £ 6,874 10,766
38,345 176,977
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an =p =
26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 26 BEZ NEHth[ETIB (£8)
Notes: (Continued) MisE (&)
(© The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies: () FEBESRAEMEARBNRABEUATIEHEE
w
2 2024 2023
a HK$'000 %% HK$'000 F 37T
-
o
3
@
- Hong Kong dollar 77t 98,649 47,695
m
- Renminbi A R# 31,388 62,056
o _
B United States dollar &7t 782 105,307
9 Canadian dollar 17t 6,120 5,506
ﬁ Australian dollar J&2 7T 7,070 6,846
m
=2 South African rand ® I R4S - 4,142
§= Singapore dollar i3 7T 1,584 2,253
a Other currencies H fts & # 11,715 11,603
n
S 157,308 245,408
9
3
“r:_ (d) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (d) EREBEFBOT :
~
ﬁ 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 1 January 2023

2024%F12H31H 20234 12H31H 2023F1H1H

HK$°000 ¥ &7t HK$'000 F3& T HK$’000 F % T

196

Sales of products $5E&E @ 2,574 928 2,456
Sales of services #8%E R# 2,564 2,283 2,222

&=

Total contract liabilities A& E & & 5,138 3,211 4,678

202 woday enuuy
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 1 B 5 ¥k R B 5 (£8)

(CONTINUED)
27 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 27 SHIRE RS RMGE
(a) Cash generated from operations () REMEEIRE

2024 2023

HK$’000 T8 7T HK$’000 3% T

]
2
-
1=
g Profit before income tax B P15 % 51 7l 4 629,773 687,790
1=
o Adjustments for: F A TIE B % :
m
1 — Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Notes 7 and 16) £ AEEE T E (MizE7716) 67,167 63,787
(1)
a — Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Notes 7 and 17)
a} M3~ BB KRBT E (M EE7/17) 17,517 15,364
ﬁ — Amortisation of intangible assets (Notes 7 and 18) & &= # 85 (izE75018) 3,438 3,363
m
z — Impairment loss on inventories (Notes 7 and 21) & Z B {EE % (KfzE7H21) 395 363
% — Write-off of inventories (Notes 7 and 21) 7 & ii#4 (FizE7H121) 927 725
=1
2 — Net impairment losses on financial assets (Notes 7 and 22) €@ & E 2 F R EE X (HzE7M22) 1,949 21,185
é — Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)
g HENE BERRKBE2ERE (ME7) 64 378
("=
= — Dividend income from equity investment at fair value through
2 other comprehensive income (Note 6) EARBELHEMEIEREARZRERENR WA (391) (240)
a — Finance income, net (Note 10) F 81 # Utz (Mi3E10) (50,793) (66,900)
— Share of (profits)/losses of investments accounted for using the equity method
198 RS EARZRE (RR) HE (2,056) 3,259
— Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries (Note 6) /& ¥ A & E4£ KUK (KfzE6) (2,473) —
— Gain on deemed disposal of an investment accounted for using the equity method (Note 6) III
> WAF SRR A\ IR 2 R A 2 W3 (ffE6) - (2,879) N
g 665,517 726,195 8
;:JDU Changes in working capital: &E& & &% : Q
o
- — Inventories & (584,255) (543,595)
Y
S — Trade receivables and other current assets EZ EWHRER EMRHEE (116,745) 492,152
N
— Trade and other payables & 5 & H fth f& {718 (73,353) 17,120
Cash (used in)/generated from operations && (FiH) FIELXZ2BEE (108,836) 691,872
199
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NOTES
(CONTIN

27 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U€eD)

(CONTINUED)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from

d

isposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

Net book amount (Note 17) BREEE (FtzE17)

Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment (Note 7) HEW % - BERRE2EE (H3E7)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment HEY ¥ - MEK R EFMEFHIE

(c) Reconciliation of cash flows from financing activities

(i)

Liabilities from financing activities as at 1 January 2023 4202351 1B REEBHNEE
Principal elements of lease payments & A& 5

Interest paid & 14 F| &

Repayment of borrowing EEE &

Additions 3% fil

Others! H {0

Foreign exchange adjustments & i #8%

Liabilities from financing activities as at 31 December 2023 #2023 12831 BB EEHNAE
Liabilities from financing activities as at 1 January 2024 R2024 518 1ERMEFHNEE
Principal elements of lease payments & RA &35

Interest paid B 4% &

Repayment of borrowing E&EE &

Additions /1

Others! H {0

Foreign exchange adjustments [E i 8%

Liabilities from financing activities as at 31 December 2024 202412831 BB EEHNAE

Other changes include accrued interest expense and lease modification.

(d) Major non-cash transactions

(i)

(if)

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions and lease modification to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of HK$57,242,000 (2023: HK$73,763,000) and HK$3,179,000 (2023:

HK$14,604,000), respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for various assets.

During the year, additions of property, plant and equipment amounting to HK$11,190,000 (2023:

HK$12,537,000) have no cash flow impact on the Group.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

27 SHIRE RS XM (18)

(b) BHIREMERDP HEMFK - MEKRRBARSM
IBE4E :

2024 2023

HK$'000 & T HK$’000 3% T

67 434
(64) (378)
3 56

(c) MEFTIMFIEENIREIREH R

Borrowings Lease liabilities Total

fBE HESE =E

HK$’000 F#& T HK$’000 F3# 7T HK$°000 F#& 7T

552 102,530 103,082
- (58,512) (58,512)
) (5,977) (5,978)

(220) - (220)
- 73,763 73,763

1 20,841 20,842
- (1,164) (1,164)
332 131,481 131,813

332 131,481 131,813
- (63,847) (63,847)
- (6,481) (6,481)

(119) - (119)
- 57,242 57,242
- 9,660 9,660
- (4,848) (4,848)

213 123,207 123,420

0] Hi @B aE Rt FSMXMBEEST -

(d) E2HRERS

(i FA AEEREAEEENEIESENFRESFIMEEEERT 2
Al 557,242,000 JT (2023 : 73,762,000 jT) & 66,902,000 7T
(2023 : 94,604,0005& 7T) HE

iy FER YE BERREBEHEMESEEF > 11,190,000 5T (2023 :
12,537,000 L) HEBRRESREFTE

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 1 B 5 ¥k R B 5 (£8)

(CONTINUED)
28 COMMITMENTS 28 A
(a) Capital commitments (a) EINAIE

2024 2023

HK$’000 T8 7T HK$’000 3% T

Contracted but not provided for 2] {8 5k B 4%

— property, plant and equipment and intangible assets #)¥ - RERREBEUREFEE 16,050 15,961
(b) Lease commitments (b) 0 & AIE
The Group has recognised right-of-use assets for leases, except for short-term and low-value leases as AEECHREERRCRAEEE  HEUTHHEZ2ERREEEHEER

set out below:

2024 2023
HK$°000 F %7t HK$'000 38T

papwn Auedwo) supipaly 3sauly) bue) usy Buoj Hulliag

No later than 1 year 1 R& 1,013 4,944
As at 31 December 2024, undiscounted future lease payments amounted to HK$13,755,000 (2023: M2024F 128310 » AEBECEAEEHEBEHABHABBNRITERREE
HK$7,400,000) were committed by the Group but the relevant lease periods had not commenced. 1$ 5 EE513,755,00058 7T (2023 5 : 7,400,00058 7T) © 5 Lo S A& FE £2025
These lease commitments were recognised as right-of-use assets upon the lease commencement date F (20235 : 20245 ) HEHMK ARKKEIREAREE
in 2025 (2023: 2024).
202 R
29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2O BAREBARS
At 31 December 2024, two subsidiaries of Tong Ren Tang Holdings, namely Tong Ren Tang Technologies M2024F 128318 A-EEERARNWEMBARRCERNEREICERNGE I
. and Tong Ren Tang Ltd. directly owned 38.05% and 33.62% of shareholding in the Company respectively. FRAAD B EEEEARATS8.06%K33.62% 4 c BMZERMDERAATAER I%:
3 Tong Ren Tang Ltd. is also the controlling shareholder of Tong Ren Tang Technologies. Tong Ren Tang Ltd. CENENERBR B{LCEROVERATNBERFTERATTI67%RE 8T =
5 effectively owns 71.67% equity interest in the Company. The remaining 28.33% of the shares are widely 28.33% MR P HEZIEE ° A
3 held. i
3 -
+ 5 o = = /— s = o
w The Board of Directors of the Company regards Tong Ren Tang Technologies as the immediate holding ARARESERECENEAEEEZRAT ECEROERITAEFPEERA
9 company, Tong Ren Tang Ltd. as the intermediate holding company and Tong Ren Tang Holdings as the ARECEEEARAZRERAR  ZEARYRPEIFMRL -
B ultimate holding company, all of which are companies incorporated in the PRC.
203
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

In addition to those disclosed in other sections of these consolidated financial statements, the following
transactions were carried out with related parties:

(a) Sales and purchases of products

Sales of products to $HEE R T

Joint ventures & & %

Fellow subsidiaries &% i 2 7

Immediate holding company E #2282 5
Intermediate holding company A B335 2 A

Purchases of products from BUA T AGABEEM
Immediate holding company E #2282 5
Intermediate holding company A RZ A% 2 A
Fellow subsidiaries [& % {42 7

Joint ventures & & %

An associate B A 7

(b) Royalty fee income

Royalty fee income from joint ventures R B & & (3% > M B E HE kS

(c) Rental expenses

Rental expense to: BT AR ZF2HEBX :
Ultimate holding company & &8 2 7
Immediate holding company H## % A &
Fellow subsidiaries [& %[ & 2 3

At 31 December 2024, the Group recognised lease liabilities payable to immediate holding company of
HK$976,000 (2023: HK$2,776,000) and fellow subsidiaries of HK$6,025,000 (2023: HK$14,384,000) over
the relevant property leases.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

29 FARMB A X7 (8)
REZEHBRERBEDFREEN TR DREBSET -

= 0O
3 [=£ 00

Il

(a) HEKE®

\

2024 2023

Note ffi=E HK$’000 T 3%t HK$’000 T8 7T

() 712 1,552
0 56,785 14,331
() - 244
@) - 653

57,497 16,780

2024 2023

Note Fff = HK$’000 T3 T HK$’000 Fi& T

(i) 43,023 37,061
(0] 85,073 61,668
(i) 1,231 1,791
(i) — 17
(i) - 28

129,327 100,565

(b) mh2fEHER R

2024 2023

Note HffzE HK$’000 T3& T HK$’000 T8t

(i) 151 439

(c) MEM®

2024 2023

Note KizE HK$’000 F3& T HK$’000 T8 T

(i) 916 939
(i) 1,008 1,008
@ 4,530 4,587

6,454 6,534

R2024F 128318  AEER AN ERIAENEZEERATINEE
£1&54976,0008 T (20234 : 2,776,000i8 T) MEMNBZMBATMNEE
£ 156,025,000 7T (20234 : 14,384,0005 7T) °

&

= oA
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& NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 1 B 5 ¥k R B 5 (£8)

(CONTINUED)

29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 BAMEKARS (8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Other services expense (d) EfthpR¥EER

2024 2023

Note ffi=E HK$’000 T 3%t HK$’000 T8 7T

Advertising agency services expense to a fellow subsidiary BIEZKM B AT X 2EERERKEE R (i) 2,507 1,566
E-commence services expense to a fellow subsidiary BIEZKMB AR X2 EEREE R (i) 2,028 -
() Key management compensation () FEEIE ASF
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) and senior management. The FTEEBASEBRIANTRIFTESNSREEAE - HEERFEHEE
emoluments paid or payable to key management for employee services is as follows: EEABSZNHIEMANMESOT :

2024 2023

HK$’000 T3t HK$°000 F#& 7T

papwn Auedwo) supipaly 3sauly) bue) usy Buoj Hulliag

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits ¥ & 1 H b 42 #i{E & & A 6,463 6,500
Pension costs — defined contribution plans Bk &M A — EZEMHKEE 313 634
6,776 7,134
206 Notes: Bk -
(i) These transactions were conducted in the normal course of business at prices and terms mutually agreed (i) ZERGN—BEKBEPREFTHENERRIRFET -
between the parties involved. I%:
P4 |l
§ (ii) In accordance with the royalty agreements, the royalty fee is charged annually by the Company at either 1% (ii) RERBEREDR RREABNAARRZESECEEERANI%NM =
2 on revenue or 1.5% on profit before income tax of the joint ventures, whichever is higher. Pursuant to these FRERAAEN15%MNEEERE - RIEZZEHE  ZEEECEREUNE A
F agreements, these joint ventures are permitted to operate under “Tong Ren Tang” brand name. CEIREEHEE - Q
©
S
N
[e]
n
N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

30 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate at 31 December 2024 and

2023:

*

(a) Subsidiaries Kf/& 2 7

@i

Directly held by the Company A X B HERE

Beijing Tong Ren Tang International Natural-Pharm Co., Ltd."¢

ERECERREEERAFOD

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Australia Pty. Ltd.
THRECE (BRRFE)BRAA

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Science Arts (Singapore) Co Pte. Ltd.
LRECEH MK (RE)AABRAF

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Toronto) Inc.
LRECE(ZRZ)ERAT

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Gulf FZ-LLC
LTRECERERRAR

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Macau) Company Limited
LERECE (RN BRAA

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Golden Dragon (Macau) Company Limited*
LRECESE ORP) BRAE"

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Poland sp.zo.o.
LRECE (RE) BRAE

Established during the year

Place of incorporation and kind of
legal entity

AR R EARERE

PRC, limited liability company
FE BRAR

Australia, limited liability company
BAFE  BRAA

Singapore, limited liability company

R ARATF

Canada, limited liability company

NER BRAF

United Arab Emirates, limited liability
company

A ABSERE  ERAH

Macao, PRC, limited liability
company
FE R BRAH

Macao, PRC, limited liability
company

HE R BRAR

Poland, limited liability company

KB BRAA

30 T ZMEL S - CEEEKRBELT

TXHEIINR2024F K 2023F12A31EMEEMB AR - GELERBED

Principal activities and place of operation

Sale and distribution of Chinese medicine
products and healthcare products

HERDHEPEERERRR

Beijing, PRC

FE R

Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine
products and healthcare products and
provision of Chinese medical consultation
and treatments

HERZETEEREREAUARRRIED R
R 7

Sydney, Australia

BARE &

Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine
products and healthcare products and
provision of Chinese medical consultation
and treatments

HERTETEERERBAURRATEDE
FR#

Singapore

I

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZEPEERARERUARRUPEDRRHE

Toronto, Canada

NEX - H%

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZENEERARERRREHPEDERY

Dubai, United Arab Emirates

FHAHEERE  BE

Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine
products and healthcare products and
provision of Chinese medical consultation
and treatments

HERBEVEERERRARRHEDEDER

%
Macao, PRC
E - ORM

Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine
products and healthcare products and
provision of Chinese medical consultation
and treatments

HERZETEERARBARRATELDRR

%
Macao, PRC
E R

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
healthcare treatments

ZETEERARRRRREHPEDIRRY

Warsaw, Poland

B £

 RERRL

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

al

|

Particulars of issued Effective equity

share capital interest held

BRTRAHE iR ER
2024

HK$10,000,000 100% 100%
10,000,0003% 7T
AUD1,000,000 75% 75%

1,000,000 7T

SGD857,000 51% 51%
857,000 13K 7t

CAD497,300 51% 51%
497,300ME AT

AED1,920,000 51% 51%

1,920,000 P B 24 361 31 4

MOP1,000,000 51% 51%
1,000,000 9 7T

MOP44,590,000 51% -
44,590,00032 7T

Zloty130,000 100% 100%
130,000 & 12

&

= oA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

30 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued) i &2 & (&)

(i)

(ii)

Directly held by the Company (Continued) & 2 R B ## 5 (&)

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Seoul) Company Limited
LRECE (BF) K&tk

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Auckland) Company Limited
TRECE(RR#W)ERAR

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Tong Xin Tong Le Company Limited
TRECEROEEARAH

Honour Essence Trading Limited
REEZERRE

Sichuan Sihui Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd."
o)l mEEEFRARO

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Hainan) Holding Co,. Ltd(
TRECECBE) ERERATO

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Vancouver Healthcare Center Co., Ltd
TRECERFEELEFVERAA

Indirectly held by the Company A2 BB E&EHE

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Melbourne Pty Limited
TRECE (REALS)BRAR

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Pudu Health Centre B.V.
TRECEEEREFOARAR

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Czech Republic SE
LRECE$ER)BRAH

Place of incorporation and kind of
legal entity

MR NEHREABTRER

South Korea, limited liability
company

BE - ARAE

New Zealand, limited liability
company

HEW ARAF

Hong Kong, PRC, limited liability
company

HE B BRAF

Hong Kong, PRC, limited liability
company

TE - BE BRAF

PRC, limited liability company
FE - ARAF

PRC, limited liability company
HE BRAT

Canada, limited liability company
neEX FRAH

Australia, limited liability company
BARIE  BRAR

The Netherlands, limited liability
company

HH - BRAA

The Czech Republic, limited liability
company

R ARAE

30 TEHBAT - O

Principal activities and place of operation

TEERREEHE

Wholesale of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products

HEPEERERER

Seoul, Korea

BE - BE

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZETEERARERRREHEPEDRRY

Auckland, New Zealand

AW RRE

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZENEERARERREHPEDERY

Hong Kong, PRC

HE BB

Wholesale of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products

HBPEERRRER

Hong Kong, PRC

HE - BiE

Wholesale of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products

HBEHEERERER

Sichuan, PRC

FE @)l

Wholesale of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products

HBPEERERRER

Hainan, PRC
HE 8

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZENEEREARRRRREHPEDIRRY

Vancouver, Canada

meX . BFE

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZENEEREARRRRREHPEDIRRY

Melbourne, Australia

BARE  BEA

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZETEERARBRRRREHMEDRRY

Den Haag, the Netherlands

T g

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZENEERARERREHPEDERY

Prague, Czech Republic

R - HRR

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

ERBE LS (18)

Particulars of issued Effective equity
share capital interest held

ERTRAFE s B Rk
2024

WONT1,052,000,000 51%
1,052,000,000%% 7T

NzD2,000,000 100%

2,000,000 %7 7 # 7T

HK$10,000 100%
10,0007 7T

HK$2,000 51%
2,000 7T

RMB1,000,000 60%

1,000,000 A R #

RMB5,000,000 100%
5,000,000 A R ¥
CAD1,000,000 51%

1,000,000/1& K T

AUD100,000 38%
100,000} 70

Euro650,000 45%
650,0008 7T

CZK3,296,400 45%
3,296,400%2 72 52 B

51%

100%

100%

51%

60%

100%

51%

38%

45%

45%

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

30 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(@

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued) i &2 & (&)
(i) Indirectly held by the Company (Continued) &2 5 B ## & (&)

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Canada Co. Ltd.
LHRECE(MER)BRAT

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Sweden AB
TRECE (RE)BRDE

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Swiss SA
TRECEHRTRAERDE

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Ming Qi Group, LLC
THRECEREERAR

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Concord New York LLC
TRECEBNANERDE

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Los Angeles Healthcare Center LLC
IRECEZVRBEAOERAF

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (San Gabriel CA) LLC
TRECE(ZEENN ERAE

Joint ventures A& ¥
Directly held by the Company XA RE#ERE

Peking Tongrentang (M) SDN. BHD®
LRECE (F)BRAA?

Place of incorporation and kind of

legal entity

MR NEHREABTRER

Canada, limited liability company

nEX ARAF

Sweden, limited liability company

R BRAA

Switzerland, limited liability company

Lt BROA

United States, limited
company
X8 BRAF

United States, limited
company

XE - ARQE

United States, limited
company
X8 BRAE

United States, limited
company

XE - BRLA

liability

liability

liability

liability

Malaysia, limited liability company

BRAED ARAF

30 TEHBAT - O

Principal activities and place of operation

TEXBRBEHE

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZEPEERARERRREHPEDERY

Vancouver, Canada

mEeX . RHE

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatment

ZETEERERBRARRETPEDRRS

Stockholm, Sweden

Wi HTESHRE

Provision of Chinese medical consultation and
treatments

REEHEDREB

Geneva, Switzerland

Wt BAR

Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine
products and healthcare products

HEREEFEERERER

New York, United States

X6 #8

Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine
products and healthcare products and
provision of Chinese medical consultation
and treatments

HERZETEERERBAUARRBIEDR
BR#%

New York, United States

ES=/RE i)

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZEFEERERRARRETPEDERE

Los Angeles, United States

XE R

Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine
products and healthcare products and
provision of Chinese medical consultation
and treatments

HERZETEEREREAUARRRIED R
R #

Los Angeles, United States

XE  RIH

Retail of Chinese medicine products and
healthcare products and provision of Chinese
medical consultation and treatments

ZEHEERERBRAURRHTEDRRY

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

BRAD  FER

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

ERBE LS (18)

Particulars of issued
share capital

BRITRARE

CAD1,000,000
1,000,000/ & KT

SEK50,000
50,0005 £2 52 B

CHF500,000
500,000 = % BB

US$200,000
200,000% 7T

US$800,000
800,000% 7T

US$600,000
600,000% 7T

US$600,000
600,000% 7T

MYR1,900,000
1,900,000 %5 %

Effective equity
interest held

s B Rk
2024

51%

45%

45%

60%

51%

51%

51%

60%

51%

45%

45%

60%

51%

51%

51%

60%

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

30 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Place of incorporation and kind of
legal entity

MR NEHREABTRER

Joint ventures (Continued) & & £ % (&)

Directly held by the Company (Continued) &2 R E## 45 (&)

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Thailand) Co., Ltd.? Thailand, limited liability company
LTRECE GE)BRAT ZE ARAH

Union Health International Limited Hong Kong, PRC, limited liability
REBEBRERAR company

TE - BE BRAF

Associates B 2 7]

Directly held by the Company &2 B HERE

Beijing Tong Ren Tang WM Dianorm Biotech Co., Limited PRC, limited liability company
TRECEZAEBENRMGERATOO FE - BRAR

Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Cayman) Limited Cayman Islands, limited liability
TRECE(BEE)ERAA company

RERS ARDA

The English names of the companies incorporated in the Mainland China represent the best effort by the management
of the Group in translating from their Chinese names as they do not have official English names.

Although the Company owns more or less than 50% of the equity interests in these entities, the directors of the
Company consider that these entities are joint ventures of the Company because their strategic operating, investing
and financing activities are jointly controlled by the Company and the joint venture partners in accordance with the
joint venture agreements rather than under the unilateral control or significant influence of the Company.

Except for the subsidiary mentioned in note 12, the non-controlling interests of all non-wholly owned subsidiaries are
individually not material to the Group.

Registered as a Wholly Foreign Owned enterprise under the PRC Law.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

30 T ZMEL S - GEEEKBZELD (18)

Particulars of issued Effective equity

Principal activities and place of operation share capital interest held

TEXBRBEHE BRITRAHE MiERRER

2024

Wholesale and retail of Chinese medicine THB38,000,000 49%
products and healthcare products and 38,000,000%% #
provision of Chinese medical consultation
and treatments

HBERBETEERARRAURRHRTELR

BR#%

Bangkok, Thailand

=E B8R

Retail of Chinese medicine products and HK$10,000 50%
healthcare products and provision of Chinese 10,000 7T

medical consultation and treatments
TEPEERARBRRARRETEDRRY
Hong Kong, PRC
HE BB

Technological development and sales of US$4,000,000 30%
biological products, Chinese and western 4,000,000% 7T
medicines, cosmetics and healthcare
products
EVER PHEE - LHERARERY ORI
BREE
Beijing, PRC
HE bR

investment holding HK$3,900,000 24%
RELER 3,900,000 1T

Hong Kong, PRC

HE BB

(1) REERGEMRIINATEERNRLEHE  HANERBEAEEEEERETXSE

MEETA ©

@ BEARRAFAZSERZINIADRN0%RE  HRARRBESEHE
BEE RENBEZFHYRADARSEBHAREE MIEBAED
FREFAFE WAL AESAAZLERNAQATRERE -

©)] BRISEE12RENF AR IENFZ2ENB LR 2 ZRESERNMSHAEER

BERE-
@  REFEREEIMASIEBELE-

49%

50%

30%

24%

BEAYE
RIE S HEES
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Assets EE

Non-current assets JEFRE & E

Property, plant and equipment ¥ » = &R &
Investment properties 1% & ¥ %

Right-of-use assets {£FAEEE

Intangible assets & & &

Investments in subsidiaries Rl B A & Z%E
Investments in joint ventures REE ¥ RE
Investments in associates A& N 7 2R E

Financial asset at fair value throu%? other comprehensive income

UARBEENEEHSBT ARLMGRERENEREE
Prepayments and deposits 7817 7% 8 1 #f &

Current assets HREEE
Inventories 7 &

Trade receivables and other current assets 2 3 EWRER HtREHEE
Short-term bank deposits with original maturities exceeding three months

BEHRAE=ERA UL ERERITER
Cash and cash equivalents 3£ R EEEEY

Total assets EE &5
Equity and liabilities K & &

Equity attributable to owners of the Company Z~ 2 Bl #EH A B/

Share capital I&Zx

Reserves f#

— Other reserves H b

— Retained earnings & 17

Total equity #E &%

Liabilities & f&

Non-current liabilities 37 B & &

Lease liabilities fA & & &

Deferred income tax liabilities, net SRIEEFFEH EE

Current liabilities 7 21 & &

Trade and other payables & 5 & H 1l f& {4 70 18
Lease liabilities A E & &

Current income tax liabilities EHFFEH EE

Total liabilities & &4 %
Total equity and liabilities X R & EHA %

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March

2025 and was signed on its behalf.

Gu Hai Ou

Director

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Chen Fei

Director

3l NSEFIRRE

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

2024

HK$’000 T 7T

2023
HK$°000 F#& T

82,131 84,322
11,380 11,519
135,646 144,173
17,676 5,452
271,234 274,155
26,448 26,448
43,762 43,762
8,643 7,833
16,445 7,094
613,365 604,758
1,470,388 898,225
662,949 527,228
640 1,327,720
1,455,838 721,318
3,589,815 3,474,491
4,203,180 4,079,249
938,789 938,789
(4,330) (5,673)
3,078,771 2,887,274
4,013,230 3,820,390
19,196 25,150
8,708 8,367
27,904 33,517
113,630 173,599
33,586 32,939
14,830 18,804
162,046 225,342
189,950 258,859
4,203,180 4,079,249

AATWE ISR MR N2025F3 928 A EEE2HE  THUTKEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

32 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

At 1 January 2023 742023%1H1H

Profit for the year £ FI8

Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss AIFEE 7 1B E 1525 H9E H
Currency translation difference &% R ik =48

Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

UARBENMEBRHEHTALMEERENSREEANEEES
Dividends paid (Note 15) 2148 & (FfzE15)
At 31 December 2023 A2023%12531H

At 1 January 2024 %2024%181H

Profit for the year & X8

Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss A FEEF# 7 B E 187 H9E H
Currency translation difference &% i i = %

Change in fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

UARBENELHEH T AHLMGENENEREEAIABEED
Dividends paid (Note 15) B 1+ & E (MfzE15)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

331 Business combination and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets
includes an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

32 1 olf&

33

Retained earnings Other reserves
B 7k Htb &
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
2,630,058 (4,170)
533,459 —
— 282
— (1,785)
(276,243) -
2,887,274 (5,673)
2,887,274 (5,673)
467,740 =
- 533
- 810
(276,243) =
3,078,771 (4,330)

Hith88 XK S5tHURIGE

A FE BRI B E S OB MRS 2 b EZ NS TTBOR - RIFHIFERN
ZEBRCERERARZIINMEFE - AEHUBRREARFEEMNE T2

3B EBEEHKREE

EBAHHRAWBEAR ESRERRUBRBNLIAEETE  BF
SEAWBBELTERESAMEZREE BEMREREURAEERRE
BRI EARTRENNBER A AEELHN - BB HEXKSH

EOAREEERAABESIRWB LS URANEEFENRELS 5
BRFWBLSNFZRES - FERESNAEEMARBL HEQIAE
Bt E - WEABRAREERTHE -

MAEBMBBEN -—AXBREEQE-BRRAR-BRELEBRE  MME
HELEREARERM AREHCDWE—HER -

A SR B W IE A R AR B IR S AR - B B YRR R ARBE R (H1F
BEIEREE  UFGEAUBRAENEREERERS  HPREFD
BB EENPHRARNITETA -

WL EENEARARERRERREAOABERR -BER/EER
SENIARERAABENE MAAEENEHNERER - BER
BERARERAENTE  HEEHEEEERTAR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

331 Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in the statement of profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU(s)”), or groups
of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or group of CGUs) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.

332 Investments in associates and joint venture

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of
the equity voting rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates and
joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

33 HfthE XS5t EKRilt 2 (1&)

33 XS HKBEE ()

BENRERATE  AEEAE CEIFEREZBEUARLEE
ST R PSR U 05 R R O AR A B B AR ER R T AR T R BN B T PR
EEEsZH MR RNEREMBEENANERTREEEFEN L AE
B AIZBEEENTEEARNESRERDZEBE RS -

RABERE  BEDEARREIARARESENE HESEHERE
BE RMHRBM4REREEERREEVEERBE  ASEHEED
ETRH - ARERESF12A31 RHBHZETRENR - UREANERMS -
EBEHAENBEARBERERIBREAEEAMZENG HiHRENIE
WEEREELBN (REELEMD)ARARESELEN  MARAE
BEMEEREEEREEREZRSEMREMAR -

HEDZEFCEEAEZREELEN (—ARSELEN) TREEEM
BEE MASELEV(—HRESELEN) 2T WESHENIREE - B
BRABESE CHRIAZHEENESRELTENREDNBED -

HABRIREREELEN (- AREELEN) RZEURN 2O
BRHE  AIREEHEZUEREER  SHEXBEHRLHETFAE
BEREE - TRBERTHEZHE  DREEXBEMRERSELEN
Mo 2 HHEETE -

BeNBPELINRCELFZRE

BENREAEEEA - RTIN0%BAREZEORPES  YHHEE
ERZEINER -EAFENESHERESVEREEHFRKNE
B BEEHINHARREFZERR -

BELER-BHERY  BEAEARBHENS AU ZRELENFE
E-HEZHERERSAMELAZZHEGE  EEAREHREALH
EEHENS T —BERNBERTHRAE -
FEERBERRARSELECREDUERETERAEEIEEEF
BEREMRESEES BRI -

FEBERLBERRARGELENBRAEEREMESRED BINE 68
BREFEEWERAIIR LI HEERBEQXARSELENES
BR-—EEH UAEESEEABRTRENEREHRBEIAEMGZ
FA2E AEEEABEQNARSELXETRIMELENRBRINE
REBBEHTULEE  UUREERBEQRRARSELEIRERR - M
BREBETAZEABRIANTEREE LR BEMIERSD - BBKEQ
ARGELRELACHEF ALEENBE QR ZREN -2 -

EAEBEAEHBRELNANERZENRNRAHSELENLRES - B
FEERAABEABREITAEFRE - REERXEHHHAEED
B ARBEARARGECENREAEHEEFTREAANBERHERSER
HZBNEAEZENEHERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

333 Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investment at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

334 Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets, and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

33 HfthE XS5t EKRilt 2 (1&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

334 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

335 Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity ;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viiij  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

33.6 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

33.6 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used are
mentioned in Note 17.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

33.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

338 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets are set out in 16(a)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

33.8 Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(¢)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop computers
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

339 Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

339 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity

investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the
definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the statement of profit or loss.
Dividends are recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

3310 Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

33ll Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for ECL for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

332 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at amortised costs, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, borrowings and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and non-interest bearing borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

3313 Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

3314 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

3315 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the
weighted average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

3316 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3317 Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value
at the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

3318 Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes, except that deferred tax is not recognised for the Pillar Two income taxes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3318 Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

3319 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Note 6 provides further information on how the Group accounts for government grants.

3320 Revenue recognition

332l

Revenue from other sources

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

3322 Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute to a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3322 Other employee benefits (Continued)

Pension scheme (Continued)

The Group also participates in the employees’ pension schemes of the respective municipal
governments in various places (including Macao, Singapore, Brunei, Canada, Dubai, Poland, Korea,
New Zealand, Europe and United States) where the Group operates. The Group makes monthly
contributions calculated as a percentage of the monthly basic salary and the relevant municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retirees of
the Group.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of amounts payable on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the employment law of the respective countries in which the Group operates is
the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and
prior periods. Long service payments are assessed using the projected unit credit method. The cost of
providing the long service payment liabilities is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
so as to spread the cost over the service lives of employees in accordance with the advice of the
actuaries. Long service payments are discounted to determine the present value of obligation and
reduced by entitlement accrued under the Group’s defined contribution plans that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and
changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in
the period in which they arise. Past-service costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3323 Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

3324 Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

B 1 B 15 ¥ R Bid 5% (48)

33 HfthE XS5t KRilt 2 (18)

BRHfRERS RN (8)

RiE st 8l (78)

AEETSEREEN S (BIFEP IR XK MEXR - #£F R
B BE - HEW BNRER)EECEETHRNZEEEZRMETE -
FEESANBAEAFE 2B FHMT  MARTBRAREAEE
BRRERRARET 2 RKBREE -

i’ & R B 18

BEFBRRETEERER -AEENEZFBEUBRLAEHBREES
ZEBzEEECHEHEE - BEERBREBRNBBEG THER -

REBRE =

FEERBERHEEMERR 2 BRFAEETHERTHRLERENEHE
ZEEFE REERAFABRAHNREERBREZER 2 RARASEEHE -
RERBEDUBHECERETE REBRBSBBE2REATIREHIE
BRAR  UMERFEEEM2EZBZRNEERBFHADBXH - RBR
BeEFURRUBEHREZRE  WHIRAE B R EE MR SR
EEFAERREGRD - BRELRMARRBERREIMEENBER
BRER FELHEAREMERSRANESFHRRIEA - BERE
BB R B R ER -

BBERI

AEPRENBRASERIMESERALEE - EERPREBANE 68
TEERMIEE -

3324 9N X

ZEPBRRUKRAANDEEEB TR - AEBARNEERBEEHAX A
HIhEEE® MEBRNUBRREBDUZDEERETE - AEBAR T
BREMCHEIIINERGNSEAEANIZ AMERNIEEEER AR -
LIMNSSHEMEREEREE  REBDEEERESHRNERERR
H - AEWMREAERARELENZRISINEERER

LUIOMNBSIRE S AT EMFENIRE RANERS BHNEZRBKRE - 1L
IRAABENBENFERERE KA AEBETEERANERRE -
BRERAABEMNEZHERBEEELECHNERBEZEEFNEERZ
HEAABEESZB 2 REIEE R (IREMGERESIBETEIED
AEEREIEEEENELEZET D BIREMERS WAERBRPER)

REENRERREANREER FEREESFENEERLHRAKN
FHEE BHXRWAZERE  NKXZ ARAREENERIARRM
REELEZFEREERFEREBEZAN - HMFESERESTERER
R AREEEEEEERENRERARNEZXZBH -

&

= oA

21

ENAYIEE L s



paywn Auedwo) supipapyy 3sauly) bue) usy bBuo) bBulliag

242

202 woday enuuy

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

33 SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3324 Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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GLOSSARY

AGM
Articles of Association
Audit Committee

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group

Board or Board of Directors
CG Code
Code Provision(s)

Company

Company Secretary
Competition Executive Committee

Competition Supervisory
Committee

Controlling Shareholder(s)

Director(s)

EGM(s)
ESG
Executive Director(s)

GLSPC

Group, we or us
HK$
Hong Kong or HKSAR

Independent Non-executive
Director(s)

Listing Rules
Macao or Macau

Mainland China

Model Code
Nomination Committee

Non-executive Director

Annual general meeting of the Company
The new articles of association of the Company
An audit committee of the Company

Tong Ren Tang Holdings, its subsidiaries, its jointly controlled entities and its
associates (including the Group)

The board of directors of the Company
Corporate Governance Code, Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules
Code Provisions in the CG Code

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited, a limited company
incorporated in Hong Kong, the Shares of which were listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange on 7 May 2013 and were transferred to Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 29 May 2018

The company secretary of the Company
A competition executive committee of the Company

A competition supervisory committee of the Company

Tong Ren Tang Ltd., Tong Ren Tang Technologies and Tong Ren Tang
Holdings

Director(s) of the Company, including all Executive Directors, Non-executive
Director and Independent Non-executive Directors

Extraordinary general meeting(s) of the Company
Environmental, Social and Governance
The executive director(s) of the Company

Sporoderm-broken Ganoderma Lucidum Spores Powder Capsules
manufactured by the Company

The Company and its subsidiaries
Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong
The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

The independent non-executive director(s) of the Company

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Exchange
The Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC

PRC but excluding Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan China for the purpose of
this annual report

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
A nomination committee of the Company

The non-executive director of the Company

BRREFAE
¥
EREEE

tRECEES

Exg
EEEARTA
SFRIME X

RAF

E=

BRERER RS
BE - -HERER

BITES

WEECHEFHBE

REBREM
BT
58

BAFHTES

EmRA
P

B A 3t

RESTA

REEEE

FRARARRBFRE
RARWHASERAR
ERRZBEREEE

BCEEEAF HWBLQAR AHAFENERBREBEA
(BEEAXEE)

ERRZEEE

LT HRBIMECIRB 2 REERTA

EEERTFAF ZFRKX

ERECEREARAR  —RREBEMRLZ2BRAT -
HIRDA201355 87 B REEXFTGEM £ - A R201855 8
29RBABRFIERLES

KARZRARE

FRARZHEBYTEES

ERBRZHRBFEREES

BERD  BCENRRECEEEQT

KRR zEE BEMAUTES  FHUTEERBEYEY
TES

ERRRREBAE

BR -uwERER

RRABZHITES

KRR HENREESHFHBE

ERARAREMERF
BEBLEEERER
TEEEENTHRE

AARBUFHTES

B FES LR A
HERMERITHRE

FE - BRAFRTE  FREEE RFRTELE

EHBROTANESETESRENRETR
ERRZREEES

KRR ZHHTES

&

= oA

249

ENAYIEE L s



paywn Auedwo) supipapyy 3sauly) bue) usy bBuo) bBulliag

250

202 voday enuuy

GLOSSARY

Non-Mainland China Market(s)

Overseas

Owned Product(s)

Parent Group

PRC or China

Production and R&D Base

Prospectus

Remuneration Committee
SFO

Share(s)

Shareholder(s)

Stock Exchange or Exchange
TCM or Chinese Medicine
Tong Ren Tang

Tong Ren Tang Holdings

Tong Ren Tang Ltd. or TRT Ltd.

Tong Ren Tang Technologies or

TRT Technologies

TRT International Natural-Pharm

Year

Markets outside of the Mainland China

Countries/regions other than Hong Kong and Mainland China, for the purpose
of this annual report, including Macao

The product(s) manufactured by the Group

Tong Ren Tang Holdings, its subsidiaries, its jointly controlled entities and its
associates (other than the Group)

The People’s Republic of China

The research and development and production base of the Company located
at Tai Po Industrial Estate in Hong Kong

Prospectus of the Company dated 25 April 2013

A remuneration committee of the Company

Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571

Share(s) of the Company

Shareholder(s) of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Traditional Chinese medicine

Beijing Tong Ren Tang

China Beijing Tong Ren Tang Group Co., Ltd., a state-owned enterprise
established in the PRC on 17 August 1992 and is the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company

Beijing Tong Ren Tang Company Limited, a joint stock limited company
established in the PRC on 18 June 1997, the shares of which have been listed

on the Shanghai Stock Exchange since 1997, and is the intermediate holding
company of the Company

Tong Ren Tang Technologies Co. Ltd., a joint stock limited company
established in the PRC on 22 March 2000, the H shares of which have been
listed on GEM since 2000 and have been transferred to the Main Board since
July 2010, and is the immediate holding company of the Company

Beijing Tong Ren Tang International Natural-Pharm Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

Fiscal year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
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Where the English and the Chinese texts conflict, the English text prevails.
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